University of Alberta

Biological Significance of Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription-3 in the Pathogenesis of Cancer

by

Jennifer Dien Bard



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Medical Sciences - Laboratory Medicine and Pathology

Edmonton, Alberta Fall 2008



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-46307-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-46307-9

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



I dedicate this thesis to my dad, who I will always love and will never forget.

ABSTRACT

Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription (STAT) comprise a unique family of latent transcription factors that transmit the interactions of cytokines and growth factors with their cognate receptors to participate in various physiological functions, including cell growth, differentiation, and survival. Among the STAT family, increasing evidence demonstrates that aberrant activation of STAT3 play an important role in the pathogenesis of a large portion of neoplasms, by promoting cell cycle progression and survival, preventing apoptosis, and impairing tumor immune surveillance. However, the mechanisms responsible for the tumorigenic activity of STAT3 have only partially been elucidated. Further research to identify novel targets in the STAT3 signaling pathway may prove efficacious for cancer treatment.

The first objective of this thesis examined the novel link between STAT3 and TIMP1, a glycoprotein known to decrease cell migration and invasion, in breast cancer. STAT3 activation was shown to up-regulate TIMP1 expression and modulate the invasive abilities of breast cancer cell lines. Moreover, it was confirmed that STAT3 is highly activated in human breast cancer and correlates with a decrease in lymphatic and vascular invasion.

The second objective of this thesis examined the aberrant activation of STAT3 by two autocrine stimulatory pathways. First, aberrant expression of IL-22R1, a receptor that is absent in normal immune cells, was identified in ALK⁺ALCL. NPM-ALK, the characteristic fusion gene oncoprotein in ALK⁺ALCL, was linked to the aberrant

expression of IL-22R1. Second, an autocrine stimulatory pathway for IL-21 and its corresponding receptor IL-21R was also identified in ALK⁺ALCL and found to contribute to the cell growth potential in these cell lines.

The third objective of this thesis examined the novel link between STAT3 and SALL4, a newly denoted oncogene that is essential in self-renewal of embryonic stem cells. STAT3 was demonstrated to directly up-regulate *SALL4* gene transcription by binding to specific STAT3-binding sites on the *SALL4* gene promoter and appears to contribute to the aberrant expression of SALL4 in breast cancer.

Overall, the identification of these novel upstream stimulators and downstream targets of STAT3 furthered our current understanding of STAT3 signaling and provides a framework for development of novel anti-cancer drugs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to the following individuals without whom this thesis would not have been possible.

To Dr. Raymond Lai, my supervisor and mentor. Your dedication and passion for research and science has been contagious. You have constantly challenged me to continually improve my scientific knowledge and to think creatively with regard to experimental designs. I am proud to have been a student in your lab.

To Dr. John Mackey and Dr. Brian Chiu for serving as my committee members. Thank you for all your guidance and support.

To Dr. Andrew Shaw and Dr. Christopher Brown for serving as examiners for my thesis defense. Thank you for your time and insightful comments.

To Dr. Jason Acker for serving as my examination committee chairman and for all your assistance and guidance as Graduate Studies Coordinator.

To Dr. Pascal Gelebart, thank you for the enlightening conversations about science and research. You have helped broaden my research skills and have played a huge role in making me a better scientist.

To all the past and present members of Lai Lab that I have been fortunate to work with. Thank you for all your support and assistance. Special thanks to Dr. Peng Wang and Dr. Mona Anand for their support and friendship.

To all my friends and family who have been nothing but supportive and encouraging throughout the years, even when they did not have a clue as to what I was doing. Special thanks to Jelena Holovati for her assistance and endless support. Your friendship has meant the world to me. Also to my parents Lien and Elizabeth, and my siblings Vicky, Samantha, and Phillip for their constant support.

Finally, to my husband Ryan Bard for his continued love, patience, and encouragement. You gave me the strength to follow my endeavors and I am truly blessed to have you in my life.

Chap	Panter 1	ge l
1.1.	Introduction 2	1
1.2.	STAT family of transcription factors (6 Domains) 3	1 F
	1.2.1. Domains of STAT proteins 5	
	1.2.2. Isoforms of STAT proteins 1	1
1.3.	Regulations of STAT proteins 1	1
	1.3.1. Phosphorylation 12	2
	1.3.2. Arginine methylation, lysine acetylation, and ISGylation 1	4
1.4.	Nuclear trafficking of STAT3 protein 1	5
	1.4.1. Nuclear import 1	7
	1.4.2. Nuclear export 1	8
1.5.	Activation mechanisms of STAT3 protein 1	9
	1.5.1. Cytokine	21
	1.5.2. Growth factors 2	:5
	1.5.3. Janus Kinase family 2	25
	1.5.4. Non-receptor tyrosine kinases 2	8
1.6.	Negative regulation of STAT3 2	8
	1.6.1. Cytoplasmic tyrosine phosphatases	28
	1.6.2. Nuclear regulators 2	29
	1.6.3. Suppressor of cytokine signaling	30

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.7.	Biological functions of STAT3	32
	1.7.1. Requirement of STAT3 for embryonic development	32
	1.7.2. Conditional knockout of STAT3	35
	1.7.3. Embryonic stem cell	38
1.8.	Role of STAT3 in oncogenesis	39
1.9.	Target genes regulated by STAT3	43
1.10.	STAT3 activation in human cancer	48
	1.10.1. Breast cancer	48
	1.10.2. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive Anaplastic large cell lymphoma	49
1.11.	Cancer therapeutics for STAT3	50
1.12.	Thesis overview and objectives	52
1.13.	References	54

Chapter 2 STAT3 upregulates TIMP1 expression and decreases invasiveness of breast cancer 73

2.1.	Introduction	74
2.2.	Materials and Methods	76
	2.2.1. Construction of Tet-off STAT3C	76
	2.2.2. Cell lines and Culture	77
	2.2.3. Transfection	78
	2.2.4. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies	78
	2.2.5 Immunofluorescence Staining and Confocal Microscopy	79
	2.2.6. Matrigel Invasion Assay	80

		2.2.7	ELISA Assay for TIMP1	81
		2.2.8	Immunohistochemistry	81
		2.2.9	Patient and Tumor Specimens	82
		2.2.10	Statistical Analysis	83
2.3.	Results	s		83
		2.3.1.	Characterization of MCF-7 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C	83
		2.3.2.	STAT3 transgene correlated with TIMP1 expression	89
		2.3.3.	Modulation of invasiveness by TIMP1 and STAT3	91
		2.3.4.	Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression, lymphatic, and vascular invasion in breast cancer primary tumors	, 94
		2.3.5.	Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression and other clinical parameters in breast cancer patients	97
2.4.	Discus	sion		97
2.5.	Refere	nces	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	106

Chapter 3 Aberrant expression of IL-22 receptor 1 (IL-22R1) and autocrine IL-

22 stimulation contribute to tumorigenicity in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell

lymphoma		
3.1.	Introduction	113
3.2.	Materials and Methods	116
	3.2.1. Cell lines and Culture	116
	3.2.2. Treatment of Cells	116
	3.2.3. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies	117

		3.2.4.	Immunofluorescence Staining and Confocal Microscropy	118
		3.2.5.	Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	119
κ.		3.2.6.	IL-22R1 siRNA	122
		3.2.7.	Gene Transfection of NPM-ALK	122
		3.2.8.	ELISA Assay for IL-22	123
• • •		3.2.9.	Cell Growth Assay	123
		3.2.10.	Colony Formation in Soft Agar	124
		3.2.11.	ALK ⁺ ALCL Tumors and Immunohistochemistry	124
		3.2.12.	Statistical Analysis	125
3.3.	Results	S		126
		3.3.1.	Expression of IL-22R1, IL10R2, and IL-22 in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines and tumors	1 126
		3.3.2.	IL-22 modulated cell growth in ALK ⁺ ALCL	134
		3.3.3.	IL-22 modulated tumorigenicity assessed by colony formation in soft agar	140
		3.3.4.	IL-22 modulated STAT3 and MAPK signaling	143
		3.3.5.	NPM-ALK induced IL-22R1 expression	149
3.4.	Discus	sion	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	152
3.5.	Refere	nces		159
Charry	ton 1 t	11 21	contributes to IA 1/2/8TAT? activation and promotes call	

Chap	ter 4	
grow	th in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma	165
4.1.	Introduction	166
4.2.	Materials and Methods	169

	4.2.1.	Cell lines and Culture	169
	4.2.2.	Treatment of Cells	169
	4.2.3.	Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies	169
	4.2.4.	Immunofluorescence Staining and Confocal Microscropy	170
	4.2.5.	Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	171
	4.2.6.	Cell Growth Assay	174
	4.2.7.	siRNA Transfection	174
	4.2.8.	MTS Assay	174
	4.2.9.	ALK ⁺ ALCL Tumors and Immunohistochemistry	175
	4.2.10.	Statistical Analysis	176
4.3.	Results	<u>.</u>	176
	4.3.1.	Expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines and tumors	176
	4.3.2.	IL-21 modulated JAK3/STAT3 signaling	184
	4.3.3.	IL-21 treatment increased cell growth of ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	184
4.4.	Discussion	······	190
4.5.	References	······	195

Chapter 5 ♦ SALL4 is directly activated by STAT3 in cancer		
5.1.	Introduction	201
5.2.	Materials and Methods	203
	5.2.1. Construction of Tet-off STAT3C	203
	5.2.2. SALL4 Promoter Construct	204

	5.2.3	. Cell lines and Culture	204
	5.2.4	Transfection	205
	5.2.5	. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies	205
	5.2.6	. Nuclear Extraction	206
	5.2.7	. Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)	207
	5.2.8	. Luciferase Assay	208
	5.2.9	. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay	209
	5.2.1	0. Site Specific Mutagenesis	210
	5.2.1	1. STAT3DN Adenoviral Vector	211
	5.2.1	2. Generation of SALL4 siRNA Retrovirus	212
	5.2.1	3. MTS Assay	212
5.3.	Results	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	213
	5.3.1	. SALL4 gene promoter contains the STAT3 consensus sequence	213
:	5.3.2	. STAT3 regulates <i>SALL4</i> gene expression	216
	5.3.3	. STAT3 binds to SALL4 Promoter	221
	5.3.4	Detection of SALL4 in human cell lines	225
	5.3.5	. Effects of endogenous SALL4 on human cancer cell lines	230
5.4.	Discussion .		233
5.5.	References .		238
Chap	ter 6 ♦ Sum	mary and Future Directions	244
6.1. Thesis overview			

6.2.	STAT3 activation by upstream regulators	246
6.3.	STAT3-dependent activation of target genes	248
6.4.	Therapeutic implications of STAT3	251
6.5.	Closing remarks	253
6.6.	References	255

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
Table 1.1. STAT protein properties	4
Table 1.2. Activation of STAT proteins by various ligands	. 22
Table 1.3. STAT Knockout studies	34
Table 1.4. STAT3 conditional knockout study	37
Table 1.5. STAT activation in human tumors and cell lines	42
Table 1.6. STAT3-regulated target genes	47
Table 2.1. Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression,Lymphatic invasion and vascular invasion	96
Table 3.1. Primer Sequences and Product Size	121
Table 4.1. Primer Sequence and PCR conditions	173
Table 5.1. Potential STAT3-binding sites in human SALL4 promoter	214
Table 5.2. Potential STAT3-binding sites in mouse SALL4 promoter	215

LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1.1. Structure of STAT protein	. 9
Figure 1.2. STAT domain functions	. 10
Figure 1.3. Schematic illustration of STAT3 protein import/export cycle	16
Figure 1.4. Activation mechanisms of STAT3	. 20
Figure 1.5. Phosphorylation of JAK by gp130	. 24
Figure 1.6. JAK combinations utilized by cytokine receptors	. 27
Figure 2.1. Characterization of MCF-7 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C	. 85
Figure 2.2. Characterization of MDA-MB-436 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C	. 87
Figure 2.3. Nuclear localization of STAT3C	. 88
Figure 2.4. STAT3C correlated with TIMP1 levels	90
Figure 2.5. STAT3 and TIMP1 levels inversely correlated with invasion	92
Figure 2.6. TIMP1 directly modulated cell invasion	93
Figure 2.7. pSTAT3 and TIMP1 expression in primary breast tumors	. 95
Figure 3.1. mRNA expression of IL-22 receptors in ALK ⁺ ALCL	. 127
Figure 3.2. Protein expression of IL-22 receptors in ALK ⁺ ALCL	. 128
Figure 3.3. IL-22R1 expression in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	. 129
Figure 3.4. Autocrine expression of IL-22 in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	. 131
Figure 3.5. IL-22 and IL-22R1 expression in ALK ⁺ ALCL tumors	132
Figure 3.6. Double staining of ALK ⁺ ALCL tumor with IL-22 and IL-22R1	133
Figure 3.7. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	136
Figure 3.8. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	137

Figure 3.9. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines using MTS assay	139
Figure 3.10. IL-22 modulated ALK ⁺ ALCL colony formation	141
Figure 3.11. Effects of IL-22 on STAT3 signaling pathway	145
Figure 3.12. Effects of IL-22 on STAT3 and MAPK signaling pathway	146
Figure 3.13. IL-22R1 directly up-regulated STAT3 activation	148
Figure 3.14. Induction of IL-22R1 expression in NPM-ALK activated cell line	150
Figure 3.15. Induction of STAT3 activation in NPM-ALK activated cell line	151
Figure 3.16. A hypothetical model of the IL-22 autocrine pathway in ALK ⁺ ALCL	156
Figure 4.1. mRNA expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	177
Figure 4.2. Protein expression of IL-21R in ALK ⁺ ALCL	180
Figure 4.3. IL-21R expression in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	181
Figure 4.4. mRNA expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK ⁺ ALCL tumor	182
Figure 4.5. IL-21 and IL-21R expression in ALK ⁺ ALCL tumors	183
Figure 4.6. Effects of IL-21 on STAT3, JAK3, STAT1 signaling	186
Figure 4.7. IL-21 modulated cell proliferation in ALK ⁺ ALCL cell lines	187
Figure 4.8. IL-21 directly up-regulated STAT3 and cell growth	188
Figure 5.1. SALL4 expression in STAT3C ^{tet-off} system	218
Figure 5.2. mRNA SALL4 expression in STAT3C ^{tet-off} system	219
Figure 5.3. SALL4 transcriptional activation is STAT3 dependent	220
Figure 5.4. STAT3 binds to the human <i>SALL4</i> promoter	222
Figure 5.5. Transcriptional activation of <i>SALL4</i> promoter with altered STAT3-binding sites compared to wild type	224
Figure 5.6. Expression of SALL4 in breast cancer	227

Figure 5.7.	Nuclear SALL4 correlated with pSTAT3 in breast cancer	228
Figure 5.8.	STAT3 up-regulated SALL4 expression	229
Figure 5.9.	SALL4 promote cell growth in breast cancer	231

AEBSF - 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride

ALK – Anaplastic lymphoma kinase

ALK⁺ALCL – Anaplastic lymphoma kinase positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma

AML – Acute myeloid leukemia

 $\beta B - \beta$ -strand

 β -GAL – β -galactosidase

Bcl-2 – B-cell lymphoma-2

BCR-Abl – Breakpoint cluster region-Abl

bFGF - Basic fibroblast growth factor

 $Blg - \beta$ -lactoglobulin

BRCA1 – Breast cancer susceptibility gene 1

C-terminal – Carboxy-terminal

CBP/p300 – Camp-responsive element binding protein

CDK – Cyclin-dependent kinase

ChIP – Chromatin Immunoprecipitation

CIS – Cytokine inducible SH2 domain-containing

CNTF - Ciliary neurotrophic factor

CNTFR – CNTF receptor

CRM1 – Chromosome region maintenance 1

CSF-1 – Colony stimulating factor 1

DMEM – Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium

DRAQ5 - deep red fluorescing anthraquinone Nr.5

DTT – Dithiothreitol

EBV – Epstein-Barr virus

EDTA – Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EGF – Epidermal growth factor

EGFR – EGF receptor

Epo – Erythropoietin

ERK1/2 - Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 1/2

ES – Embryonic stem

ESP – Extracellular signaling proteins

FBS – Fetal bovine serum

G-CSF – Granulocyte colony stimulating factor

GAPDH – Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

GAS – Gamma interferon gene response

GFP – Green fluorescent protein

GM-CSF – Granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor

HCL – Hydrochloride

HGF – Hepatocyte growth factor

HIF-1 α – Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α

HPC – Hematopoietic progenitor cells

HSC – Hematopoietic stem cells

HTLV-1 – Human T-lymphotropic virus-1

ICM – Inner cell mass

IGFBP5 – Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5

IL – Interleukin

INF – Interferon

ISFG3 – IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 complex

JAK – Janus Kinase

JNK – c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinases

K5 - Keratin 5

Lck – Lymphocyte specific protein tyrosine kinase

LEF1 – Lymphoid enhancer binding factor 1

LIF – Leukemia inhibitory factor

LIFR – LIF receptor

LPMSP – Leu-Pro-Met-Ser-Pro

MAPK – Mitogen-activated protein kinase

Mcl-1 – Myeloid cell leukemia-1

MgCO₃ - Magnesium carbonate

MgSO4 – Magnesium sulphate

MHC – Major histocompatibility complex

Mlys – Macrophage lysozyme

MMP – Matrix metalloproteinases

MUC1 – Mucin 1

N-terminal – Amino-terminal

NESs – Nuclear – export signals

NF- κ B – Nuclear factor-kappa B

NLSs – Nuclear-localization signals

NPCs – Nuclear pore complexes

NPM – Nucleophosmin

NPM-ALK – Nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase

 $ONPG - Ortho-Nitrophenyl- \beta$ -galactoside

OSM – Oncostatin M

PBS – Phosphate-Buffer Saline

PCR – Polymerase chain reaction

PDGF – Platelet derived growth factor

PI-3K – Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase

PIAS – Protein inhibitor of activated STAT

PMSP – Pro-Met-Ser-Pro

PRMT1 – Protein arginine methytransferase 1

PSP – Pro-Ser-Pro motif

PTPs – Protein tyrosine phosphatases

PTP1B – Protein-tyrosine-phosphatase-1B

pTyr – Phosphotyrosine

RHS – Rapid microwave histoprocessor

RT – Reverse transcription

RT-PCR – Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction

SCID – Severe combined immunodeficient

SDS-PAGE – Sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SEM - Standard error of mean

SH2 – Src homology 2

SHP1 – SH2-containing phosphatase-1

SOCS – Suppressor of cytokine signaling

STAT - Signal transducers and activators of transcription

STAT3C – Constitutively active STAT3

SUMO – Small-ubiquitin like modifier

TAD – Transcriptional activation domain

Tc-PTP – T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase

TGF – Tumor growth factor

TIMP – Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases

TNF - Tumor necrosis factor

TNFR – TNF receptor

TRE – Tetracycline response element

TSB – Tris-Buffer Saline

tTa – Tetracycline-controlled transactivator

VEGF – Vascular endothelial growth factor

WSxWS – Tryptophan-serine-X-tryptophan-serine

Chapter 1 ♦

General Introduction

1.1. Introduction

Extensive research has led to the important finding that ligand-receptor interaction at the cell surface, particularly receptors that bind extracellular signaling proteins (ESP), results in the transcriptional activation of latent genes. ESPs are also referred to as cytokines including, interferon (INF)- α , INF- β , INF- γ , and interleukins (IL), or growth factors such as epidermal growth factor (EGF) and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) (Levy and Darnell, 1990). In the early 1990s, studies examining the mediation of transcriptional activation by INFs led to the discovery of a family of related proteins defined as Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription (STAT) (Darnell, 1997; Darnell et al., 1994). STAT proteins are a group of cytoplasmic transcriptional factors found to mediate responses to a large number of ESPs and are implicated in a wide variety of biological responses, including development, differentiation, cell proliferation and cell survival (Brierley and Fish, 2005; Darnell, 1997). Of the STAT family, STAT3 was initially characterized as a DNA-binding activity from IL-6 stimulated hepatocytes, capable of interacting with the acute phase response element (Raz et al., 1994). Further studies revealed that STAT3 acts as a latent transcriptional factor that mediates cellular response to diverse cytokines and growth factors in normal cells (Bowman et al., 2000). Aberrant activation of STAT3 is often associated with cell growth dysregulation and malignant cellular transformation (Bowman et al., 2000) and is found in a multitude of human cancers, including prostate (Mora et al., 2002), breast (Garcia et al., 2001), pancreatic (Scholz et al., 2003), and lymphomas (Zamo et al., 2002). In light of these findings, STAT3 is considered an oncogene. There is mounting evidence that the STAT3 signaling pathway is biologically important in the pathogenesis of cancer, however the mechanism by which STAT3 activity contributes to oncogenesis have only partially been elucidated. Therefore, further work is required to further our understanding of the aberrant activation of the STAT3 signaling pathway in cancer. This can be done by identifying specific targets of STAT3 that may contribute to the pathogenesis of cancer, identifying novel stimulators that may contribute to STAT3 activation in cancer, and exploring the interaction of STAT3 with other oncogenes.

1.2. STAT family of transcription factors

There are seven members of the STAT family that have been identified: STAT1, 2, 3, 4, 5A, 5B, and 6, all of which are localized to three chromosomal clusters (Table 1) (Copeland et al., 1995; Ihle JN, 2001). STATs 1 and 4 are located on human chromosome 2 (murine chromosome 1); STAT2 and 6 are located on human chromosome 12 (murine chromosome 10); STAT3, STAT5A, and STAT5B are located on human chromosome 17 (murine chromosome 11) (Brierley and Fish, 2005; Ihle JN, 2001). STATs 1, 3, 4, 5A, and 5B are approximately 750 to 800 amino acids in length, whereas STATs 2 and 6 are approximately 850 amino acids long (Leonard and O'Shea, 1998). Amino acid sequences between the *STAT* genes have been evaluated and *STAT1/STAT4* show 50% similarity, *STAT2/STAT6* show 19% similarity, *STAT3/STAT5* show 24% similarity (Copeland et al., 1995). The similarities between the STAT family supports the concept that an initial *STAT1* gene underwent tandem gene duplication, followed by subsequent duplication events (Copeland et al., 1995; Ihle JN, 2001; Leonard and O'Shea, 1998).

Family member	Chromosomal location Murine Human		Amino acid length	kDa	pTyr	pSer	
			0	· ·			
STAT1	1	2q12-33	750	91	Tyr701	Ser727	
STAT2	10	12q13-14.1	851	113	Tyr690	-	
STAT3	11	17q11.2-22	770	92	Tyr705	Ser727	
STAT4	1	2q12-33	748	89	Tyr693	Ser721	
STAT5A	11	17q11.2-22	794	94	Tyr694	Ser726/780	
STAT5B	11	17q11.2-22	787	92	Tyr699	Ser731	
STAT6	10	12q13-14.1	847	110	Tyr641	-	

Table 1.1. STAT protein properties (adapted from Brierley *et al.*, Ihle *et al.*, Leonard and O'Shea, Lim and Cao)

1.2.1. Domains of STAT proteins

Crystallographic studies of STAT1, STAT3, and STAT4 were first reported in 1998 (Becker et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1998; Vinkemeier et al., 1998). Figure 1.1a illustrates the three-dimensional structure of truncated STAT1 molecule bound to DNA with the truncated STAT3 molecule virtually superimposed with that of STAT1 (Chen et al., 1998). The crystal structures of STAT exhibit highly conserved structural features that are critical for STAT functions (Figure 1.1b) (Darnell, 1997). Beginning at residue 130 is the coiledcoil domain that consist of four anti-parallel long α -helices in which protein-protein interactions occur (Bromberg J and Darnell, 2000). This domain has been shown to mediate interaction between STAT1 and p48, a protein that belongs to an IFN response factor family, to form IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 complex (ISGF3) (Horvath et al., 1996). In addition, the first α -helix of the coiled-coil domain and a portion of the DNAbinding domain of STAT3 have been reported to interaction with the C-terminal region of c-Jun to activate transcription of α_2 -macroglobulin (Zhang et al., 1999). Interestingly, it was also reported that the coiled-coil domain is essential for STAT3 recruitment to receptor, tyrosine phosphorylation, and subsequent tyrosine phosphorylation-dependent activities, including dimer formation, nuclear translocation, and DNA binding (Zhang et al., 2000). Furthermore, a recent report by Ma *et al.* identified Arg214/215 in the second α helix of the coiled-coil domain and Arg414/417 in the DNA binding domain of STAT3 as sequence elements essential for nuclear translocation of STAT3 (Ma J, 2003).

The DNA binding domain, at residues 320-490, binds to DNA as a dimer and is also involved in nuclear translocation through association with protein import receptor, importin (Ma and Cao, 2006). Despite no obvious sequence homology between STAT and other proteins, there is striking functional and structural similarities between STAT and Nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) family of transcription factor where DNA contact is achieved by using loops protruding from a eight-stranded β -barrel domain with a variant of the immunoglobulin variable fold (Becker et al., 1998). STAT protein generally binds to palindromic sequence elements $(TTN_{(4-6)}AA)$ that are related to the INF- γ activation sites. This consensus DNA element is referred to as the gamma interferon gene response (GAS) element, which reflects its initial characterization as a INF-y activation sequence (Decker et al., 1991). The five base pair spacing was able to mediate transcriptional activation of STAT1 and STAT3 by IFN-γ, IL-6 and Oncostatin M (OSM) (Gearing et al.). However, testing of synthetic oligonucleotides bearing different STAT-binding sites revealed distinct binding specificities. For example, STAT1, STAT3, STAT4 and STAT5 favors a half-site spacing of three base pairs (TTCN₃GAA), whereas STAT6 prefers half-sites spaced by four base pairs (TTCN₄GAA) (Copeland et al., 1995; Seidel et al., 1995). A recent paper reported that specific STAT3-binding sites follow the sequence TTMXXXDAA (D: A, G, T; M: A, C) (Ehret et al., 2001; Qian et al., 2006). The differences in sequence specificity could be due to variations of specific DNA-contacting residues (Becker et al., 1998).

A linker domain from residues 390 to 580 is formed by two helix-loop-helix modules (helices α 5 to α 8) to separate the DNA-binding domain from the Src homology 2 (SH2) domain (Becker et al., 1998) and is involved in transcriptional activation in STAT1 by acting as a critical point for STAT1-driven transcription (Yang et al., 1999). Yang *et al.* reported that mutations within the linker domain destabilizes DNA binding and decreases

activation of genes after IFN- γ induction (Alli et al., 2002). Contrary to previous reports, the linker domain shows no structural similarity to SH3 domains (Becker et al., 1998).

Immediately downstream of the linker domain is the SH2 domain, an ~100 amino acid motif that extends between residues 580 and 680 and interacts with phosphotyrosinecontaining motifs during signal transduction (Gao et al., 2004). The characteristic structure of the SH2 domain is a central three-stranded β -pleated sheet flanked by two α -helices ($\alpha\beta\beta\beta\alpha$) with the first β -strand (β B) representing the core motif critical for phosphotyrosine (pTyr) binding and is required for normal function of the SH2 domain (Waksman et al., 1992). The SH2 domain is critical for receptor association and phosphodimer formation in which homodimers as well as heterodimers between STAT1/STAT3 and STAT5A/STAT5B have been reported (Lim and Cao, 2006). Tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT3 occurs at a single site close to the carboxyl terminus (Tyr705) and serine phosphorylation of STAT3 occurs at a single residue (Ser727) (Wen and Darnell, 1997; Wen Z, 1995).

At one end of the STAT protein is the amino-terminal (N-terminal) domain (residues 1-130) and at the other end is the carboxyl-terminal (C-terminal) domain (starts at residues ~700). The N-terminal domain is essential for transcription, as judged by decrease stimulation in N-terminal deletion experiments (Meraz et al., 1996). There have also been reports of interactions between the N-terminal domain of STAT and histone acetyltransferase such as camp-responsive element binding protein (CBP/p300), which contributes to transcriptional activation (Zhang et al., 1996). CBP/p300 are important

7

transcriptional coactivators that interact with a wide range of DNA binding transcription factors to regulate cellular processes (Lejeune et al., 2002). In addition, most promoters have closely spaced tandem STAT binding sites and when two such sites are occupied, STAT dimer-dimer interaction occurs via the N-terminal domain. Alternatively, the Cterminal end of STAT is located downstream of the SH2 domain and functions as a transcriptional activation domain (TAD) (Darnell et al., 1994; King et al.). In general, the TAD of STATs can function independently by recruiting transcription co-activator CBP/p300 for gene activation (Paulson et al., 1999; Sun et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 1996). Specifically, STAT1, STAT3 and STAT4 TADs contains a conserved sequence motif in the C-terminal domain, Leu-Pro-Met-Ser-Pro (LPMSP), in which leucine phosphorylation as well as serine phosphorylation is required for maximal transcriptional activation (Wen et al., 1995). A recent report by Sun et al. suggests that although serine phosphorylation is necessary for maximal activity of STATs, it is not sufficient. Other residues in the LPMSP motif (Pro728 for STAT3) is required for maximal STAT-mediated transcriptional activation in response to cytokine signaling (Sun et al., 2006). In addition, transcriptional activation of STAT3 β , a short form of STAT3 that lack a C-terminal region containing the LPMSP motif was significantly reduced (Caldenhoven et al., 1996). Figure 1.2 summarized the overall functions of the STAT domains.

8



Figure 1.1. Structure of STAT3 protein. (a). Functional domain of STAT3 protein: N-terminal domain, Coiled-coil domain, DNA-binding domain, Linker domain, SH2 domain which is involved in receptor recruitment and STAT3 dimerization, and TAD domain. (adapted from Brierley *et al.* and Takeda *et al.*). (b). Crystal structure of a truncated STAT1 molecule bound to DNA. STAT3 truncated structure is virtually superimposed with the STAT1 structure. (adapted from Bromberg and Darnell)

Functional Domains	North Contraction Contraction		DNA		SH2	TAD
Receptor binding	-	+	-	-	+	_
Dimerization	+	-	-	-	+	+
Tetramerization	+ '	-	-	-	-	-
Nuclear import	+	+	+	-	- ,	-
Nuclear export		+	+	+	+	+
DNA binding	-	-	+	Ŧ	-	
Transcriptional activity	-	-	-	+	-	+
Protein-protein interaction	+	+	+	Ŧ	+	÷

Figure 1.2. STAT domain functions. The N-terminal domain is involved in dimerization, tetramerization, nuclear export, and protein-protein interaction. The coiled-coil domain is involved in receptor binding, nuclear import/export, and protein-protein interaction. The DNA-binding domain is involved in nuclear import/export, DNA binding, and protein-protein interaction. The linker domain is involved in nuclear export, DNA binding, transcriptional activity, and protein-protein interaction. The SH2 domain is involved in receptor binding, dimerization, nuclear export, and protein-protein interaction. Lastly, the transcriptional activation domain at the C-terminal end is involved in dimerization, nuclear export, transcriptional activation, and protein-protein interaction. (adapted from Lim *et al.*).

1.2.2. Isoforms of STAT proteins

The full length form of STAT proteins are referred to as the α isoform, whereas shorter β , γ , and δ isoforms were formed from either alternative splicing or post-translational proteolytic processing (Lim and Cao, 2006). Alternative spliced β isoforms with truncated C-terminal transactivation domains have been described for STAT1, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5A and STAT5B. Specifically, STAT3 β lacks the 55 C-terminal amino acids of STAT3 α but has a unique 7 amino acid sequence (Ren and Schaefer, 2002). Because of the carboxyl truncations, the β isoforms of STAT retain the critical phospho-Tyr residue but lack the phospho-Ser residue. Therefore, studies have reported that the β isoforms act as a dominant regulator of transcription (Caldenhoven et al., 1996). Furthermore, the α and β isoforms of STAT are distinctly different in their transcriptional activation and biological functions (Lim and Cao, 2006). In contrast to previous reports that STAT3 β is a dominant negative factor, Maritano *et al.* reported that STAT3 β can prevent embryonic lethality of STAT3-null mutations and can induce expression of STAT3 target genes (Maritano *et al.*, 2004).

1.3. Regulation of STAT proteins

STAT activity is primarily regulated by post-translational modifications and a number of different post-translational modification mechanisms have been described to affect the regulation of STATs.

1.3.1. Phosphorylation

Tyrosine phosphorylation is considered to be obligatory for STAT dimerization and translocation into the nucleus (Calo et al., 2003). Interestingly, tyrosine phosphorylation is even critical for activation of the constitutive STATC mutants of STAT1 and STAT3 at A656C/N658C and A661C/N663C, respectively where mutations at cysteine residues resulted in spontaneous dimer-dimer interaction (Liddle et al., 2006). The critical tyrosine residues for STAT proteins are as follow: Tyr 701 for STAT1, Tyr 690 for STAT2, Tyr 705 for STAT3, Tyr 693 for STAT4, Tyr 694 for STAT5, and Tyr 641 for STAT6 (Table 1.1), and the resulting dimers are stabilized by divalent bonds (Chen et al., 1998; Liddle et al., 2006). All the STAT proteins are able to form homodimers except for STAT2 in which a heterodimer is formed with STAT1 and p48 (Horvath et al., 1996). Of all the tyrosine kinases, the one most studies is the Janus Kinase (JAK) family and this family of four mammalian kinases will be further discussed in chapter 1.5.3.

Aside from STAT2 and STAT6, in which tyrosine phosphoryalation is all that is required for activation, additional phosphorylation of the other STAT members at serine sites have been identified and extensively studied (Table 1.1) (Decker and Kovarik, 2000). Due to the presence of a Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) consensus sequence, Pro-Met-Ser-Pro (PMSP), in the C-terminal transactivation domain (residues 720 to 730) (Zhang et al., 1995), serine phosphorylation at Ser727 was described for STAT1 and STAT3 (Wen et al., 1995), and Ser721 was described for STAT4 (Visconti et al., 2000). In addition, STAT5A and STAT5B contain conserved Pro-Ser-Pro (PSP) motif with serine phosphorylation occurring at Ser725 and Ser779 in STAT5A and Ser730 in STAT5B (Pircher et al., 1999; Yamashita et al., 1998). In light of these findings, it was suggested that members of the MAPK family participate in serine phosphorylation. For instance, phosphorylation can be achieved by a number of serine kinases including extracellular-signal-regulated kinase-1/2 (ERK1/2), c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinases (JNK), and p38 (Catlett-Falcone R, 1999; David et al., 1995b) where inhibition of the ERK pathway by PD98059 interfered with serine phosphorylation of STAT3 (Chung et al., 1997b). In addition, the contribution of these MAP kinases to serine phosphorylation is dependent on several factors including, the stimulus, cellular context, and STAT member. Phosphorylation of STAT3 at Ser727 by growth factors is attributed to ERKs (Chung et al., 1997b), whereas phosphorylation by IL-6 signaling is attributed to p38, not ERKs or JNK (Zauberman et al., 1999).

The role of serine phosphorylation on STAT members has been heavily studied with variable outcome. One major finding is that Ser727 phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT3 is required for maximal transcriptional activation where mutation of Ser727 to Ala727 significantly reduced cytokine-stimulated transcription factor activity (Wen et al., 1995). It was also reported that the presence or absence of Ser727 phosphorylation did not affect tyrosine phosphorylation or DNA binding of STAT1 and STAT3 (Wen and Darnell, 1997). Although these findings have been disputed by other reports that showed that serine phosphorylation negatively regulates tyrosine phosphorylation and DNA binding (Chung et al., 1997b; Olayioye et al., 1999), a recent study by Shen *et al.* supports the concept that serine phosphorylation is essential for maximal transcription by demonstrating that mutation of the STAT3 Ser727 site in mice resulted in a 50%

transcriptional activation (Xie et al., 2006). Nevertheless, there are currently no evidence to support that serine phosphorylation can influence nuclear translocation of STATs and truncation of the C-terminal PMSP or PSP motif had no effect on the nuclear localization of STATs (Decker and Kovarik, 2000).

1.3.2. Arginine methylation, lysine acetylation, and ISGylation

In addition to tyrosine and serine phosphorylation of STATs, other post-translational modification includes methylation, ISGylation, ubiquitination, and SUMOylation. Methylation of STAT1 on arginine 31 in the N-terminal domain by protein arginine methytransferase 1 (PRMT1) is required to increase DNA binding activity and gene transcription. This is achieved by decreasing interaction with a member of the protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIAS), PIAS1 (Mowen et al., 2001). Arginine methylation have also been reported for STAT3 (Rho et al., 2001) and STAT6 (Chen et al., 2004). In contrast, a recent report by Komyod *et al.* suggested that arginine methylation is absent in STAT1 and STAT3 due to the lack of methylation by PRMT1 *in vitro* (Komyod et al., 2005).

Reversible acetylation has been reported for STAT1, STAT3, and STAT6. Acetylation of STAT1 and STAT3 results in the activation of NF- κ B, resulting in a pro-apoptotic effect for STAT1 and an anti-apoptotic effect for STAT3 (Kramer et al., 2006; Nadiminty et al., 2006). In addition, STAT3 acetylation at a single lysine residue, Lys685, is critical for dimer-dimer formation, cytokine-stimulated DNA binding, and transcriptional activation (Liu et al., 2005a).

14
Emerging evidence suggests that protein modification by ISG15 (ISGylation) positively regulates IFN signaling to enhance and prolong JAK-STAT3 signaling. Thus far, only STAT1 have been reported to be a target for ISGylation (Malakhova et al., 2003). Following IFN stimulation, the ISGylating enzyme Ubc8 conjugates ISG15 to signaling components such as STAT1 and though it appears to act as a positive regulator of STAT1 activity, ISGylation is not essential for JAK-STAT signaling (Leslie et al., 2006). Therefore, the biological significance of ISGylation on STAT regulation needs to be further studied.

1.4. Nuclear trafficking of STAT3 protein

Eukaryotic cells have evolved with the genomic information partitioned from the cytoplasm by a membrane bound nucleus. The trafficking of molecules in and out of the nucleus occur through specialized passageways known as nuclear pore complexes (NPCs) that span the membrane (Rout et al., 2000; Suntharalingam and Wente, 2003). Small molecules can diffuse freely through the NPCs, but larger molecules need to interact with transport carrier proteins to pass through the NPCs. The recognitions signals on protein cargos are specific amino acid sequences that can either function as nuclear-localization signals (NLSs) or nuclear–export signals (NESs). The transport carriers are members of the karypherin- β that play a primary role in nuclear importing and exporting and therefore are referred to as importins and exportins, respectively. Karyopherin- β proteins can bind protein cargo directly or require interaction with adaptor molecules such as the importin- α family. Figure 1.3 illustrates the nuclear import and export mechanism of STAT3.

15



Figure 1.3. Schematic illustration of STAT3 protein import/export cycle. Importin- α 3 binds to the NLS in STAT3 and mediates nuclear accumulation of both unphosphorylated and tyrosine phosphoryated STAT3 (by protein tyrosine kinases). The nuclear export of STAT3 is mediated by unknown exportin and is also facilitated by interaction of CRM1 with putative NESs (via protein tyrosine phosphatases) (adapted from Reich and Liu).

1.4.1. Nuclear import

Analysis of endogenous STAT3 using immunofluorescence clearly shows the constitutive presence of STAT3 in the nucleus (Liu et al., 2005b). Unlike the other STAT family members, STAT3 can accumulate in the nucleus independent of the phosphorylation state, as demonstrated by mutating the tyrosine and arginine residue in the SH2 domain (Tyr705 to Phe and Arg609 to Ala, respectively) (Liu et al., 2005b; Reich and Liu, 2006). STAT3 have intrinsic constitutive domains that allows for continuous shuttling of STAT3 between the nucleus and cytoplasm, with nuclear import being more dominant (Liu et al., 2005b; Reich and Liu, 2006). Nuclear translocation of STAT3 is mainly mediated by importin- α 3, a member of the importin- α family that is ubiquitously expressed (Kohlhase et al., 1996) and interacts with the coiled-coil domain of STAT3 at amino acids 152-163. In addition, this particular amino acid sequence is required by the STAT3 constitutive NLS (Liu et al., 2005b). Importin- α 3 binds to the constitutive NLS in STAT3 and mediates nuclear accumulation of both unphosphorylated and tyrosine phosphoryated STAT3 (Reich and Liu, 2006).

Since there is a prominent amount of unphosphorylated STAT3 that can accumulate in the nucleus, a recent report proposed that unphosphorylated STAT3 can influence gene expression independently or through interaction with other DNA-binding factors, (Yang et al., 2005). Further work have revealed that unphosphorylated STAT3 can regulate expression of a variety of genes by interacting with NF- κ B (Yang et al., 2007). In addition to its interaction with NF- κ B, interaction between STAT3 and other transcription factors such as Jun have cooperatively influenced gene transcription (Zhang

17

et al., 1999). Overall, unphoshorylated STAT3 can be continuously shuttled between the nucleus and cytoplasm, thereby allowing for rapid response to activating signals (Reich and Liu, 2006)..

1.4.2. Nuclear export

Many properties of nuclear imports are shared with the nuclear exports of STAT3. For active export of molecules the presence of NES is required. A common NES is a hydrophobic sequence that is rich in leucine amino acids and recognized by the exportin transporter chromosome region maintenance 1 (CRM1). CRMI can bind to protein containing NES and to Ran-GTP in the nucleus. Once transported to the cytoplasm, Ran-GTP is hydrolyzed and CRM1 is dissociated from the protein (Reich and Liu, 2006). For STAT3 nuclear export, three NES elements at amino acids 306-318, 404-414, and 524-535 were identified and functional studies using green fluorescent protein (GFP)-tagged reporter proteins at leucine-rich sequences confirmed that the three elements did in fact direct the CRM1-dependent nuclear export (Bhattacharya and Schindler, 2003). It was suggested that the structural changes that are associated with STAT3 activation may be involved in regulating NES functions due to the fact that one of the hydrophobic residues is inaccessible or only partially exposed (amino acids 404-414 and 524-535, respectively) (Becker et al., 1998; Bhattacharya and Schindler, 2003). In contrast, the STAT3 NES at amino acids 306-318 is more accessible in the activated conformation and appears to be more important in postreceptor-stimulated export (Bhattacharya and Schindler, 2003).

1.5. Activation mechanisms of STAT3 proteins

STAT proteins acts as a latent transcriptional factor that mediates cellular response to diverse cytokines and growth factors in normal cells (Bowman et al., 2000). There are multiple tyrosine kinase signaling pathways involved in STAT3 activation. Generally, stimulation of cell surface receptors with their cognate ligands results in activation of receptor associated tyrosine kinases, such as the JAK, which will autophosphorylate at STAT3 monomers will bind to JAK via the SH2 and is tyrosine docking sites. phosphorylated at the Tyr705 residue. This phosphorylated form of STAT3 will dimerize and translocate to the nucleus to modulate transcription of various targets genes that are often key regulators of cell survival, cell cycle progression, and apoptosis (Bromberg J and Darnell, 2000; Levy and Lee, 2002). Alternatively, STAT3 can also be activated by non-receptor tyrosine kinases (Figure 1.4). One interesting feature of STAT3 activation is that STAT3 DNA binding activity can be detected in the nucleus within minutes of cytokine stimulation. Thus, the acronym 'STAT' is very appropriate since it reflects the speediness by which STATs become activated to exert its biological functions (Leonard and O'Shea, 1998).



Figure 1.4. Activation mechanisms of STAT3. Multiple tyrosine kinase signaling pathways are involved in STAT3 activation. First, STAT3 can be activated by cytokines (i.e. IL-6) that can directly bind to receptors lacking intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity. This results in phosphorylation and activation of appropriate JAK family kinases. JAK will then phosphorylate STAT3 protein resulting in dimerization, nuclear translocation and DNA binding. Second, STAT3 can be activated by growth factors (i.e. EGF) that bind to receptor tyrosine kinases. This will also result in the activation of STAT3 through JAK. Lastly, STAT3 can also be activated by non-receptor tyrosine kinases (i.e. Src). These non-receptor tyrosine kinases can directly phosphorylate STAT3 in the absence of ligand-induced receptor signaling. (adapted from Bowman *et al.*).

1.5.1. Cytokines

STAT3 is considered a critical mediator of biological responses promoted by a variety of cytokines (Table 1.2). Receptors that binds to cytokines constitutes a large number of factors that are essential in regulating multiple aspects of cell growth and can be divided into two groups (Calo et al., 2003). Class I includes receptors for IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-9, IL-11, IL-13, IL-15, erythropoietin (Epo), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), granulocyte and granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor (G-CSF and GM-CSF) (Copeland et al., 1995). This group of receptors shares a domain with conserved motifs containing four cysteine and one tryptophan residues and a membrane proxial region encoding tryptophan-serine-Xtryptophan-serine (WSxWS) where 'X' is a non-conserved residue (Calo et al., 2003). Although class II receptors share overall structural features with class I receptors, they are more divergent. Class II receptors, including ones for IFN- α , INF- γ , and IL-10, encode several conserved pralines and tyrosines as well as an additional cysteine pair (Calo et al., 2003; Ghosh et al., 1993; Novick et al., 1994). Cytokine receptors have no intrinsic enzymatic activity and therefore determine STAT phosphorylation in tyrosine by means of proteins belonging to the JAK family (Takeda K, 2000).

21

· ·	STATs					
Ligands	1	2	3	4	5	6
IFN family						
IFN-α	+	+	+	-	+	
IFN-γ	+	-	-	-		
IL-10	+/-	-	+	-		
gp130 family						
IL-6	+/-	÷.	+	-	-	<u>-</u>
IL-11	+/-	-	+	-	-	-
OSM	+/-	-	+	-	+/-	-
LIF	+/-	-	+		+/-	-
CNTF	+/-	-	+	-	-	-
G-CSF	+	-	+	<u>.</u>	+	
IL-12			+	+	-	-
γ-C family						
IL-2	+/-		+		+	
IL-4	+		+		+	+
IL-7		+	+	+	+-	+
IL-9	+		+		+	
IL-13						+
IL-15		+	+ .		+	+
1L-21	-+-		+		+	
gp140 family						
IL-3				•	÷	
IL-5					+	
GM-CSF	+		+		+	
Growth hormone family						
EPO	+		+	-	+	
GH	+	-	+	-	+	
PRL	+	. .	+	-	+	
Receptor tyrosine kinases						
EGF	+	-	+	-	+	
PDGF	+	-	+	-	+	
HGF	+	+	+		+	
CSF-1	+		· +			

 Table 1.2. Activation of STAT proteins by various ligands (Adapted from Schindler and Darnell)

The activation of STAT3 by the IL-6 family of receptors have been well documented (Lutticken et al., 1994; Smith et al., 1988; Zhong et al., 1994). Members of this family, including IL-6, IL-11, OSM, LIF, and CNTF, all share a common gp130 receptor component (Copeland et al., 1995; Lutticken et al., 1994; Smith et al., 1988; Zhong et al., 1994). Binding of the IL-6 family cytokines to their receptors leads to either gp130 homodimerization or heterodimerization of gp130 with other related receptors, including IL-6 receptor α , LIF receptor (LIFR)- β , OSM receptor- α , and CT-1 receptor- α . This subsequently results in the activation of the gp130-associated JAK family members (Lutticken et al., 1994; Sato et al., 2003; Smith et al., 1988) and phosphorylation of tyrosine residues located in YxxQ boxes (Tyr767, 814, 905, and 915) creates docking sites for STAT3 (Figure 1.5) (Heinrich et al., 1998). These docking sites for STAT3 at Tyr705 in the SH2 domain, leading to STAT3 dimerization, and translocation to the nucleus (Copeland et al., 1995).



Figure 1.5. Phosphorylation of JAK by gp130. Stimulation of gp130 will result in the phosphorylation of Y759, Y767, Y814, Y905, and Y915 by JAK family kinases. Of the five tyrosine sites, Y767, Y814, Y905, and Y915 are required for STAT3 activation. In contrast, Y759 is required for ERK1/2 kinase activation. (adapted from Hirano *et al.*).

1.5.2. Growth factors

STATs are also activated by several receptors for growth factor such as EGF (Leaman et al., 1996), PDGF (Vignais et al., 1996), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Boccaccio C, 1998), and colony stimulating factor 1 (CSF-1) (Novak et al., 1995) (Table 1.2). These receptors possess intrinsic tyrosine kinase activities and can therefore activate STATs indirectly, by means of JAK kinase proteins, or directly, as demonstrated by activation of STATs by EGF or PDGF in the absence of the JAK family members (David et al., 1996; Leaman et al., 1996; Vignais et al., 1996). For example, EGF receptor (EGFR) is a membrane-bound receptor tyrosine kinase that initiates activation of a number of signal transduction pathways that are critical for cell proliferation and survival, including STAT3 (Jin L, 1997). EGFR mediated activation of the gp130/JAK/STAT3 pathway via IL-6 up-regulation have recently been reported (Berishaj et al., 2007).

1.5.3. Janus Kinase family

Four mammalian members of JAK have been identified using two approaches. One member, TYK2, was identified by screening of a T cell cDNA libraries at low-stringency hybridization using a c-fms catalytic domain (Krolewski et al., 1990). The other three members, JAK1, JAK2, and JAK3, were cloned using primers corresponding to conserved motifs within the catalytic domains of tyrosine kinases (Harpur et al., 1992; Rane and Reddy, 1994; Wilks et al., 1991). While JAK1, JAK2 and TYK2 are ubiquitously expressed, JAK3 expression in tissues is more restricted (Leonard and O'Shea, 1998). The JAK family represents a distinct family of receptor-associated tyrosine kinases which have been implicated in the signal transduction of many members

of the cytokine family (Figure 1.6) (Copeland et al., 1995). The physical association between JAKs and cytokine receptors was demonstrated by interaction of JAK2 and EPO (Argetsinger et al., 1993). As previously mentioned, cytokine binding to its receptor activates the appropriate JAKs, leading to tyrosine phosphorylation of receptors which serves as docking sites for STAT3 via the SH2 domain (Imada K, 2000). In addition, different classes of receptors preferentially use one particular JAK or a combination of JAKs (Figure 1.5). For instance, growth hormone and EPO receptors employ JAK2, whereas IL-6 receptors use JAK1, JAK2, and TYK2. In contrast, JAK3 is only activated by cytokines whose receptors contain γ -chain: IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15, IL-21 (Ahr et al., 2005; Leonard and O'Shea, 1998; Murray, 2007). Moreover, a recent study reported the activation of JAK3 by IL-9 and γ -chain, which led to the subsequent activation of STAT3 in a type of lymphoma (Qiu et al., 2006).



Figure 1.6. JAK combinations utilized by cytokine receptors. Most cytokine receptors use three different JAK combinations. Receptors required for hemopoietic cell development and proliferation utilizes JAK2, common γ -chain receptors utilizes JAK1 and JAK3, and other receptors utilize only JAK1. Receptors that use JAK2 and JAK3, JAK3 alone, TYK2 alone, or JAK3 and TYK2 are still unknown. (adapted from Murray *et al.*, Leonard *et al.*).

1.5.4. Non-receptor tyrosine kinases

Several oncoproteins of the non-receptor tyrosine kinases have been identified which activates STAT3. STAT3 activity has been associated with Src where cellular transformation of mammalian cells by Src reveals constitutive activation of STAT3. Furthermore, blockade of STAT3 using dominant negative construct was sufficient in blocking the transforming ability of Src (Turkson et al., 1998). Src is the first tyrosine kinase that was discovered and can interact with STAT3 independently or through the EGF and PDGF (Levy and Darnell, 2002). Another example is Abl, an oncoprotein that can directly interact with JAKs to activate STAT3. In contrast, the fusion protein breakpoint cluster region-Abl (BCR-Abl) can directly activate STAT3 without JAK tyrosine kinase activity. Other examples of viral oncoproteins including, v-Eyk, v-Ros, v-Fps, and Lck have been known to activate STAT3 in predominantly fibroblast cell lines (Bowman et al., 2000).

1.6. Negative regulation of STAT3

STAT3 activation is normally a transient process and inactivation or inhibition of STAT3 is important to control their biological functions. Several distinct negative regulators of STAT3 signaling pathway have been defined.

1.6.1. Cytoplasmic tyrosine phosphatases

As crucial as tyrosine kinases are in initiating STAT3 signaling, tyrosine phosphatase is essential for the abrogation of signal transduction (Brierley and Fish, 2005). Several protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) that can dephosphorylate STATs in the cytoplasm have been described, including SH2-containing phosphatase-1 (SHP1), SHP2, and protein-tyrosine-phosphatase-1B (PTP1B) (Aoki and Matsuda, 2000; David et al., 1995a; You et al., 1999). SHP1 is a non-transmembrane PTP that is abundantly expressed in hematopoietic cells (Yi et al., 1992) and represses signaling through several receptors, including EPO, IL-3, IL-4, IL-13, and CSF-1 (Shultz et al., 1997). SHP1 serves as an important negative regulator of the STAT3 signaling pathway, as a loss of SHP1 in anaplastic lymphoma kinase positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma (ALK⁺ALCL) increases tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of the JAK3/STAT3 signaling pathway and decreases proteosome degradation of JAK3 (Han et al., 2006). On the other hand, SHP2 is ubiquitously expressed and is reported to reduce tyrosine phosphorylation of mainly STAT1 and STAT5 (Brierley and Fish, 2005). PTP1B is expressed ubiquitously and absence of PTP1B in mice leads to impaired JAK2 dephosporylation (Zabolotny et al., 2002).

1.6.2. Nuclear regulators

STAT dephosphorylation by nuclear PTPs occurs in the nucleus and the half-life for nuclear dephosphorylation of STAT proteins is approximately 10-15 minutes (Zabolotny et al., 2002). The nuclear tyrosine phosphatase TC45 is a nuclear isoform of the T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (Tc-PTP) that is implicated in the dephosphorylation of both STAT1 and STAT3, since dephosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT3 is defective in Tc-PTP null mouse embryonic fibroblasts (ten Hoeve et al., 2002). Furthermore, TC45 has also been implicated in dephosphorylating JAK1 and JAK3 (Simoncic et al., 2002).

PIAS are a family of nuclear proteins that are constitutively expressed and bind phosphorylated STAT dimers to inhibit their activity. Four members of PIAS have been identified, including PIAS1, PIAS3, PIASx, and PIASy (Brierley and Fish, 2005). The PIAS family of proteins have several conserved domains: the SAF-A, Acinus, PIAS (SAP) box required for repression of STAT1 by PIASy (Liu et al., 2001), the Miz-Zn finger/RING domain that is essential for small-ubiquitin like modifier (SUMO) ligase activity (Smith et al., 2004), and the PINIT motif for nuclear retention of PIAS3 (Duval et al., 2003). Studies in cultured mammalian cells confirmed that PIAS1 and PIAS3 only interacted with tyrosine phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT3, respectively (Chung et al., 1997a; Liu et al., 1998). PIAS3 is constitutively expressed in a large variety of tissues and is reported to block the DNA-binding activity of STAT3 to inhibit activation of target genes (Chung et al., 1997a). A recent report revealed a short amino acid sequence from the N-terminal region of PIAS (residues 82 to 132) that is able to bind and inhibit STAT3 activity (Levy and Inghirami, 2006). In contrast, PIASx and PIASy do not inhibit DNAbinding activity of STATs but rather act as transcriptional co-repressors. For example, PIASy blocks STAT1 mediated transcription but not DNA-binding (Choi et al., 2001).

1.6.3. Suppressor of cytokine signaling

Another distinct family of negative regulators of STAT is the suppressor of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins. SOCS family protein consist of eight members, SOCS1, SOCS2, SOCS3, SOCS4, SOCS5, SOCS6, SOCS7, and cytokine inducible SH2 domain-containing (CIS), that act through JAKs or receptors to block STAT activation (Brierley and Fish, 2005). All of the SOCS proteins are characterized by a central SH2 domain, a

N-terminal domain of variable length and sequence, and a C-terminal region containing a conserved SOCS box (Greenhalgh and Hilton, 2001). The SOCS proteins are generally induced in response to cytokine stimulation and can bind to the activated signaling components to inhibit signaling directly or by targeting the active proteins for ubiquitin/proteosome-mediated degradation (Krebs and Hilton, 2001). Within the SOCS family, SOCS1 and SOCS3 have been shown to be the most potent regulators of cytokine signaling (Brierley and Fish, 2005). Knockout studies revealed that SOCS1 is important in regulating IFN- γ signaling and STAT1 activation (Alexander et al., 1999). In addition, SOCS1 and SOCS3 appear to play a role in inhibiting STAT3 activity due to the absence of IL-6 dependent stimulation of STAT3 in cells expressing these SOCS proteins (Nicholson et al., 1999). In particular, the negative effects of SOCS3 on STAT3 signaling have been extensively studied. Under physiologic conditions, IL-6 induces the expression of SOCS3 via the JAK/STAT3 pathway, which will allow SOCS3 protein to bind to gp130 at Tyr759, resulting in the inhibition of IL-6 signaling and STAT3 activation (Croker et al., 2003; Heinrich et al., 1998; Kubo et al., 2003). Therefore, the silencing of SOCS3 is considered a potential mechanism to explain the constitutive activation of STAT3 in a variety of human cancers (Flowers et al., 2005; Niwa et al., 2005; Weber et al., 2006). One possible reason for the silencing of SOCS3 in cancer is the aberrant methylation of the CpG islands, as reported in human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines (Niwa et al., 2005).

31

1.7. Biological functions of STAT3

Activation of STAT3 leads to transcriptional induction of genes that evoke a number of cellular functions including cell proliferation, differentiation, survival, and development, as well as specialized functions that involve immune responses (Bowman et al., 2000). In this section of chapter 1, the multi-functional role of STAT3 will be discussed.

1.7.1. Requirement of STAT3 for embryonic development

In contrast to the other STAT family members, STAT3 knockout mice result in embryonic lethality (Table 1.3) (Takeda et al., 1997). Similar to the wild-type embryos, STAT3⁷ embryos developed to the egg cylinder-stage embryos until 6.0 days post coitum (dpc). However, the embryos and the inner cell mass (ICM) of the STAT3^{-/} are much smaller then the wild-type embryos with rapid degeneration occurring between 6.5 and 7.5 dpc. Expression of STAT3 mRNA was observed exclusively at around 6.0 dpc in the visceral endoderm, which plays an important supportive role during early embryogenesis by mediating metabolic exchange with maternal blood (Takeda et al., 1997). Therefore, the coincidence of the onset of degeneration of STAT³/ embryos with STAT3 mRNA expression indicates that embryonic lethality may be due to a defect in functions of visceral endoderm, such as nutritional insufficiency (Takeda et al., 1997). Gene deletion of various receptors that are known to activate STAT3, including gp130, LIFR, and CNTF receptor (CNTFR), were also analyzed with embryonic lethality observed. However, the period of embryonic lethality in STAT3^{-/} mice is shorter then what was observed for the receptors with LIFR^{-/} mice and CNTFR^{-/} mice dying shortly after birth and gp130^{-/} mice dying around 15.5 to 18.5 dpc (Bowen et al., 1995; DeChiara

et al., 1995; Yoshida et al., 1996). Therefore, these components do not explain the reason behind the early embryonic lethality observed after knockdown of STAT3. Overall, the process by which STAT3 mediates embryonic development remains to be determined.

STAT family	
member	Phenotype of knockout mice
STAT1	Impaired responses to INF, increased susceptibility to tumors, viable, normal development
STAT2	Impaired responses to INF, viable, normal development
STAT3	Early embryonic lethality, impaired cell survival in adult tissues, impaired response to pathogens
SŢAT4	Impaired TH1 response, loss of IL-12 responsiveness
STAT5A	Impaired mammary gland development
STAT5B	Impaired growth hormone responsiveness
STAT6	Impaired TH1 differentiation, loss of IL-4 responsiveness

 Table 1.3. STAT knockout studies (Adapted from Levy and Darnell)

1.7.2. Conditional knockout of STAT3

Because knockdown of the *STAT3* gene resulted in lethality at such an early stage, it was critical to development conditional knockout mice to study STAT3-dependent processes in later stages of embryogenesis and beyond. The Cre-loxP recombinase system was applied where deletion of the DNA segment flanked by the *loxP* sites, following the introduction of Cre recombinase, results in functional inactivation of the *STAT3* gene (Levy and Lee, 2002). Table 1.4 summarizes the tissue specific role of STAT3 using conditional knockout mice.

Using the lymphocyte specific protein tyrosine kinase (*Lck*) promoter to drive Cre, the function of STAT3 in T-cells were examined (Akaishi et al., 1998; Takeda et al., 1998). STAT3-deficient T-cells showed severely impaired IL-6 dependent T-cell proliferation (Takeda et al., 1998) and displayed a reduced IL-2 dependent T-cell proliferation due to impaired IL-2 receptor α chain expression (Akaishi et al., 1998). STAT3 functions have also been investigated in macrophages and neutrophils using the macrophage lysozyme (*Mlys*) promoter to direct Cre-mediated gene ablation (Chapman et al., 1999). STAT3-deficient macrophages and neutrophils showed increased production of inflammatory cytokines, including tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-6, and IFN- γ , and enhance major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II and B7-1 co-stimulatory molecule. In addition, IL-10 mediated suppression of macrophages and neutrophils were completely abolished (Chapman et al., 1999). The role of STAT3 in the skin have also been evaluated using the keratin 5 (*K5*) promoter and hair cycle and wound healing were severely compromised due to defective keratinocyte motility (Toi M, 1998).

Furthermore, STAT3 knockout studies have also been performed in mammary gland using the β -lactoglobulin (*Blg*) promoter (Chapman et al., 1999). In normal mammary glands, high levels of phosphorylated STAT3 levels are detected during puberty, a time of rapid ductal growth and branching, and early pregnancy (Hennighausen et al., 1997). However, levels of STAT3 are diminished during lactation and are only induced shortly after the cessation of suckling, during a phase called involution. Involution is characterized by extensive apoptosis of the epithelial cells alongside an increase of insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5 (IGFBP5), a protein that is responsible for inducing apoptosis (Takeda K, 2000). Therefore, STAT3 gene ablation in mammary gland delayed involution after weaning and decreased apoptosis of the epithelial cells. IGFBP5 expression was almost abolished but other markers of apoptosis, including Bax and Bcl-xL, were unaffected (Chapman et al., 1999)

 Table 1.4. STAT3 conditional knockout study (Adapted from Levy and Darnell, Levy and Lee)

Target cells	Phenotype
T lymphocytes	Impaired IL-6 dependent survival and IL-2 receptor expression
Monocytes/neutrophils	Increased inflammatory cytokines and TH1 differentiation
Keratinocytes	Impaired 2nd hair cycle, wound repair, and keratinocyte motility
Mammary epithelium	Delayed involution, defective apoptosis
Thymic epithelium	Thymic hypoplasia dependent on age, hypersensitivity to stress
Liver	Impaired acute phase response

37

1.7.3. Embryonic stem cell

Embryonic stem (ES) cells are pluripotent cell lines that are derived from the inner cell mass of preimplantation embryo and can differentiate into various organs derived from the three embryonic germ layers: endoderm, mesoderm, ectoderm (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981; Rossant and Papaioannou, 1984). ES cells are considered totipotent where the cells have the ability to give rise to all of the somatic cells as well as germ cells (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Hahn et al., 1999). The presence of LIF is compulsory to maintain ES cells in a self-renewal state and prevent differentiation (Smith et al., 1988; Smith and Hooper, 1987; Williams et al., 1988); this will activate the gp130 signaling pathways, resulting in STAT3 phosphorylation. STAT3 have been implicated as a major player in maintaining the pluripotency and self-renewal of murine ES cells since a decrease in STAT3 activation will result in loss of pluripotency and enhanced cell differentiation (Raz et al., 1999; Takeda et al., 1997). This finding contradicts the involvement of STAT3 as an inducer of differentiation in somatic cell types and provides further evidence that interpretation of STAT3 activation is cell-type specific (Niwa et al., 1998). Several transcription factors, including Oct4, Sox2, Nanog, and SALL4, also play a fundamental role in the self-renewal and pluripotency of mouse ES cells (Chambers and Smith, 2004; Sakaki-Yumoto et al., 2006). Furthermore, a number of these transcription factors are known to interact with STAT3 (Chambers, 2004). A recent study by Torres et al. demonstrated the collaboration between STAT3 and Nanog to promote self-renewal of ES cells (Torres and Watt, 2008).

1.8. Role of STAT3 in oncogenesis

In normal cells, STAT3 activation is a tightly controlled mechanism that allows the cell to respond appropriately to cellular stimulus. In contrast, aberrant activation of STAT3 has been increasingly associated with malignant cell growth. Yu et al. provided the first evidence of STAT3 playing a critical role in cancer by demonstrating the constitutive activation of STAT3 in cells transformed by oncoprotein Src (Yu et al., 1995). The finding that ablation of STAT3 signaling prevents the transformation of fibroblasts by Src further confirmed the definitive role of STAT3 in oncogenesis (Bromberg et al., 1998; Turkson et al., 1998). Subsequently, several other tyrosine kinase pathways were reported to activate STAT3 and contribute to oncogenesis (Garcia et al., 1997). Importantly, constitutive activation of STAT3 have also been linked to transformation by oncoproteins, including human T-lymphotropic virus-1 (HTLV-1) (Russell et al., 1995), polyomavirus middle T antigen (Garcia et al., 1997), and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (Weber-Nordt et al., 1996), that can activate JAKs or Src family tyrosine kinases. In contrast, examples of tyrosine kinase signaling pathways that do not play a role in STAT3-dependent cellular transformation, includes v-Ras and v-Raf (Garcia et al., 1997).

Essential evidence for a key role for STAT3 in oncogenesis was first described in multiple myeloma (Catlett-Falcone R, 1999). Since then, aberrant activation of STAT3 have been observed in a wide variety of human cell lines and primary tumors, including leukemias, lymphomas, breast cancer, head and neck cancer, pancreatic cancer, ovarian cancer, and prostate cancer (Table 1.5) (Bowman et al., 2000; Bromberg, 2002; Garcia et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2000). The mechanism of STAT3 activation has

been elucidated in a variety of human cancers. For instance, activation of STAT3 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma was mediated by EGFR and tumor growth factor (TGF)- α and targeting of EGFR and TGF- α decreased STAT3 activity and tumor growth (Grandis et al., 1997; Grandis et al., 1998; Grandis and Tweardy, 1993). In addition, a decrease in SOCS1 activity was responsible for abnormal expression of STAT3 in hepatocellular carcinoma (Lejeune et al., 2002), and the IL-6 signaling pathway is implicated in the constitutive STAT3 activity in some acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cases (Yoshikawa et al., 1999). Although it is highly likely that there are a variety of mechanisms involved in generating constitutively active STAT3, the basis for this activation is still not fully understood.

Bromberg *et al.* provided further evidence for the role of active STAT3 in oncogenesis by using a constitutively active mutant STAT3 molecule (Bromberg et al., 1999). The constitutively active STAT3 molecule, termed STAT3C, was genetically engineered by replacing two amino acids in the SH2 domain for cysteine residues. The cysteine residues are capable of dimerization in the absence of tyrosine phosphorylation, and will migrate to the nucleus, bind to STAT3 promoter regions, and induce gene expression. FLAG, an epitope tag was also appended for ease in following the molecule in cells. FLAG is a hydrophilic purification tag consisting of 8 amino acids that was specifically designed for antibody-mediated identification and purification of recombinant proteins (Einhauer and Jungbauer, 2001). Notably, the introduction of STAT3C into fibroblast sufficiently transformed the cells, as demonstrated by the formation of tumors in immunodeficient mice. Furthermore, STAT3C was capable of activating a number of known STAT3 target genes (Bromberg et al., 1999).

Tumor type	Activated STAT		
Breast cancer			
Tumors	STAT1, STAT3		
Cell lines	STAT3		
Multiple myeloma			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT1, STAT3		
Head and neck cancer			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT1, STAT3		
Leukemias (Tumors and cell lines)			
Acute lymphocytic leukemia	STAT1, STAT5		
Acute myelogenous leukemia	STAT1, STAT3, STAT5		
Chronic myelogenous leukemia	STAT5		
Large granular lymphocyte leukemias	STAT3		
Chronic lymphocytic leukemia	STAT1, STAT3		
Lymphomas (Tumors and cell lines)			
Anaplastic large cell lymphoma	STAT3, STAT5		
EBV-related Burkitt's lymphoma	STAT3		
Cutaneous T cell lymphoma	STAT3		
Prostate			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT3		
Renal cell carcinoma			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT3		
Pancreatic adenocarcinoma			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT3		
Ovarian carcinoma			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT3		
Melanoma			
Tumors and cell lines	STAT3		

 Table 1.5. STAT activation in human tumors and cell lines (Adapted from Garcia and Jove, Hodge *et al.*)

1.9. Target genes regulated by STAT3

Aberrant activation of STAT3 may contribute to oncogenesis by activating a variety of key gene products that are compulsatory for initiation and maintenance of malignant transformation (Bowman et al., 2000). Previous studies to identify specific STAT3 target genes revealed that STAT3 regulates expression of genes that are involved in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, angiogenesis, cell invasion, metastasis, and immune function (Table 1.6) (Dauer et al., 2005; Galkin et al., 2007).

STAT3 regulates the expression of genes involved in cell cycle progression, including cyclin D1 and c-Myc (Kiuchi et al., 1999; Leslie et al., 2006; Sinibaldi et al., 2000). Cyclin D1 can control cell progression from G1 to S phase in STAT3C expressing cell by interacting with cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK)-4 and CDK6 (Bromberg et al., 1999). In addition, STAT3 can transcriptionally regulate cyclin D1 by binding to the *cyclin D1* promoter region (Leslie et al., 2006). Furthermore, STAT3-mediated expression of cyclin D1 is required for anchorage-independent growth where STAT3C expression increased anchorage-independent growth in cyclin D1 wild type, but not in cyclin D1 -/- cells (Leslie et al., 2006). Interestingly, expression of cyclin D1 is a result of v-Src induced STAT3 activation in NIH3T3 fibroblast cells (Sinibaldi et al., 2000). STAT3 have also been reported to regulate c-Myc, a proto-oncogene found to be overexpressed in a number of human malignancies (Dang et al., 1999). c-Myc is a transcription factor that plays a critical role in regulating cell proliferation and cell survival (Bowman et al., 2000). Elevated mRNA levels of c-Myc have been reported in fibroblast cells stably expressing STAT3C (Bromberg et al., 1999) and c-Myc expression is induced in

response to STAT3 signaling in v-Src transformed NIH3T3 fibroblasts (Bowman et al., 2001). Furthermore, STAT3 binds to a consensus sequence on the *c-Myc* promoter to drive transcriptional activation of c-Myc in response to IL-6 with ablation of the STAT3binding site on the *c-Myc* promoter being sufficient in abolishing IL-6-induced transcription of c-Myc (Kiuchi et al., 1999). Interestingly, c-Myc is a negative regulator of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} transcription and is stimulated by Src to bind to the $p21^{WAF1/CIP1}$ promoter and prevent its activation. p21^{WAF1/CIP1} is a CDK2 inhibitor that contains three STAT binding sites on its promoter region, two for STAT1 and one for STAT3 (Chin et al., 1996). In addition, p21^{WAF1/CIP1} can interact with STAT3 at the *c-Myc* promoter to inhibit c-Myc expression (Vigneron et al., 2005).

STAT3 is also implicated as a critical regulator of apoptosis and a number of antiapoptotic genes in the B-cell lymphoma-2 (Bcl-2) family, including Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and myeloid cell leukemia-1 (Mcl-1) are responsive to STAT3 (Bromberg et al., 1999; Catlett-Falcone R, 1999). For instance, Bcl-xL expression is directly controlled by STAT3 signaling in a human myeloma cell line and blocking of STAT3 activity suppressed Bcl-xL expression and subjected the cells to Fas-mediated apoptosis (Catlett-Falcone R, 1999). Similarly, shutdown of STAT3 activity can efficiently decrease BclxL expression and increase tumor cell apoptosis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Furthermore, a recent study demonstrated that NF-κB and STAT3 are coactivators that can modulate the expression of Bcl-xL as well as pro-apoptotic protein Bax. Inhibition of NF-κB and STAT3, alongside re-expression of tumor suppressor p53, was sufficient in decreasing Bcl-xL and increasing Bax expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (Lee et al., 2008). Mcl-1, another anti-apoptotic protein, is also regulated by STAT3 signaling in such cancer cells as leukemic large granular lymphocytes and shutdown of STAT3 activity resulted in decreased Mcl-1 expression and restored sensitivity of the cells to Fas (Epling-Burnette et al., 2001). Consistent with these findings, STAT3 have been shown to directly bind to consensus binding sequence on the *Mcl-1* promoter and disruption of the STAT3-binding sites decreased *Mcl-1* promoter activity (Isomoto et al., 2005).

STAT3 have also been linked with target genes that are involved in angiogenesis, cell invasion, and immune function (Table 1.6). Angiogenesis is a complex, multistage process that involves endothelial cell proliferation, degradation of basement membrane and extracellular matrix, endothelial cell migration, and formation of tubular structure (Folkman, 2003). STAT3 plays a role in modulating angiogenesis through the regulation of a number of angiogenic factors, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Niu et al., 2002). STAT3 can also regulate VEGF expression indirectly by inducing the expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), both of which are key regulators of VEGF (Xie et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2005). Although STAT3 has been shown to regulate the genes involved in promoting cell invasion, including matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-2, MMP-1, MMP-9 (Dechow et al., 2004; Itoh et al., 2006; Xie et al., 2004), and inhibitors of cell invasion, such as tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-1 (Bugno et al., 1995), the exact role for STAT3 in modulating invasion is incompletely understood and will be assessed further in chapter 2. Finally, STAT3 have also been reported to play a pivotal role in regulating tumor

immunity. STAT3 activation in tumor cells inhibits expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, such as IFN- β and TNF- α (Huang, 2007). Moreover, STAT3 appears to play a role in tumor evasion where blockade of STAT3 in the immune cells of tumor-bearing hosts resulted in an increase in anti-tumor immune response, including dendritic cells, T-cells and natural killer cells (Kortylewski et al., 2005). Although it is clear that STAT3 regulates multiple genes that could contribute to oncogenesis, it is highly likely that there are other unknown STAT3 target genes that may also contribute to oncogenesis. Therefore, the work in this thesis further investigated novel stimulators of the STAT3 signaling pathway in oncogenesis.

Gene function	Target gene
Proliferation and survival	cyclin D1
	Myc
	p21
	Bcl-xl
	Mcl-1
	Survivin
	p53
Angiogenesis/cell invasion	VEGF
	HGF
	HIF-1
	MMP-2
	MMP-1
	MMP-9
	TIMP1
Immunosuppression	TGF
	INF
	IL-10
	IL-6
	IL-12
	TNF

 Table 1.6. STAT3-regulated target genes (Adapted from Yu et al.)

1.10. STAT3 activation in human cancer

Aberrant STAT3 activation has been implicated in a variety of human tumors, including blood malignancies and solid tumors (Bowman et al., 2000; Bromberg, 2002; Garcia et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2000). The scope of the work for this thesis was performed using two different human cancer models, both of which are known to have high STAT3 activation (Watson and Miller, 1995; Zamo et al., 2002).

1.10.1. Breast cancer

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among Canadian women today despite advances in diagnosis, prevention and treatment (Garcia et al., 1997). Recent studies have reported the constitutive activation of STAT3 in breast cancer cell lines and approximately 50% of primary breast tumors, but not in benign tumors (Diaz et al., 2006; Dolled-Filhart et al., 2003; Gritsko et al., 2006; Leslie et al., 2006; Turkson J, 2000; Vultur A, 2004). Activation of STAT3 leads to transcriptional induction of target genes that evoke a number of cellular functions such as cell proliferation, transformation, and migration (Silver et al., 2004; Wei et al., 2003). This may be implicated in the pathogenesis of breast cancer. For example, EGF promotes the growth of breast cancer cells and the activation of STAT3 in breast cancer cell lines (Berclaz G, 2001), and EGFR and Src activity correlates with STAT3 in breast cancer cells. STAT3-dependent overexpression of Bcl-2 protein also contributes to chemotherapy resistance in breast cancer cell lines (Real et al., 2002). Mutations of the breast cancer susceptibility gene 1 (BRCA1), directly activates STAT3, resulting in an increased cellular proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis (Gao et al., 2001). Mucin 1 (MUC1), a transmembrane molecule

that play a role in cell adhesion, is associated with metastatic potential and invasion of breast cancer cells and is shown to carry the STAT3 responsive element in the gene promoter and can be up-regulated *in vitro* (Gaemers et al., 2001). Moreover, STAT3 modulates survivin, a known effector of cell survival and angiogenesis (Leslie et al., 2006). In contrast, dominant-negative inhibition of STAT3 has been sufficient in blocking proliferation and survival of breast cancer cells *in vitro* (Burke et al., 2001; Garcia et al., 2001; Li and Shaw, 2002). Although constitutive STAT3 activation in breast cancer have been extensively studied, the exact biological role and effect of STAT3 is incompletely understood.

1.10.2. Anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive Anaplastic large cell lymphoma

ALK⁺ALCL is defined as a subtype of T/null-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma characterized by the consistent expression of CD30. ALCL comprises 2 to 8% of non-Hodgkin lymphomas in adults and 10 to 15% in children, making it one of the most common forms of pediatric cancer (Amin and Lai, 2007). Doxorubicin-containing combination chemotherapy induces complete remission in up to 95% of patients with relapse occurring in greater than 40% of cases, making ALK⁺ALCL clinically aggressive (Amin and Lai, 2007). The aberrant expression of ALK in approximately 80% of ALK⁺ALCL tumors is a result of the reciprocal chromosomal translocation, t(2;5)(p23;q35), which leads to the fusion of the nucleophosmin (*NPM*) gene at 5q35 with the Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (*ALK*) gene at 2p23 (Morris et al., 1994; Shiota et al., 1994a). ALK is a transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase belonging to the insulin receptor superfamily and its expression in humans are normally limited to rare cells of neural origin (Fujimoto et al., 1996). In contrast, NPM is ubiquitously expressed and function as a shuttling protein between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Amin and Lai, 2007). The fusion protein, nucleophosmin-anaplastic lymphoma kinase (NPM-ALK) has been shown to be oncogenic, and it directly contributes to the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL through exerting its constitutively active tyrosine kinase embedded in the ALK portion of the fusion protein (Slupianek et al., 2001). While NPM-ALK has been shown to activate multiple signaling pathways (Slupianek et al., 2001), there are accumulating evidence supporting the concept that NPM-ALK mediates its oncogenic effects via STAT3 activation (Chiarle et al., 2005; Khoury JD, 2003; Zamo et al., 2002). Aberrant activation of STAT3 is highly consistent in ALK⁺ALCL, and transfection of ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with a STAT3 dominant negative construct resulted in cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Khoury JD, 2003). STAT3 is key mediator in ALK⁺ALCL, making it a perfect study model to further our understanding of STAT3 in cancer.

1.11. Cancer therapeutics for STAT3

For years, the standard treatment of cancer has been intravenous cytotoxic chemotherapy. However, these drugs target cancer cells as well as normal tissues resulting in toxicity (Gerber, 2008). In the past 10 years, identification of key targets in cell signaling has led to a dramatic shift in cancer therapies with the emergence of target-directed therapies (Galkin et al., 2007). For instance, STAT3 integrates signals from a variety of stimuli and pathways and regulates genes that are involved in key cellular processes. Therefore, several possible anti-cancer strategies have been pursued to target the STAT3 signaling
pathway, including receptor antagonists, tyrosine or serine kinase inhibitors, and direct inhibition of STAT3 (Al Zaid Siddiquee and Turkson, 2008).

Inhibition of JAK family kinases using AG490 and prevention of STAT3 binding to EGFR using peptides are examples of therapeutic strategies currently pursued, and have been shown to have growth inhibitory effects on epithelial and hematologic tumors (Buerger et al., 2003; Burke et al., 2001; De Vos et al., 2000). Furthermore, Src family kinase inhibitors have been shown to block STAT3 activation and induce apoptosis in breast cancer cell (Garcia et al., 2001). Therapeutic approaches have also been made to inhibit STAT3 target genes such as cyclin D1 where treatment with proteosome inhibitor bortezomib can inhibit STAT3 expression in cyclin D1 overexpressing breast cancer cells (Asao et al., 2001). Examples of direct inhibitors of STAT3 includes, G-quartet oligonucleotides which have been utilized to form complex tertiary structures and inhibit STAT3 dimerization and cancer cell growth (Jing et al., 2004). In addition, doublestranded and single-stranded oligonucleotides can be used to compete with STAT3 for binding to their cognate DNA sequences (Barton et al., 2004). Small-molecule inhibitors, including JSI-124, WP1066 and STA-21, have also been one of the strategies used to inhibit STAT3 signaling (Huang, 2007). For instance, STA-21 is hypothesized to bind to the SH2 domain of STAT3 to block subsequent dimerization of STAT3 (Bhasin et al., 2008). Overall, targeting STAT3 protein for therapeutic intervention still remains to be fully explored and investigation of novel stimulators and targets of the STAT3 signaling pathway may allow for the development of new therapeutic strategies.

51

1.12. Thesis overview and objectives

Signal transduction, defined as cellular signals that modulate cellular behavior or function (Galkin et al., 2007) are being increasingly studied to explore and possibly elucidate the mechanism of carcinogenesis. Since its discovery, an extensive amount of experimental research and clinical observations have confirmed that STAT3 is an oncogene. However, the mechanistic role of STAT3 in tumorigenesis is biological complex, where extensive crosstalk between multiple networks are involved in the oncogenic process. Since STAT3 is a multifaceted regulator of transcription and mediator of oncogenesis, further studies are required to fully understand the biological impact of STAT3 activation in cancer.

The scope of this thesis is to increase our understanding of the role of STAT3 in the pathogenesis of cancer and to demonstrate that STAT3 is biological and clinically significant in the pathophysiology of a variety of human cancer types. The overall objectives of this thesis is to increase our understanding of the effects of STAT3 in cancer by identifying specific targets of STAT3 that may contribute to the pathogenesis of cancer, identifying ESPs and corresponding receptors that may contribute to STAT3 with other oncogenes.

In chapter 2, the link between TIMP1, a protein that is known to regulate cell migration and metastasis, and STAT3 in breast cancer cell lines was investigated and the biological and clinical significance of STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression in breast cancer was assessed. In chapter 3 and 4, two novel upstream stimulators of STAT3 in ALK⁺ALCL was investigated for its contribution to tumorigenicity. In chapter 5, a novel biological relationship between STAT3 and SALL4, a novel transcriptional factor found to be constitutive active in hematological malignancies was identified. In conclusion, using two different human cancer models, I have furthered our understanding of how STAT3 contributes to oncogenesis by identifying novel upstream stimulators and target genes of STAT3. This allowed me to further delineate possible mechanisms involved in STAT3 activation and the effects of STAT3 activation in cancer, providing a framework for novel strategies of targeting STAT3 signaling in cancer.

1.13. Reference

Ahr, B., Denizot, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Brelot, A., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2005). Identification of the cytoplasmic domains of CXCR4 involved in Jak2 and STAT3 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem *280*, 6692-6700.

Akaishi, H., Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., Shineha, R., Satomi, S., Takeda, J., and Akira, S. (1998). Defective IL-2-mediated IL-2 receptor alpha chain expression in Stat3-deficient T lymphocytes. Int Immunol *10*, 1747-1751.

Alexander, W. S., Starr, R., Fenner, J. E., Scott, C. L., Handman, E., Sprigg, N. S., Corbin, J. E., Cornish, A. L., Darwiche, R., Owczarek, C. M., *et al.* (1999). SOCS1 is a critical inhibitor of interferon gamma signaling and prevents the potentially fatal neonatal actions of this cytokine. Cell *98*, 597-608.

Alli, E., Bash-Babula, J., Yang, J. M., and Hait, W. N. (2002). Effect of stathmin on the sensitivity to antimicrotubule drugs in human breast cancer. Cancer Res *62*, 6864-6869.

Al Zaid Siddiquee, K., and Turkson, J. (2008). STAT3 as a target for inducing apoptosis in solid and hematological tumors. Cell Res *18*, 254-267.

Amin, H. M., and Lai, R. (2007). Pathobiology of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood.

Amin, H. M., Medeiros, L. J., Ma, Y., Feretzaki, M., Das, P., Leventaki, V., Rassidakis, G. Z., O'Connor, S. L., McDonnell, T. J., and Lai, R. (2003). Inhibition of JAK3 induces apoptosis and decreases anaplastic lymphoma kinase activity in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene *22*, 5399-5407.

Aoki, N., and Matsuda, T. (2000). A cytosolic protein-tyrosine phosphatase PTP1B specifically dephosphorylates and deactivates prolactin-activated STAT5a and STAT5b. J Biol Chem *275*, 39718-39726.

Argetsinger, L. S., Campbell, G. S., Yang, X., Witthuhn, B. A., Silvennoinen, O., Ihle, J. N., and Carter-Su, C. (1993). Identification of JAK2 as a growth hormone receptor-associated tyrosine kinase. Cell *74*, 237-244.

Barton, B. E., Murphy, T. F., Shu, P., Huang, H. F., Meyenhofer, M., and Barton, A. (2004). Novel single-stranded oligonucleotides that inhibit signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 induce apoptosis in vitro and in vivo in prostate cancer cell lines. Mol Cancer Ther *3*, 1183-1191.

Becker, S., Groner, B., and Muller, C. W. (1998). Three-dimensional structure of the Stat3beta homodimer bound to DNA. Nature *394*, 145-151.

Berclaz G, A. H., Rohrbach V, Siragusa A, Dreher E, Smith PD (2001). EGFR dependent expression of STAT3 (but not STAT1) in breast cancer. International Journal of Oncology 19, 1155-1160.

Berishaj, M., Gao, S. P., Ahmed, S., Leslie, K., Al-Ahmadie, H., Gerald, W. L., Bornmann, W., and Bromberg, J. F. (2007). Stat3 is tyrosine-phosphorylated through the interleukin-6/glycoprotein 130/Janus kinase pathway in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res *9*, R32.

Bhasin, D., Cisek, K., Pandharkar, T., Regan, N., Li, C., Pandit, B., Lin, J., and Li, P. K. (2008). Design, synthesis, and studies of small molecule STAT3 inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18, 391-395.

Bhattacharya, S., and Schindler, C. (2003). Regulation of Stat3 nuclear export. J Clin Invest 111, 553-559.

Boccaccio C, A. M., Tamagnone L, Bardelli A, Michieli P, Battistini C, Comoglio PM (1998). Induction of epithelial tubules by growth factor HGF depends on the STAT pathway. Nature 391, 285-288.

Bowen, M. A., Patel, D. D., Li, X., Modrell, B., Malacko, A. R., Wang, W. C., Marquardt, H., Neubauer, M., Pesando, J. M., Francke, U., and et al. (1995). Cloning, mapping, and characterization of activated leukocyte-cell adhesion molecule (ALCAM), a CD6 ligand. J Exp Med *181*, 2213-2220.

Bowman, T., Broome, M. A., Sinibaldi, D., Wharton, W., Pledger, W. J., Sedivy, J. M., Irby, R., Yeatman, T., Courtneidge, S. A., and Jove, R. (2001). Stat3-mediated Myc expression is required for Src transformation and PDGF-induced mitogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 7319-7324.

Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., and Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. Oncogene 19, 2474-2488.

Brierley, M. M., and Fish, E. N. (2005). Stats: multifaceted regulators of transcription. J Interferon Cytokine Res 25, 733-744.

Bromberg, J. (2002). Stat proteins and oncogenesis. J Clin Invest 109, 1139-1142.

Bromberg J, and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (2000). The role of STATs in transcriptional control and their impact on cellular function. Oncogene 19, 2468-2473.

Bromberg, J. F., Horvath, C. M., Besser, D., Lathem, W. W., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1998). Stat3 activation is required for cellular transformation by v-src. Mol Cell Biol 18, 2553-2558.

Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell *98*, 295-303.

Buerger, C., Nagel-Wolfrum, K., Kunz, C., Wittig, I., Butz, K., Hoppe-Seyler, F., and Groner, B. (2003). Sequence-specific peptide aptamers, interacting with the intracellular domain of the epidermal growth factor receptor, interfere with Stat3 activation and inhibit the growth of tumor cells. J Biol Chem 278, 37610-37621.

Bugno, M., Graeve, L., Gatsios, P., Koj, A., Heinrich, P. C., Travis, J., and Kordula, T. (1995). Identification of the interleukin-6/oncostatin M response element in the rat tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 5041-5047.

Burke, W. M., Jin, X., Lin, H. J., Huang, M., Liu, R., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2001). Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 suppresses growth of human ovarian and breast cancer cells. Oncogene *20*, 7925-7934.

Caldenhoven, E., van Dijk, T. B., Solari, R., Armstrong, J., Raaijmakers, J. A., Lammers, J. W., Koenderman, L., and de Groot, R. P. (1996). STAT3beta, a splice variant of transcription factor STAT3, is a dominant negative regulator of transcription. J Biol Chem 271, 13221-13227.

Calo, V., Migliavacca, M., Bazan, V., Macaluso, M., Buscemi, M., Gebbia, N., and Russo, A. (2003). STAT proteins: from normal control of cellular events to tumorigenesis. J Cell Physiol *197*, 157-168.

Catlett-Falcone R, L. T., Oshiro MM, Turkson J, Levitzki A, Savino R, Ciliberto G, Moscinski L, Fernandez-Luna JL, Nunez G, Dalton WS, Jove R (1999). Constitutive Activation of Stat3 Signaling Confers Resistance to Apoptosis in Human U266 Myeloma Cells. Immunity *10*, 105-115.

Chambers, I. (2004). The molecular basis of pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. Cloning Stem Cells *6*, 386-391.

Chambers, I., and Smith, A. (2004). Self-renewal of teratocarcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Oncogene 23, 7150-7160.

Chapman, R. S., Lourenco, P. C., Tonner, E., Flint, D. J., Selbert, S., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Clarke, A. R., and Watson, C. J. (1999). Suppression of epithelial apoptosis and delayed mammary gland involution in mice with a conditional knockout of Stat3. Genes Dev 13, 2604-2616.

Chen, W., Daines, M. O., and Hershey, G. K. (2004). Methylation of STAT6 modulates STAT6 phosphorylation, nuclear translocation, and DNA-binding activity. J Immunol *172*, 6744-6750.

Chen, X., Vinkemeier, U., Zhao, Y., Jeruzalmi, D., Darnell, J. E., Jr., and Kuriyan, J. (1998). Crystal structure of a tyrosine phosphorylated STAT-1 dimer bound to DNA. Cell *93*, 827-839.

Chiarle, R., Simmons, W. J., Cai, H., Dhall, G., Zamo, A., Raz, R., Karras, J. G., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2005). Stat3 is required for ALK-mediated lymphomagenesis and provides a possible therapeutic target. Nat Med *11*, 623-629.

Chin, Y. E., Kitagawa, M., Su, W. C., You, Z. H., Iwamoto, Y., and Fu, X. Y. (1996). Cell growth arrest and induction of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 WAF1/CIP1 mediated by STAT1. Science *272*, 719-722.

Choi, Y., Johnson, G. A., Burghardt, R. C., Berghman, L. R., Joyce, M. M., Taylor, K. M., Stewart, M. D., Bazer, F. W., and Spencer, T. E. (2001). Interferon regulatory factortwo restricts expression of interferon-stimulated genes to the endometrial stroma and glandular epithelium of the ovine uterus. Biol Reprod *65*, 1038-1049.

Chung, C. D., Liao, J., Liu, B., Rao, X., Jay, P., Berta, P., and Shuai, K. (1997a). Specific inhibition of Stat3 signal transduction by PIAS3. Science 278, 1803-1805.

Chung, J., Uchida, E., Grammer, T. C., and Blenis, J. (1997b). STAT3 serine phosphorylation by ERK-dependent and -independent pathways negatively modulates its tyrosine phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 6508-6516.

Conti, E., Muller, C. W., and Stewart, M. (2006). Karyopherin flexibility in nucleocytoplasmic transport. Curr Opin Struct Biol *16*, 237-244.

Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., Schindler, C., Zhong, Z., Wen, Z., Darnell, J. E., Jr., Mui, A. L., Miyajima, A., Quelle, F. W., Ihle, J. N., and et al. (1995). Distribution of the mammalian Stat gene family in mouse chromosomes. Genomics *29*, 225-228.

Croker, B. A., Krebs, D. L., Zhang, J. G., Wormald, S., Willson, T. A., Stanley, E. G., Robb, L., Greenhalgh, C. J., Forster, I., Clausen, B. E., *et al.* (2003). SOCS3 negatively regulates IL-6 signaling in vivo. Nat Immunol *4*, 540-545.

Dang, C. V., Resar, L. M., Emison, E., Kim, S., Li, Q., Prescott, J. E., Wonsey, D., and Zeller, K. (1999). Function of the c-Myc oncogenic transcription factor. Exp Cell Res 253, 63-77.

Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1997). Stats and Gene Regulation. Science 277, 1630-1635.

Darnell, J. E., Jr., Kerr, I. M., and Stark, G. R. (1994). Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. Science 264, 1415-1421.

Dauer, D. J., Ferraro, B., Song, L., Yu, B., Mora, L., Buettner, R., Enkemann, S., Jove, R., and Haura, E. B. (2005). Stat3 regulates genes common to both wound healing and cancer. Oncogene 24, 3397-3408.

David, M., Chen, H. E., Goelz, S., Larner, A. C., and Neel, B. G. (1995a). Differential regulation of the alpha/beta interferon-stimulated Jak/Stat pathway by the SH2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase SHPTP1. Mol Cell Biol *15*, 7050-7058.

David, M., Petricoin, E., 3rd, Benjamin, C., Pine, R., Weber, M. J., and Larner, A. C. (1995b). Requirement for MAP kinase (ERK2) activity in interferon alpha- and interferon beta-stimulated gene expression through STAT proteins. Science *269*, 1721-1723.

David, M., Wong, L., Flavell, R., Thompson, S. A., Wells, A., Larner, A. C., and Johnson, G. R. (1996). STAT activation by epidermal growth factor (EGF) and amphiregulin. Requirement for the EGF receptor kinase but not for tyrosine phosphorylation sites or JAK1. J Biol Chem 271, 9185-9188.

DeChiara, T. M., Vejsada, R., Poueymirou, W. T., Acheson, A., Suri, C., Conover, J. C., Friedman, B., McClain, J., Pan, L., Stahl, N., *et al.* (1995). Mice lacking the CNTF receptor, unlike mice lacking CNTF, exhibit profound motor neuron deficits at birth. Cell *83*, 313-322.

Dechow, T. N., Pedranzini, L., Leitch, A., Leslie, K., Gerald, W. L., Linkov, I., and Bromberg, J. F. (2004). Requirement of matrix metalloproteinase-9 for the transformation of human mammary epithelial cells by Stat3-C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 10602-10607.

Decker, T., and Kovarik, P. (2000). Serine phosphorylation of STATs. Oncogene 19, 2628-2637.

Decker, T., Lew, D. J., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1991). Two distinct alpha-interferondependent signal transduction pathways may contribute to activation of transcription of the guanylate-binding protein gene. Mol Cell Biol *11*, 5147-5153.

De Vos, J., Jourdan, M., Tarte, K., Jasmin, C., and Klein, B. (2000). JAK2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor tyrphostin AG490 downregulates the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) pathways and induces apoptosis in myeloma cells. Br J Haematol *109*, 823-828.

Diaz, N., Minton, S., Cox, C., Bowman, T., Gritsko, T., Garcia, R., Eweis, I., Wloch, M., Livingston, S., Seijo, E., *et al.* (2006). Activation of stat3 in primary tumors from high-risk breast cancer patients is associated with elevated levels of activated SRC and survivin expression. Clin Cancer Res *12*, 20-28.

Ding, J., Feng, Y., and Wang, H. Y. (2007). From cell signaling to cancer therapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin 28, 1494-1498.

Dolled-Filhart, M., RL, C., DP, K., BL, S., and DL, R. (2003). Tissue microarray analysis of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) and phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) in node-negative breast cancer shows nuclear localization is associated with a better prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research *9*, 594-600.

Duval, D., Duval, G., Kedinger, C., Poch, O., and Boeuf, H. (2003). The 'PINIT' motif, of a newly identified conserved domain of the PIAS protein family, is essential for nuclear retention of PIAS3L. FEBS Lett *554*, 111-118.

Ehret, G. B., Reichenbach, P., Schindler, U., Horvath, C. M., Fritz, S., Nabholz, M., and Bucher, P. (2001). DNA binding specificity of different STAT proteins. Comparison of in vitro specificity with natural target sites. J Biol Chem 276, 6675-6688.

Einhauer, A., and Jungbauer, A. (2001). The FLAG peptide, a versatile fusion tag for the purification of recombinant proteins. J Biochem Biophys Methods *49*, 455-465.

Epling-Burnette, P. K., Liu, J. H., Catlett-Falcone, R., Turkson, J., Oshiro, M., Kothapalli, R., Li, Y., Wang, J. M., Yang-Yen, H. F., Karras, J., *et al.* (2001). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling leads to apoptosis of leukemic large granular lymphocytes and decreased Mcl-1 expression. J Clin Invest *107*, 351-362.

Evans, M. J., and Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292, 154-156.

Fiucci, G., Ravid, D., Reich, R., and Liscovitch, M. (2002). Caveolin-1 inhibits anchorage-independent growth, anoikis and invasiveness in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Oncogene *21*, 2365-2375.

Flowers, L. O., Subramaniam, P. S., and Johnson, H. M. (2005). A SOCS-1 peptide mimetic inhibits both constitutive and IL-6 induced activation of STAT3 in prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 24, 2114-2120.

Folkman, J. (2003). Fundamental concepts of the angiogenic process. Curr Mol Med 3, 643-651.

Gaemers, I. C., Vos, H. L., Volders, H. H., van der Valk, S. W., and Hilkens, J. (2001). A stat-responsive element in the promoter of the episialin/MUC1 gene is involved in its overexpression in carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 276, 6191-6199.

Galkin, A. V., Melnick, J. S., Kim, S., Hood, T. L., Li, N., Li, L., Xia, G., Steensma, R., Chopiuk, G., Jiang, J., *et al.* (2007). Identification of NVP-TAE684, a potent, selective, and efficacious inhibitor of NPM-ALK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 270-275.

Gao, B., Shen, X., Kunos, G., Meng, Q., Goldberg, I. D., Rosen, E. M., and Fan, S. (2001). Constitutive activation of JAK-STAT3 signaling by BRCA1 in human prostate cancer cells. FEBS Lett *488*, 179-184.

Gao, Q., Hua, J., Kimura, R., Headd, J. J., Fu, X. Y., and Chin, Y. E. (2004). Identification of the linker-SH2 domain of STAT as the origin of the SH2 domain using two-dimensional structural alignment. Mol Cell Proteomics *3*, 704-714.

Garcia, R., Bowman, T. L., Niu, G., Yu, H., Minton, S., Muro-Cacho, C. A., Cox, C. E., Falcone, R., Fairclough, R., Parsons, S., *et al.* (2001). Constitutive activation of Stat3 by the Src and JAK tyrosine kinases participates in growth regulation of human breast carcinoma cells. Oncogene *20*, 2499-2513.

Garcia, R., Yu, C. L., Hudnall, A., Catlett, R., Nelson, K. L., Smithgall, T., Fujita, D. J., Ethier, S. P., and Jove, R. (1997). Constitutive activation of Stat3 in fibroblasts transformed by diverse oncoproteins and in breast carcinoma cells. Cell Growth Differ *8*, 1267-1276.

Gearing, D. P., Thut, C. J., VandeBos, T., Gimpel, S. D., Delaney, P. B., King, J., Price, V., Cosman, D., and Beckmann, M. P. (1991). Leukemia inhibitory factor receptor is structurally related to the IL-6 signal transducer, gp130. Embo J *10*, 2839-2848.

Gerber, D. E. (2008). Targeted therapies: a new generation of cancer treatments. Am Fam Physician 77, 311-319.

Ghosh, P. K., Anderson, J., Cohen, N., Takeshita, K., Atweh, G. F., and Lebowitz, P. (1993). Expression of the leukemia-associated gene, p18, in normal and malignant tissues; inactivation of expression in a patient with cleaved B cell lymphoma/leukemia. Oncogene *8*, 2869-2872.

Grandis, J., Chakraborty, A., Melhem, M. F., Zeng, Q., and Tweardy, D. J. (1997). Inhibition of epidermal growth factor receptor gene expression and function decreases proliferation of head and neck squamous carcinoma but not normal mucosal epithelial cells. Oncogene 15, 409-416.

Grandis, J. R., Chakraborty, A., Zeng, Q., Melhem, M. F., and Tweardy, D. J. (1998). Downmodulation of TGF-alpha protein expression with antisense oligonucleotides inhibits proliferation of head and neck squamous carcinoma but not normal mucosal epithelial cells. J Cell Biochem *69*, 55-62.

Grandis, J. R., and Tweardy, D. J. (1993). Elevated levels of transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor messenger RNA are early markers of carcinogenesis in head and neck cancer. Cancer Res 53, 3579-3584.

Greenhalgh, C. J., and Hilton, D. J. (2001). Negative regulation of cytokine signaling. J Leukoc Biol 70, 348-356.

Gritsko, T., Williams, A., Turkson, J., Kaneko, S., Bowman, T., Huang, M., Nam, S., Eweis, I., Diaz, N., Sullivan, D., *et al.* (2006). Persistent activation of stat3 signaling induces survivin gene expression and confers resistance to apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res *12*, 11-19.

Hahn, W. C., Counter, C. M., Lundberg, A. S., Beijersbergen, R. L., Brooks, M. W., and Weinberg, R. A. (1999). Creation of human tumour cells with defined genetic elements. Nature 400, 464-468.

Han, Y., Amin, H. M., Franko, B., Frantz, C., Shi, X., and Lai, R. (2006). Loss of SHP1 enhances JAK3/STAT3 signaling and decreases proteosome degradation of JAK3 and NPM-ALK in ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood *108*, 2796-2803.

Harpur, A. G., Andres, A. C., Ziemiecki, A., Aston, R. R., and Wilks, A. F. (1992). JAK2, a third member of the JAK family of protein tyrosine kinases. Oncogene 7, 1347-1353.

Heinrich, P. C., Behrmann, I., Muller-Newen, G., Schaper, F., and Graeve, L. (1998). Interleukin-6-type cytokine signalling through the gp130/Jak/STAT pathway. Biochem J 334 (*Pt 2*), 297-314.

Hennighausen, L., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K. U., and Liu, X. (1997). Developing a mammary gland is a stat affair. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2, 365-372.

Horvath, C. M., Stark, G. R., Kerr, I. M., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1996). Interactions between STAT and non-STAT proteins in the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 transcription complex. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 6957-6964.

Huang, M., Page, C., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2000). Constitutive activation of stat 3 oncogene product in human ovarian carcinoma cells. Gynecol Oncol *79*, 67-73.

Huang, S. (2007). Regulation of metastases by signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 signaling pathway: clinical implications. Clin Cancer Res 13, 1362-1366.

Ihle JN (2001). The Stat family in cytokine signaling. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 13, 211-217.

Imada K, L. W. (2000). The Jak-Stat Pathway. Molecular Immunology 37, 1-11.

Ishii, Y., Pirkmaier, A., Alvarez, J. V., Frank, D. A., Keselman, I., Logothetis, D., Mandeli, J., O'Connell, M. J., Waxman, S., and Germain, D. (2006). Cyclin D1 overexpression and response to bortezomib treatment in a breast cancer model. J Natl Cancer Inst *98*, 1238-1247.

Isomoto, H., Kobayashi, S., Werneburg, N. W., Bronk, S. F., Guicciardi, M. E., Frank, D. A., and Gores, G. J. (2005). Interleukin 6 upregulates myeloid cell leukemia-1 expression through a STAT3 pathway in cholangiocarcinoma cells. Hepatology *42*, 1329-1338.

Itoh, M., Murata, T., Suzuki, T., Shindoh, M., Nakajima, K., Imai, K., and Yoshida, K. (2006). Requirement of STAT3 activation for maximal collagenase-1 (MMP-1) induction by epidermal growth factor and malignant characteristics in T24 bladder cancer cells. Oncogene *25*, 1195-1204.

Iwahara, T., Fujimoto, J., Wen, D., Cupples, R., Bucay, N., Arakawa, T., Mori, S., Ratzkin, B., and Yamamoto, T. (1997). Molecular characterization of ALK, a receptor tyrosine kinase expressed specifically in the nervous system. Oncogene *14*, 439-449.

Jin L, F. A., Schnitt SJ, Yao Y, Joseph A, Lamszus K, Park M, Goldberg ID, Rosen EM (1997). Expression of scatter factor and c-met receptor in benign and malignant breast tissue. Cancer 79, 749-760.

Jing, N., Li, Y., Xiong, W., Sha, W., Jing, L., and Tweardy, D. J. (2004). G-quartet oligonucleotides: a new class of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 inhibitors that suppresses growth of prostate and breast tumors through induction of apoptosis. Cancer Res *64*, 6603-6609.

Khoury JD, M. L., Rassidakis GZ, Yared MA, Tsioli P, Leventaki V, Schmitt-Graeff A, Herling M, Amin HM, Lai R. (2003). Differential expression and clinical significance of tyrosine-phosphorylated STAT3 in ALK+ and ALK- anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *9*, 3692-3699.

King, J. A., Ofori-Acquah, S. F., Stevens, T., Al-Mehdi, A. B., Fodstad, O., and Jiang, W. G. (2004). Activated leukocyte cell adhesion molecule in breast cancer: prognostic indicator. Breast Cancer Res *6*, R478-487.

Kiuchi, N., Nakajima, K., Ichiba, M., Fukada, T., Narimatsu, M., Mizuno, K., Hibi, M., and Hirano, T. (1999). STAT3 is required for the gp130-mediated full activation of the c-myc gene. J Exp Med *189*, 63-73.

Kohlhase, J., Schuh, R., Dowe, G., Kuhnlein, R. P., Jackle, H., Schroeder, B., Schulz-Schaeffer, W., Kretzschmar, H. A., Kohler, A., Muller, U., *et al.* (1996). Isolation, characterization, and organ-specific expression of two novel human zinc finger genes related to the Drosophila gene spalt. Genomics *38*, 291-298.

Komyod, W., Bauer, U. M., Heinrich, P. C., Haan, S., and Behrmann, I. (2005). Are STATS arginine-methylated? J Biol Chem 280, 21700-21705.

Kortylewski, M., Kujawski, M., Wang, T., Wei, S., Zhang, S., Pilon-Thomas, S., Niu, G., Kay, H., Mule, J., Kerr, W. G., et al. (2005). Inhibiting Stat3 signaling in the

hematopoietic system elicits multicomponent antitumor immunity. Nat Med 11, 1314-1321.

Kramer, O. H., Baus, D., Knauer, S. K., Stein, S., Jager, E., Stauber, R. H., Grez, M., Pfitzner, E., and Heinzel, T. (2006). Acetylation of Stat1 modulates NF-kappaB activity. Genes Dev 20, 473-485.

Krebs, D. L., and Hilton, D. J. (2001). SOCS proteins: negative regulators of cytokine signaling. Stem Cells 19, 378-387.

Krolewski, J. J., Lee, R., Eddy, R., Shows, T. B., and Dalla-Favera, R. (1990). Identification and chromosomal mapping of new human tyrosine kinase genes. Oncogene *5*, 277-282.

Kubo, M., Hanada, T., and Yoshimura, A. (2003). Suppressors of cytokine signaling and immunity. Nat Immunol 4, 1169-1176.

Leaman, D. W., Pisharody, S., Flickinger, T. W., Commane, M. A., Schlessinger, J., Kerr, I. M., Levy, D. E., and Stark, G. R. (1996). Roles of JAKs in activation of STATs and stimulation of c-fos gene expression by epidermal growth factor. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 369-375.

Lee, T. L., Yeh, J., Friedman, J., Yan, B., Yang, X., Yeh, N. T., Van Waes, C., and Chen, Z. (2008). A signal network involving coactivated NF-kappaB and STAT3 and altered p53 modulates BAX/BCL-XL expression and promotes cell survival of head and neck squamous cell carcinomas. Int J Cancer *122*, 1987-1998.

Lejeune, D., Dumoutier, L., Constantinescu, S., Kruijer, W., Schuringa, J. J., and Renauld, J. C. (2002). Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10. J Biol Chem 277, 33676-33682.

Leonard, W. J., and O'Shea, J. J. (1998). Jaks and STATs: biological implications. Annu Rev Immunol *16*, 293-322.

Leslie, K., Lang, C., Devgan, G., Azare, J., Berishaj, M., Gerald, W., Kim, Y. B., Paz, K., Darnell, J. E., Albanese, C., *et al.* (2006). Cyclin D1 is transcriptionally regulated by and required for transformation by activated signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. Cancer Res *66*, 2544-2552.

Levy, D., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1990). Interferon-dependent transcriptional activation: signal transduction without second messenger involvement? New Biol 2, 923-928.

Levy, D. E., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (2002). Stats: transcriptional control and biological impact. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *3*, 651-662.

Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2006). STAT3: a multifaceted oncogene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 10151-10152.

Levy, D. E., and Lee, C. K. (2002). What does Stat3 do? J Clin Invest 109, 1143-1148.

Li, L., and Shaw, P. (2002). Autocrine-mediated Activation of STAT3 Correlates with Cell Proliferation in Breast Carcinoma Lines. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277, 17397-17405.

Liddle, F. J., Alvarez, J. V., Poli, V., and Frank, D. A. (2006). Tyrosine phosphorylation is required for functional activation of disulfide-containing constitutively active STAT mutants. Biochemistry *45*, 5599-5605.

Lim, C. P., and Cao, X. (2006). Structure, function, and regulation of STAT proteins. Mol Biosyst 2, 536-550.

Lin, T. S., Mahajan, S., and Frank, D. A. (2000). STAT signaling in the pathogenesis and treatment of leukemias. Oncogene *19*, 2496-2504.

Liu, B., Gross, M., ten Hoeve, J., and Shuai, K. (2001). A transcriptional corepressor of Stat1 with an essential LXXLL signature motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 3203-3207.

Liu, B., Liao, J., Rao, X., Kushner, S. A., Chung, C. D., Chang, D. D., and Shuai, K. (1998). Inhibition of Stat1-mediated gene activation by PIAS1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 10626-10631.

Liu, H., Peng, H. W., Cheng, Y. S., Yuan, H. S., and Yang-Yen, H. F. (2005a). Stabilization and enhancement of the antiapoptotic activity of mcl-1 by TCTP. Mol Cell Biol *25*, 3117-3126.

Liu, L., McBride, K. M., and Reich, N. C. (2005b). STAT3 nuclear import is independent of tyrosine phosphorylation and mediated by importin-alpha3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *102*, 8150-8155.

Lutticken, C., Wegenka, U. M., Yuan, J., Buschmann, J., Schindler, C., Ziemiecki, A., Harpur, A. G., Wilks, A. F., Yasukawa, K., Taga, T., and et al. (1994). Association of transcription factor APRF and protein kinase Jak1 with the interleukin-6 signal transducer gp130. Science *263*, 89-92.

Ma, J., and Cao, X. (2006). Regulation of Stat3 nuclear import by importin alpha5 and importin alpha7 via two different functional sequence elements. Cell Signal *18*, 1117-1126.

Ma J, Z. T., Novotny-Diermayr V, Tan ALC, Cao X (2003). A Novel Sequence in the Coiled-coil Domain of Stat3 Essential for its Nuclear Translocation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *278*, 29252-29260.

Malakhova, O. A., Yan, M., Malakhov, M. P., Yuan, Y., Ritchie, K. J., Kim, K. I., Peterson, L. F., Shuai, K., and Zhang, D. E. (2003). Protein ISGylation modulates the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. Genes Dev *17*, 455-460.

Maritano, D., Sugrue, M. L., Tininini, S., Dewilde, S., Strobl, B., Fu, X., Murray-Tait, V., Chiarle, R., and Poli, V. (2004). The STAT3 isoforms alpha and beta have unique and specific functions. Nat Immunol *5*, 401-409.

Martin, G. R. (1981). Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78, 7634-7638.

Meraz, M. A., White, J. M., Sheehan, K. C., Bach, E. A., Rodig, S. J., Dighe, A. S., Kaplan, D. H., Riley, J. K., Greenlund, A. C., Campbell, D., *et al.* (1996). Targeted disruption of the Stat1 gene in mice reveals unexpected physiologic specificity in the JAK-STAT signaling pathway. Cell *84*, 431-442.

Migone, T. S., Lin, J. X., Cereseto, A., Mulloy, J. C., O'Shea, J. J., Franchini, G., and Leonard, W. J. (1995). Constitutively activated Jak-STAT pathway in T cells transformed with HTLV-I. Science *269*, 79-81.

Mora, L. B., Buettner, R., Seigne, J., Diaz, J., Ahmad, N., Garcia, R., Bowman, T., Falcone, R., Fairclough, R., Cantor, A., *et al.* (2002). Constitutive activation of Stat3 in human prostate tumors and cell lines: direct inhibition of Stat3 signaling induces apoptosis of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res *62*, 6659-6666.

Morris, S. W., Kirstein, M. N., Valentine, M. B., Dittmer, K. G., Shapiro, D. N., Saltman, D. L., and Look, A. T. (1994). Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Science *263*, 1281-1284.

Mowen, K. A., Tang, J., Zhu, W., Schurter, B. T., Shuai, K., Herschman, H. R., and David, M. (2001). Arginine methylation of STAT1 modulates IFNalpha/beta-induced transcription. Cell *104*, 731-741.

Murray, P. J. (2007). The JAK-STAT signaling pathway: input and output integration. J Immunol 178, 2623-2629.

Nadiminty, N., Lou, W., Lee, S. O., Lin, X., Trump, D. L., and Gao, A. C. (2006). Stat3 activation of NF-{kappa}B p100 processing involves CBP/p300-mediated acetylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 7264-7269.

Nicholson, S. E., Willson, T. A., Farley, A., Starr, R., Zhang, J. G., Baca, M., Alexander, W. S., Metcalf, D., Hilton, D. J., and Nicola, N. A. (1999). Mutational analyses of the SOCS proteins suggest a dual domain requirement but distinct mechanisms for inhibition of LIF and IL-6 signal transduction. Embo J 18, 375-385.

Niu, G., Wright, K. L., Huang, M., Song, L., Haura, E., Turkson, J., Zhang, S., Wang, T., Sinibaldi, D., Coppola, D., *et al.* (2002). Constitutive Stat3 activity up-regulates VEGF expression and tumor angiogenesis. Oncogene *21*, 2000-2008.

Niwa, H., Burdon, T., Chambers, I., and Smith, A. (1998). Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes Dev 12, 2048-2060.

Niwa, Y., Kanda, H., Shikauchi, Y., Saiura, A., Matsubara, K., Kitagawa, T., Yamamoto, J., Kubo, T., and Yoshikawa, H. (2005). Methylation silencing of SOCS-3 promotes cell growth and migration by enhancing JAK/STAT and FAK signalings in human hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncogene *24*, 6406-6417.

Novak, U., Harpur, A. G., Paradiso, L., Kanagasundaram, V., Jaworowski, A., Wilks, A. F., and Hamilton, J. A. (1995). Colony-stimulating factor 1-induced STAT1 and STAT3 activation is accompanied by phosphorylation of Tyk2 in macrophages and Tyk2 and JAK1 in fibroblasts. Blood *86*, 2948-2956.

Novick, D., Cohen, B., and Rubinstein, M. (1994). The human interferon alpha/beta receptor: characterization and molecular cloning. Cell 77, 391-400.

Olayioye, M. A., Beuvink, I., Horsch, K., Daly, J. M., and Hynes, N. E. (1999). ErbB receptor-induced activation of stat transcription factors is mediated by Src tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 274, 17209-17218.

Paulson, M., Pisharody, S., Pan, L., Guadagno, S., Mui, A. L., and Levy, D. E. (1999). Stat protein transactivation domains recruit p300/CBP through widely divergent sequences. J Biol Chem 274, 25343-25349.

Pircher, T. J., Petersen, H., Gustafsson, J. A., and Haldosen, L. A. (1999). Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) interacts with signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 5a. Mol Endocrinol 13, 555-565.

Qian, L., Chen, L., Shi, M., Yu, M., Jin, B., Hu, M., Xia, Q., Zhang, X., Shen, B., and Guo, N. (2006). A novel cis-acting element in Her2 promoter regulated by Stat3 in mammary cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *345*, 660-668.

Qiu, L., Lai, R., Lin, Q., Lau, E., Thomazy, D. M., Calame, D., Ford, R. J., Kwak, L. W., Kirken, R. A., and Amin, H. M. (2006). Autocrine release of interleukin-9 promotes Jak3-dependent survival of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma cells. Blood *108*, 2407-2415.

Rane, S. G., and Reddy, E. P. (1994). JAK3: a novel JAK kinase associated with terminal differentiation of hematopoietic cells. Oncogene *9*, 2415-2423.

Raz, R., Durbin, J. E., and Levy, D. E. (1994). Acute phase response factor and additional members of the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 family integrate diverse signals from cytokines, interferons, and growth factors. J Biol Chem *269*, 24391-24395.

Raz, R., Lee, C. K., Cannizzaro, L. A., d'Eustachio, P., and Levy, D. E. (1999). Essential role of STAT3 for embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 2846-2851.

Real, P. J., Sierra, A., De Juan, A., Segovia, J. C., Lopez-Vega, J. M., and Fernandez-Luna, J. L. (2002). Resistance to chemotherapy via Stat3-dependent overexpression of Bcl-2 in metastatic breast cancer cells. Oncogene *21*, 7611-7618.

Ren, Z., and Schaefer, T. S. (2002). ErbB-2 activates Stat3 alpha in a Src- and JAK2dependent manner. J Biol Chem 277, 38486-38493.

Rho, J., Choi, S., Seong, Y. R., Choi, J., and Im, D. S. (2001). The arginine-1493 residue in QRRGRTGR1493G motif IV of the hepatitis C virus NS3 helicase domain is essential for NS3 protein methylation by the protein arginine methyltransferase 1. J Virol 75, 8031-8044.

Rossant, J., and Papaioannou, V. E. (1984). The relationship between embryonic, embryonal carcinoma and embryo-derived stem cells. Cell Differ 15, 155-161.

Rout, M. P., Aitchison, J. D., Suprapto, A., Hjertaas, K., Zhao, Y., and Chait, B. T. (2000). The yeast nuclear pore complex: composition, architecture, and transport mechanism. J Cell Biol *148*, 635-651.

Sakaki-Yumoto, M., Kobayashi, C., Sato, A., Fujimura, S., Matsumoto, Y., Takasato, M., Kodama, T., Aburatani, H., Asashima, M., Yoshida, N., and Nishinakamura, R. (2006). The murine homolog of SALL4, a causative gene in Okihiro syndrome, is essential for embryonic stem cell proliferation, and cooperates with Sall1 in anorectal, heart, brain and kidney development. Development *133*, 3005-3013.

Sato, N., Yamamoto, T., Sekine, Y., Yumioka, T., Junicho, A., Fuse, H., and Matsuda, T. (2003). Involvement of heat-shock protein 90 in the interleukin-6-mediated signaling pathway through STAT3. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *300*, 847-852.

Scholz, A., Heinze, S., Detjen, K. M., Peters, M., Welzel, M., Hauff, P., Schirner, M., Wiedenmann, B., and Rosewicz, S. (2003). Activated signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) supports the malignant phenotype of human pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology *125*, 891-905.

Seidel, H. M., Milocco, L. H., Lamb, P., Darnell, J. E., Jr., Stein, R. B., and Rosen, J. (1995). Spacing of palindromic half sites as a determinant of selective STAT (signal transducers and activators of transcription) DNA binding and transcriptional activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 3041-3045.

Shen, Y., Schlessinger, K., Zhu, X., Meffre, E., Quimby, F., Levy, D. E., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (2004). Essential role of STAT3 in postnatal survival and growth revealed by mice lacking STAT3 serine 727 phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol *24*, 407-419.

Shiota, M., Fujimoto, J., Semba, T., Satoh, H., Yamamoto, T., and Mori, S. (1994). Hyperphosphorylation of a novel 80 kDa protein-tyrosine kinase similar to Ltk in a human Ki-1 lymphoma cell line, AMS3. Oncogene *9*, 1567-1574.

Shultz, L. D., Rajan, T. V., and Greiner, D. L. (1997). Severe defects in immunity and hematopoiesis caused by SHP-1 protein-tyrosine-phosphatase deficiency. Trends Biotechnol 15, 302-307.

Silver, D. L., Naora, H., Liu, J., Cheng, W., and Montell, D. J. (2004). Activated signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3: localization in focal adhesions and function in ovarian cancer cell motility. Cancer Res *64*, 3550-3558.

Simoncic, P. D., Lee-Loy, A., Barber, D. L., Tremblay, M. L., and McGlade, C. J. (2002). The T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase is a negative regulator of janus family kinases 1 and 3. Curr Biol *12*, 446-453.

Sinibaldi, D., Wharton, W., Turkson, J., Bowman, T., Pledger, W. J., and Jove, R. (2000). Induction of p21WAF1/CIP1 and cyclin D1 expression by the Src oncoprotein in mouse fibroblasts: role of activated STAT3 signaling. Oncogene *19*, 5419-5427.

Slupianek, A., Nieborowska-Skorska, M., Hoser, G., Morrione, A., Majewski, M., Xue, L., Morris, S. W., Wasik, M. A., and Skorski, T. (2001). Role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway in nucleophosmin/anaplastic lymphoma kinase-mediated lymphomagenesis. Cancer Res *61*, 2194-2199.

Smith, A. G., Heath, J. K., Donaldson, D. D., Wong, G. G., Moreau, J., Stahl, M., and Rogers, D. (1988). Inhibition of pluripotential embryonic stem cell differentiation by purified polypeptides. Nature *336*, 688-690.

Smith, A. G., and Hooper, M. L. (1987). Buffalo rat liver cells produce a diffusible activity which inhibits the differentiation of murine embryonal carcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Dev Biol *121*, 1-9.

Smith, M. C., Luker, K. E., Garbow, J. R., Prior, J. L., Jackson, E., Piwnica-Worms, D., and Luker, G. D. (2004). CXCR4 regulates growth of both primary and metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res *64*, 8604-8612.

Sun, W., Snyder, M., Levy, D. E., and Zhang, J. J. (2006). Regulation of Stat3 transcriptional activity by the conserved LPMSP motif for OSM and IL-6 signaling. FEBS Lett *580*, 5880-5884.

Suntharalingam, M., and Wente, S. R. (2003). Peering through the pore: nuclear pore complex structure, assembly, and function. Dev Cell 4, 775-789.

Takeda K, A. S. (2000). STAT family of transcription factors in cytokine-mediated biological responses. Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews 11, 199-207.

Takeda, K., Kaisho, T., Yoshida, N., Takeda, J., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1998). Stat3 activation is responsible for IL-6-dependent T cell proliferation through preventing apoptosis: generation and characterization of T cell-specific Stat3-deficient mice. J Immunol *161*, 4652-4660.

Takeda, K., Noguchi, K., Shi, W., Tanaka, T., Matsumoto, M., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1997). Targeted disruption of the mouse Stat3 gene leads to early embryonic lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 3801-3804.

ten Hoeve, J., de Jesus Ibarra-Sanchez, M., Fu, Y., Zhu, W., Tremblay, M., David, M., and Shuai, K. (2002). Identification of a nuclear Stat1 protein tyrosine phosphatase. Mol Cell Biol *22*, 5662-5668.

Toi M, T. T., Ueno T, Asano M, Funata N, Sekiguchi K, Iwanari H, Tominaga T (1998). Significance of circulating hepatocyte growth factor level as a prognostic indicator in primary breast cancer. Clinical Cancer Research *4*, 659-664.

Torres, J., and Watt, F. M. (2008). Nanog maintains pluripotency of mouse embryonic stem cells by inhibiting NFkappaB and cooperating with Stat3. Nat Cell Biol *10*, 194-201.

Turkson, J., Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Caldenhoven, E., De Groot, R. P., and Jove, R. (1998). Stat3 activation by Src induces specific gene regulation and is required for cell transformation. Mol Cell Biol *18*, 2545-2552.

Turkson J, J. R. (2000). STAT proteins: novel molecular targets for cancer drug discovery. Oncogene 19(56):6613-26, 2000 Dec 27 19, 6613-6626.

Vignais, M. L., Sadowski, H. B., Watling, D., Rogers, N. C., and Gilman, M. (1996). Platelet-derived growth factor induces phosphorylation of multiple JAK family kinases and STAT proteins. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 1759-1769.

Vigneron, A., Roninson, I. B., Gamelin, E., and Coqueret, O. (2005). Src inhibits adriamycin-induced senescence and G2 checkpoint arrest by blocking the induction of p21waf1. Cancer Res 65, 8927-8935.

Vinkemeier, U., Moarefi, I., Darnell, J. E., Jr., and Kuriyan, J. (1998). Structure of the amino-terminal protein interaction domain of STAT-4. Science 279, 1048-1052.

Visconti, R., Gadina, M., Chiariello, M., Chen, E. H., Stancato, L. F., Gutkind, J. S., and O'Shea, J. J. (2000). Importance of the MKK6/p38 pathway for interleukin-12-induced STAT4 serine phosphorylation and transcriptional activity. Blood *96*, 1844-1852.

Vultur A, C. J., Arulanandam R, Turkson J, Jove R, Greer P, Craig A, Elliott B, Raptis L (2004). Cell-to-cell adhesion modulates Stat3 activity (in normal and breast carcinoma cells). Oncogene *23*, 2600-2616.

Waksman, G., Kominos, D., Robertson, S. C., Pant, N., Baltimore, D., Birge, R. B., Cowburn, D., Hanafusa, H., Mayer, B. J., Overduin, M., and et al. (1992). Crystal structure of the phosphotyrosine recognition domain SH2 of v-src complexed with tyrosine-phosphorylated peptides. Nature 358, 646-653.

Watson, C. J., and Miller, W. R. (1995). Elevated levels of members of the STAT family of transcription factors in breast carcinoma nuclear extracts. Br J Cancer 71, 840-844.

Weber, G. F., Gaertner, F. C., Erl, W., Janssen, K. P., Blechert, B., Holzmann, B., Weighardt, H., and Essler, M. (2006). IL-22-mediated tumor growth reduction correlates with inhibition of ERK1/2 and AKT phosphorylation and induction of cell cycle arrest in the G2-M phase. J Immunol *177*, 8266-8272.

Weber-Nordt, R. M., Egen, C., Wehinger, J., Ludwig, W., Gouilleux-Gruart, V., Mertelsmann, R., and Finke, J. (1996). Constitutive activation of STAT proteins in primary lymphoid and myeloid leukemia cells and in Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-related lymphoma cell lines. Blood *88*, 809-816.

Wei, D., Le, X., Zheng, L., Wang, L., Frey, J. A., Gao, A. C., Peng, Z., Huang, S., Xiong, H. Q., Abbruzzese, J. L., and Xie, K. (2003). Stat3 activation regulates the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and human pancreatic cancer angiogenesis and metastasis. Oncogene *22*, 319-329.

Wen, Z., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1997). Mapping of Stat3 serine phosphorylation to a single residue (727) and evidence that serine phosphorylation has no influence on DNA binding of Stat1 and Stat3. Nucleic Acids Res 25, 2062-2067.

Wen, Z., Zhong, Z., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1995). Maximal activation of transcription by Stat1 and Stat3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation. Cell *82*, 241-250.

Wen Z, Z. Z., Darnell JE Jr (1995). Maximal activation of transcription by Stat1 and Stat3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation. Cell *82*, 241-250.

Wilks, A. F., Harpur, A. G., Kurban, R. R., Ralph, S. J., Zurcher, G., and Ziemiecki, A. (1991). Two novel protein-tyrosine kinases, each with a second phosphotransferase-

related catalytic domain, define a new class of protein kinase. Mol Cell Biol 11, 2057-2065.

Williams, R. L., Hilton, D. J., Pease, S., Willson, T. A., Stewart, C. L., Gearing, D. P., Wagner, E. F., Metcalf, D., Nicola, N. A., and Gough, N. M. (1988). Myeloid leukaemia inhibitory factor maintains the developmental potential of embryonic stem cells. Nature *336*, 684-687.

Xie, T. X., Huang, F. J., Aldape, K. D., Kang, S. H., Liu, M., Gershenwald, J. E., Xie, K., Sawaya, R., and Huang, S. (2006). Activation of stat3 in human melanoma promotes brain metastasis. Cancer Res *66*, 3188-3196.

Xie, T. X., Wei, D., Liu, M., Gao, A. C., Ali-Osman, F., Sawaya, R., and Huang, S. (2004). Stat3 activation regulates the expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and tumor invasion and metastasis. Oncogene *23*, 3550-3560.

Xu, Q., Briggs, J., Park, S., Niu, G., Kortylewski, M., Zhang, S., Gritsko, T., Turkson, J., Kay, H., Semenza, G. L., *et al.* (2005). Targeting Stat3 blocks both HIF-1 and VEGF expression induced by multiple oncogenic growth signaling pathways. Oncogene 24, 5552-5560.

Yamashita, H., Xu, J., Erwin, R. A., Farrar, W. L., Kirken, R. A., and Rui, H. (1998). Differential control of the phosphorylation state of proline-juxtaposed serine residues Ser725 of Stat5a and Ser730 of Stat5b in prolactin-sensitive cells. J Biol Chem 273, 30218-30224.

Yang, E., Wen, Z., Haspel, R. L., Zhang, J. J., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). The linker domain of Stat1 is required for gamma interferon-driven transcription. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 5106-5112.

Yang, J., Chai, L., Liu, F., Fink, L. M., Lin, P., Silberstein, L. E., Amin, H. M., Ward, D. C., and Ma, Y. (2007). Bmi-1 is a target gene for SALL4 in hematopoietic and leukemic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 10494-10499.

Yang, J., Chatterjee-Kishore, M., Staugaitis, S. M., Nguyen, H., Schlessinger, K., Levy, D. E., and Stark, G. R. (2005). Novel roles of unphosphorylated STAT3 in oncogenesis and transcriptional regulation. Cancer Res *65*, 939-947.

Yi, T. L., Cleveland, J. L., and Ihle, J. N. (1992). Protein tyrosine phosphatase containing SH2 domains: characterization, preferential expression in hematopoietic cells, and localization to human chromosome 12p12-p13. Mol Cell Biol *12*, 836-846.

Yoshida, K., Taga, T., Saito, M., Suematsu, S., Kumanogoh, A., Tanaka, T., Fujiwara, H., Hirata, M., Yamagami, T., Nakahata, T., *et al.* (1996). Targeted disruption of gp130, a common signal transducer for the interleukin 6 family of cytokines, leads to myocardial and hematological disorders. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 407-411.

Yoshikawa, T., Saitoh, M., Tsuburaya, A., Kobayashi, O., Sairenji, M., Motohashi, H., Yanoma, S., and Noguchi, Y. (1999). Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in the plasma of patients with gastric carcinoma. A possible marker for serosal invasion and metastasis. Cancer *86*, 1929-1935.

You, M., Yu, D. H., and Feng, G. S. (1999). Shp-2 tyrosine phosphatase functions as a negative regulator of the interferon-stimulated Jak/STAT pathway. Mol Cell Biol 19, 2416-2424.

Yu, C. L., Meyer, D. J., Campbell, G. S., Larner, A. C., Carter-Su, C., Schwartz, J., and Jove, R. (1995). Enhanced DNA-binding activity of a Stat3-related protein in cells transformed by the Src oncoprotein. Science *269*, 81-83.

Zabolotny, J. M., Bence-Hanulec, K. K., Stricker-Krongrad, A., Haj, F., Wang, Y., Minokoshi, Y., Kim, Y. B., Elmquist, J. K., Tartaglia, L. A., Kahn, B. B., and Neel, B. G. (2002). PTP1B regulates leptin signal transduction in vivo. Dev Cell *2*, 489-495.

Zamo, A., Chiarle, R., Piva, R., Howes, J., Fan, Y., Chilosi, M., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2002). Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) activates Stat3 and protects hematopoietic cells from cell death. Oncogene *21*, 1038-1047.

Zauberman, A., Zipori, D., Krupsky, M., and Ben-Levy, R. (1999). Stress activated protein kinase p38 is involved in IL-6 induced transcriptional activation of STAT3. Oncogene *18*, 3886-3893.

Zhang, J. J., Vinkemeier, U., Gu, W., Chakravarti, D., Horvath, C. M., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1996). Two contact regions between Stat1 and CBP/p300 in interferon gamma signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 15092-15096.

Zhang, T., Kee, W. H., Seow, K. T., Fung, W., and Cao, X. (2000). The coiled-coil domain of Stat3 is essential for its SH2 domain-mediated receptor binding and subsequent activation induced by epidermal growth factor and interleukin-6. Mol Cell Biol *20*, 7132-7139.

Zhang, X., Blenis, J., Li, H. C., Schindler, C., and Chen-Kiang, S. (1995). Requirement of serine phosphorylation for formation of STAT-promoter complexes. Science 267, 1990-1994.

Zhang, X., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Horvath, C. M., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Interacting regions in Stat3 and c-Jun that participate in cooperative transcriptional activation. Mol Cell Biol *19*, 7138-7146.

Zhong, Z., Wen, Z., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1994). Stat3 and Stat4: members of the family of signal transducers and activators of transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *91*, 4806-4810.

Chapter 2 ♦

STAT3 Upregulates TIMP1 Expression and Decreases

Invasiveness of Breast Cancer

ł

A version of this chapter has been published as:

Dien J, Amin HM, Chiu Neil, Wong W, Frantz C, Chiu B, Mackey JR, Lai R. STAT3 upregulates TIMP1 expression and decreases invasiveness of breast cancer. *Am J Pathol.* 2006;169:633-642

2.1. Introduction

STATs are a family of latent transcriptional factors that become activated in response to cytokines and growth factors (Burke et al., 2001; Hsiao et al., 2003). Ligand-dependent activation of STATs, which is a transient process lasting for minutes to hours, plays important roles in embryogenesis, cell proliferation and differentiation (Aoki et al., 2003; Bromberg et al., 1999). However, abnormal activation of STAT3 has been shown to contribute to deregulation of cell growth and malignant cellular transformation in many types of human cancers, and there is mounting evidence to support that STAT3 is an oncogene (Bromberg et al., 1999; Burke et al., 2001; Catlett-Falcone R, 1999; Levy and Lee, 2002; Ni et al., 2000). Many STAT3 downstream target genes have been identified in various cell types, including cell cycle facilitators cyclin D1 and c-Myc, as well as anti-apoptotic proteins such as survivin, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1, and Bcl-2 (Bromberg, 2002; Huang et al., 2000). STAT3 has been reported to be aberrantly activated in 30 - 60% of primary breast cancer, as shown by the presence of STAT3 tyrosine phosphorylation and DNA-binding (Clevenger, 2004; Dechow et al., 2004; Watson, 2001). In one study, STAT3 activation was found to be associated with a better clinical outcome (Dolled-Filhart M, 2003). With this background, it is likely that aberrant activation of STAT3 is important in the pathogenesis of breast cancer. Nevertheless, the exact biological role of STAT3 in breast cancer is not fully understood.

TIMPs constitute at least four distinct members, TIMP1, 2, 3, and 4, which have been shown to inhibit tumor invasion and metastasis, by inhibiting MMPs (Fassina et al.,

2000). TIMP1, a 28 kDa sialoglycoprotein (Ritter et al., 1999), is regulated by a number of cytokines and growth factors such as IL-6 (Bugno et al., 1995), TNF- α , and TGF- β (Kossakowska et al., 1999). TIMP1 is a potent inhibitor of MMP-2 and MMP-9, and has been shown to prolong survival in animals xenografted with tumors (Zacchigna et al., 2004). In line with these findings, it has been shown by immunohistochemical analysis that TIMP1 overexpression in breast cancer cells may be an indicator of favorable prognosis in breast cancer patients (Nakopoulou et al., 2003). On the other hand, TIMP1 has been shown to possess anti-apoptotic properties in some cancer cell types, including breast cancer (Catlett-Falcone R, 1999; Liu et al., 2005c; Stetler-Stevenson et al., 1997). A number of previous studies also have shown that high serum levels of TIMP1 are associated with poor prognosis in patients with gastric carcinoma (Yoshikawa et al., 1999) and colorectal carcinoma (Pellegrini et al., 2000). Thus, the biological roles and clinical significance of TIMP1 appear to be cancer cell-type specific.

Recent studies have suggested that STAT3 protein may play a role in regulating TIMP1 expression, as the promoter of the *TIMP1* gene contains STAT3 binding sites (Bugno et al., 1995). Our lab previously showed that inhibition of STAT3 signaling using a dominant negative construct effectively downregulates TIMP1 expression in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, and expression of TIMP1 in this type of lymphoma in fact correlates with the STAT3 activation status (Lai et al., 2004). With this background, I hypothesize that STAT3 activation may modulate tumor invasiveness of breast cancer by regulating TIMP1 expression. In this study, I investigated the link between TIMP1 expression and STAT3 activation in breast cancer cells, and assessed the biological and clinical

significance of STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression in breast cancer. An *in vitro* model was created that involved breast cancer cell lines transfected with STAT3C in which expression can be regulated by the addition of tetracycline (i.e. tet-off system). Using this model, the link between STAT3 activation status and TIMP1 expression was established in breast cancer cells. The effects of STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression assays. To validate these *in vitro* data, STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression in 142 primary breast cancer tissues was examined and correlated with the presence or absence of lymphatic and vascular invasion.

2.2. Materials and Methods

2.2.1. Construction of tet-off STAT3C

STAT3C construct is a generous gift from Dr. Bromberg, and its properties have been well characterized and described (Bromberg et al., 1999). Briefly, the constitutively dimerizable form of STAT3 was created by substituting cysteine residues for specific amino acids within the C-terminal loop of the SH2 domain, allowing for sulfhydryl bonds to form between the STAT3 monomers and rendering the molecule capable of spontaneous dimerization without phosphorylation at Tyr705. Thus, the STAT3C dimer is capable of translocating to the nucleus and driving gene transcription. Due to its ability to transform cells and promote tumor formation, STAT3C has been widely used to alleviate the importance of STAT3 activation in human cancers. To create tet-off STAT3C, we first synthesized Tetracycline response element (TRE)-STAT3C, which was generated by digesting the 2.8 Kb fragment of STAT3C from the STAT3C plasmid

using *Bam*H1. The STAT3C fragment was then ligated with the pTREzhyg vector (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA), which was then transformed into *E.coli* and selected on ampicillin resistant plates. The plasmids were isolated using the mini-prep kit (Qiagen Science, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Orientation and integrity of the generated TRE-STAT3C plasmid was analyzed by DNA sequencing using the 3130XL Genetics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The TRE-STAT3C plasmid was amplified using the Maxiprep kit (Qiagen).

2.2.2. Cell lines and Culture

Human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 (ATCC HTB-22) and MDA-MB-436 (ATCC HTB-130) and grown at 37°C in 5% CO2. MCF-7 was maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) and MDA-MB-436 was maintained in RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich). Both types of culture media were enriched with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) and antibiotics (10,000 units/mL penicillin G, 10,000 µg/mL streptomycin, Gibco). All cell lines were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA). To create permanent cell clones, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-436 were transfected with tetracycline-controlled transactivator (tTA) plasmid (Clontech). Cell clones were selected and maintained by the addition of G418 (800 and 100 µg/mL, respectively) (Gibco) to the culture media. Cell clones permanently transfected with tTA will be subsequently transfected with TRE-STAT3C to create the tet-off STAT3C system.

2.2.3. Transfection

Transient transfection of breast cancer cell lines, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-436, with the various vectors was performed using Lipofectamine Transfection Reagent (Invitrogen Life technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, breast cancer cell lines were grown in 6-well culture plates (Bectin Dickinson Labware, Meylan Cedex, France,) without antibiotics. When cells reached approximately 80% confluency, culture media was replaced with serum-free Opti-MEM I (Gibco), and the cells were transfected with DNA:Lipofectamine complex. To obtain the tTA permanent cell clones, breast cancer cell lines were transfected with 1 µg of plasmid tTA, followed by antibiotic selection. Permanent breast cancer cell clones expressing tTA were also transiently transfected with 1 µg of plasmid TRE-STAT3C. To regulate the expression of STAT3C in these cells, various concentrations of tetracycline (ng/mL) (Invitrogen) were added to the cell culture.

2.2.4. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies

Western blot analysis was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, 24 hours after transfection, cells were harvested by gentle scraping and washed twice in Phosphate-Buffer Saline (PBS) (Sigma). Lysis buffer (20 mM tris-hydrochloride (HCL), pH 7.5, 5.0 mM EDTA, 40.0 μ g/mL leupeptin, 1 μ M pepstatin, 1 mM AEBSF) was added to the cell pellet for 30 minutes on ice followed by centrifugation at 14,000g for 10 minute at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 50-100 μ g of protein was run on SDS-PAGE. Protein quantification was carried out using the Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biorad). After the proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, the

membranes were blocked with 5% milk in Tris-Buffer Saline (TSB) (Sigma) and 0.05% Tween-20 (Calbiochem, Gibbstown, NJ, USA), and then incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C followed by 1 hour incubation with horseradish peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibody (1:10000) (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories Inc., West Grove, PA, USA). The membranes were washed in TBS with 0.05% Tween-20 for minutes between 30 steps. Proteins were detected using the enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit (Amersham Life Sciences, Arlington Heights, IL, USA). The number in parenthesis after each antibody listed indicates the dilution at which it was used. Antibodies used included: mouse monoclonal anti-human FLAG (1:3000, Sigma), rabbit polyclonal anti-human STAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, USA), mouse monoclonal anti-human pSTAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human TIMP1 (1:500, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human cyclin D1 (1:1000, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human Bcl-2 (1:1000, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human Bcl-xL (1:500, Santa Cruz), and mouse monoclonal anti-human β -actin (1:3000, Sigma-Aldrich).

2.2.5. Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy

Immunofluorescence was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, cells grown on coverslip at 80% confluency in a 6-well plate were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS. Cells were rinsed with 1X PBS, permeabilized with PBS-0.5% triton X-100 for 5 minutes, and rinsed twice with 1X PBS. Cells were incubated with 25 μ L of anti-STAT3 antibody for 30 minutes followed by rinsing once with 1X PBS-triton (0.1%) and twice with 1X PBS. After Incubation with 25 μ L of Alexa 488 goat anti-mouse secondary

antibody for 30 minutes and repeated rinsing, mounting media containing DAPI (Sigmaaldrich) was added to the slides. Cells were visualized and imaged with a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope (Oberkochen, Germany). Argon laser with a 488 nm wavelength was used to visualize STAT3 at 40X objective and images were analyzed using the Zeiss LSM 5 image browser.

2.2.6. Matrigel Invasion Assay

Prior to use, matrigel chambers (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA) were kept at room temperature for 1 hour. 500 μ L of PBS was added to the inserts and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ for 2 hours for equilibration. During incubation, MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with various concentrations of tetracvcline was trypsinized and washed three times with sterile PBS. Cells were resuspended to 25,000 cells in 500 µL of DMEM without phenol red since phenol red is known to interfere with the assay. After 2 hours of equilibration, the 500 µL of PBS was aspirated from the inserts and replaced with the 500 μ L cell suspension. 750 μ L of DMEM containing 5% FBS was added to the bottom of the wells to serve as chemo-attractants. The plate was incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Following incubation, the cells on the upper surface of the insert were removed by gentle scraping with sterile cotton swab. Invasive cells that migrated to the lower side of the insert were fixed with methanol and stained with trypan blue solution (Sigma). Five random 40X fields were counted per sample and each sample was performed in triplicates. The matrigel invasion assay was also performed using transfected cells treated with TIMP1 neutralizing antibody (Acris Antibodies, Hiddenhausen, Germany).

2.2.7. ELISA Assay for TIMP1

MCF-7 and MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C were treated with increasing concentrations of tetracycline and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂. At 24, 48 and 72 hours incubation periods, aliquots of medium were extracted, spun at 14,000 rpm, and supernatant was collected and stored at -80°C. 100 μ L of sample and was placed in microtiter wells (Oncogene Research Products, Cambridge, MA, USA), covered and incubated for 30 minutes at 4°C. Each well was washed four times with 1X wash buffer (Oncogene Research Products), and 100 μ L of TIMP1 conjugate was added to each well, followed by incubation for 30 minutes at 4°C. A color reagent was then added to each well and incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 minutes. The color reaction was stopped by 2.5 N Sulfuric Acid (Oncogene Research Products), and a colorimetric plate reader measured each absorbance at 450/595 nm. A standard curve for the assay was generated using the reconstituted standards provided by the kit and absorbances of the test samples were interpreted by reading directly from the standard curve concentrations.

2.2.8. Immunohistochemistry

Immunohistochemical staining was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections of 4 μ M thickness were deparafinized and hydrated. Heat-induced epitope retrieval was performed using Tris buffer (pH 9.9; Dako, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) and a rapid microwave histoprocessor (RHS, Milestone, Bergamo, Italy). After incubation at 100°C for 10 minutes, slides were washed in running tap water for 5 minutes, followed by a wash

with PBS (pH 7.2) for 5 minutes. Tissue sections were then incubated with mouse monoclonal anti-human pSTAT3 antibody (1:60) (Santa Cruz) or mouse monoclonal anti-human TIMP1 antibody (1:200) (Santa Cruz) overnight in a humidified chamber at 4°C. After 3 washes with PBS, tissue sections were incubated with secondary antibody, anti-rabbit IgG and peroxidase (Dako) for 30 minutes at room temperature. The tissue sections were incubated with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine/H₂O₂ (Dako) for color development, using hematoxylin as a counterstain. To optimize the IHC staining, normal breast tissues were used as positive controls and benign tonsils were used as negative controls. Two pathologists, who were blinded to the results of the other markers, examined the immunohistochemical staining. For pSTAT3, the presence of any areas with >10% tumor cells showing definitive nuclear staining were scored Endothelial cells that are often positive for pSTAT3 served as internal positive. positive controls whereas reactive lymphoid cells in benign tonsils served as negative controls. As for TIMP1, the presence of any areas with definitive cytoplasmic staining in >10% tumor cells was considered positive. Reactive germinal centers served as positive controls and the mantle zone B-cells served as negative controls. Discrepancies of the immunostaining results between the two observers were reconciled on a multi-headed microscope.

2.2.9. Patient and Tumor Specimens

Archival, formalin fixed, paraffin-embedded tissues from the 142 cases of primary breast cancer reviewed at the Cross Cancer Institute evaluated between 1996 and 2001 was randomly chosen for this study. This study has been previously reviewed and approved by the institutional ethics committee. The initial diagnoses of all cases were made at the community hospitals, which were subsequently reviewed by a pathologist at the Cross Cancer Institute according to a standardized institutional guideline. The histologic grades of these 142 cases were as follows: grade 1 (20 cases), grade II (42 cases) and grade III (80 cases). The clinical stages of these patients are summarized as follows: stage IIA (75), stage IIB (45), stage IIIA (2), stage IIIB (18), and stage IV (2). The median age of patients was 61 years (range, 35 to 90 years).

2.2.10. Statistical Analysis

Graphpad Instat 3 software was used for statistical analysis of the data. The association between STAT3, TIMP1 and lymphatic/vascular invasion was evaluated by Chi square test. The survival data were analyzed using the Logrank test and Kaplan-Meier survival curves were generated. A P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Each assay was performed at least in triplicate and the illustrative graphs are representative of the mean of the triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of mean (SEM).

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Characterization of MCF-7 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C

We first evaluated the *in vitro* model in which the expression of STAT3C can be regulated by addition of various concentrations of tetracycline to the cell culture. As described in Methods and Materials, MCF-7 cells were initially transfected with tTA. In

the tet-off system, tTA binds to the TRE sequence to activate transcription of specific genes. This transcriptional activation can be controlled by the addition of tetracycline, which will bind tTA and render it incapable of binding to the TRE sequence (Gossen and Bujard, 1992). Once the permanent cell clones expressing tTA were established, the cells were then transfected with TRE-STAT3C and treated with increasing dosages of tetracycline for 24 hours. Expression of the transgene (i.e. STAT3C) was primarily assessed by evaluating the expression of FLAG, the epitope tagged to the STAT3C construct. Western blot analysis revealed a gradual decrease in the expression of FLAG with addition of tetracycline in a dose dependent fashion in MCF-7 cells (Figure 2.1). The FLAG epitope, which is only associated with the exogenous but not the endogenous STAT3, became completely undetectable at 60 ng/mL. At 60 ng/mL of tetracycline, the total STAT3 band was decreased to a level similar to that of MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA alone.

The properties of STAT3C have been extensively characterized and published (Bromberg et al., 1999). To further confirm that STAT3C is biologically active, Western blots were performed to correlate the expression of a known STAT3 downstream target with various expression levels of STAT3C. Treatment of MCF-7 transfected cells with increasing concentrations of tetracycline resulted in a downregulation or shutdown of a number of STAT3 downstream targets (Figure 2.1). Cyclin D1 and Bcl-xL levels were gradually downregulated but expression was still detectable at 60 ng/mL of tetracycline treatment. In contrast, Bcl-2 and Mcl-1 levels were completely undetectable at approximately 20 ng/mL of tetracycline.



Figure 2.1. Characterization of MCF-7 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C. Western blot analysis of STAT3, FLAG, TIMP1, cyclin D1, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, Mcl-1 expression in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with increasing concentration of tetracycline for 24 hours. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. There was a gradual decrease in STAT3 and FLAG with increasing concentrations of tetracycline, with FLAG being completely undetectable at 60 ng/mL. Downregulation of cyclin D1, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and TIMP1 expression was identified in the same experiment. MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA alone served as negative controls. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.

To show that the link between the expression of STAT3C and TIMP1 is not specific to MCF-7, similar experiments were performed using another breast cancer cell lines, MDA-MB436. After selecting a cell clone permanently transfected with tTA, these cells were then transfected with TRE-STAT3C and treated with various dosages of tetracycline. Figure 2.2 illustrates a gradual downregulation of FLAG and TIMP1 that was dependent on the tetracycline level. At 100 ng/mL, FLAG and TIMP1 were completely undetectable. MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with tTA alone was included as a control and revealed no detectable FLAG or TIMP1 expression.

To further support that STAT3C represents a constitutively activated STAT3 species, immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy was employed. In MCF-7 cells permanently transfected with tTA and transiently transfected with TRE-STAT3C (tTA-TRE-STAT3C), STAT3 was localized to the nucleus (Figure 2.3). In contrast, STAT3 was primarily confined to the cytoplasm in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA only.


Figure 2.2. Characterization of MDA-MB-436 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C. Western blot analysis of FLAG and TIMP1 expression in MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with increasing concentration of tetracycline for 24 hours. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. A gradual decrease in FLAG and TIMP1 was observed. MDA-MB-436 cells transfected with tTA alone served as negative controls. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



MCF-7 transfected with tTA only

MCF-7 transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C

Figure 2.3. Nuclear localization of STAT3C. Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy was employed to detect STAT3 nuclear localization. MCF-7 cells transfected with either tTA or tTA-TRE-STAT3C were fixed, permeabilized, and stained with Alexa 488 to detect STAT3 expression. Immunofluorescence staining of slides with antibodies against STAT3 and confocal microscopy demonstrated that STAT3 was localized to the nucleus in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C, as illustrated by the white arrows (right) whereas STAT3 was confined to the cytoplasm in cells transfected with tTA only (left).

2.3.2. STAT3 transgene correlated with TIMP1 expression

To establish the link between TIMP1 expression and STAT3 signaling in MCF-7 cells, STAT3C expression (as indicated by total STAT3 and FLAG expression) and TIMP1 expression was correlated in tTA-TRE-STAT3C transfected MCF-7 cells using Western blots. As shown in Figure 2.1, STAT3 and FLAG downregulation correlated with a substantial decrease in TIMP1 expression as the tetracycline dosage was increased to 20 ng/mL. To further investigate the role of STAT3 activation in TIMP1 up-regulation, a TIMP1 ELISA assay was also performed in MCF-7 to quantify the TIMP1 levels in the cell culture medium. MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with 0 and 60 ng/mL of tetracycline were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 72 hours and supernatant from the cell culture medium were collected daily. Figure 2.4 illustrates that TIMP1 levels in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3 increased in the cell culture over the 3-day period, but the levels for each day were significantly lower in those cells treated with 60 ng/mL of tetracycline. The differences in the TIMP1 levels between the two conditions were not due to a difference in the total cell number in the cell culture, since the cell counts in both conditions were not significantly different from day 1 to day Furthermore, cell cycle analysis using deep red fluorescing anthraquinone Nr.5 3. (DRAQ5) and flow cytometry showed no significant change in the cell cycle status between these two conditions (data not shown). In addition, MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA alone showed a low levels of TIMP1 (15 ng/mL) at Day 1, and the level was comparable to that found in MCF-7 transfected cells after one day treatment with 60 ng/mL of tetracycline. Similar results were found for Day 2 and 3.



Figure 2.4. STAT3C correlated with TIMP1 level. TIMP1 levels were measured using an ELISA assay in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with 0 and 60 ng/mL of tetracycline. Supernatants from the tissue culture were collected on Day 1, 2, and 3. TIMP1 levels were significantly higher in cells treated with 60 ng/mL than cells with no tetracycline in all 3 days. Increasing levels of TIMP1 (ng/mL) was observed with the duration of experiment, but the rate of increment was significant higher in cells without tetracycline. Day 1 supernatant collected from MCF-7 transfected with tTA alone were included as a reference. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of mean.

2.3.3. Modulation of invasiveness by TIMP1 and STAT3

To investigate the biological significance of STAT3 and TIMP1 in breast cancer, I addressed the question of whether different expression levels of STAT3C and TIMP1 expression would have any effect on the invasiveness of breast cancer cells. An in vitro assay for invasiveness using matrigel was performed. As shown in Figure 2.5, invasiveness correlated with the dosages of tetracycline used, and thus, inversely correlated with levels of STAT3C and TIMP1. The assay was also performed on MCF-7 cells prior to transfection with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and an average of 144 cells at 40X were observed, which is similar to the level observed in MCF-7 transfected cells when treated with 60 ng/mL of tetracycline where no FLAG or TIMP1 levels were detected. To determine whether the differences in the cell invasion observed are directly linked to STAT3-regulated TIMP1 expression, a neutralizing anti-TIMP1 antibody was added to MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C but no tetracycline treatment (highest level of STAT3C). Invasiveness was increased with increasing concentrations of the TIMP1 neutralizing antibody (ranged from 0 to 2.0 μ g/mL) (Figure 2.6). The same experiment was repeated using an irrelevant antibody (anti-FLAG) rather than the anti-TIMP1 and no significant changes were detected.



Figure 2.5. STAT3 and TIMP1 levels inversely correlated with invasion. An increase in matrigel invasion was observed in MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C and treated with increasing levels of tetracycline for a total of 48 hours. Cells treated with tetracycline displayed a higher degree of invasion in a dose-dependent fashion. MCF-7 cells transfected with tTA only were used as controls. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of mean.



Figure 2.6. TIMP1 directly modulated cell invasion. MCF-7 cells transfected with 'tetracycline-off' STAT3C were treated with 0, 0.5, 2.0 μ g/mL of neutralizing anti-TIMP1 antibody. Invasiveness of matrigels was increased in cells with higher levels of neutralizing anti-TIMP1. No tetracycline was added to the cell culture. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of mean.

2.3.4. Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression, lymphatic, and vascular invasion in breast cancer primary tumors

To validate the in vitro data, the expression of pSTAT3 and TIMP1 using immunohistochemical analysis was evaluated and compared to lymphatic and vascular invasion. 142 paraffin-embedded, primary breast carcinomas were randomly selected and the clinical characteristics of these 142 cases of breast cancer were summarized in Methods and Materials. Figure 2.7 illustrates the immunohistochemical staining results of breast carcinomas that exhibited positive or negative staining of pSTAT3 and TIMP1. Pictures A and C (left panel) showed a breast cancer case with positive pSTAT3 and TIMP1 staining, whereas pictures C and D (right panel) showed a breast cancer case that was negative for both pSTAT3 and TIMP1. Normal breast sections were generally pSTAT3 negative. The overall results are summarized in Table 2.1. Of the 142 primary breast carcinomas examined, 85 (60%) cases were pSTAT3 positive whereas 112 (79%) were TIMP1 positive. The correlation between pSTAT3 and TIMP1 expression is significant (P 0.0041, Chi square test). A significant correlation between pSTAT3 and lymphatic and vascular invasion was also found in breast cancer (P values 0.0002, 0.015, respectively, Chi square test). TIMP1 expression also showed a trend for a lack of vascular and lymphatic invasion, although the correlation is not statistically significant (P values 0.29, 0.35, respectively, Chi square test).



Figure 2.7. pSTAT3 and TIMP1 expression in primary breast tumors. Immunohistochemical staining of paraffin-embedded tissue sections using pSTAT3 (A and B) and TIMP1 (C and D) applied to breast cancer tissues. Strong nuclear pSTAT3 expression as shown in A correlated with strong cytoplasmic TIMP1 expression as shown in C (arrow). Another case was negative for pSTAT3 and TIMP1 (B and D).

STAT3	STAT3 Activation		
Positive	Negative	P values	
75	37	0.0041	
10	20		
12	26	0.00020	
34	13		
22	29	0.015	
46	23		
	STAT3 <i>A</i> Positive	STAT3 Activation Positive Negative 75 37 10 20 12 26 34 13 22 29 46 23	

Table 2.1.Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression,lymphatic invasion and vascular invasion

2.3.5. Correlation between STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression and other clinical parameters in breast cancer patients

The expression of pSTAT3 and TIMP1, as evaluated by immunohistochemical analysis, were correlated with overall survival of patients at 5 years after the initial diagnosis. Kaplan-Meier survival curves were generated for 55 patients with primary breast cancer stained for pSTAT3 expression and for 68 patients with primary breast cancer stained for TIMP1 expression. Patients with pSTAT3-positive tumors showed a trend for better survival at 5 years (*P* value 0.13, Logrank), although the results are not statistically significant. Similarly, patients with TIMP1-positive tumors also showed a trend for better survival at 5 years (*P* value 0.39, Logrank). Both STAT3 and TIMP1 expression did not significantly correlate with the clinical stage, histologic grade or expression of hormone receptors.

2.4. Discussion

STAT3 is a latent cytoplasmic transcription factor that has been shown to be oncogenic when constitutively activated (Bromberg J and Darnell, 2000; Shuai, 2000). Activation of STAT3 is tightly linked to the development and differentiation of normal breast tissues, with STAT3 activation found during puberty, early pregnancy, and involution, but not detectable in the later parts of pregnancy and lactation (Groner B, 2000; Hennighausen et al., 1997; Philp et al., 1996). The exact biological functions of STAT3 in breast tissues are not fully understood, but it appears to exert pro-apoptotic effect during involution. Immunohistochemical studies of breast cancer tissues have demonstrated evidence of STAT3 activation in the malignant component but not in the surrounding benign breast tissues (Berclaz G, 2001). Moreover, previous studies have shown that STAT3 activation is detectable in 30 – 60% of primary breast cancers (Berishaj et al., 2007; Dolled-Filhart et al., 2003; Watson and Miller, 1995). Although the mechanism by which STAT3 is activated in breast cancer is not fully understood, it is known that STAT3 is activated in breast cancer cells in response to a diverse number of cytokines and growth factors known to be important for the pathogenesis of breast cancer, such as OSM, EGF and PDGF (Bromberg J, 2000; Darnell JE Jr, 1997; Hirano T, 2000). It is likely that STAT3 is activated via a combination of different mechanisms, since the level of STAT3 activation (i.e. percentage of pSTAT3-positive cells) varies from case to case.

While little is known about the normal function of STAT3 in breast tissues, even less is known about the significance of STAT3 in the pathogenesis of breast cancer. Therefore, the goal in this chapter was to confirm the activation of STAT3 in breast cancer and to further delineate the mechanism by which STAT3 mediates its oncogenic effects in breast cancer. Using immunohistochemistry, I was able to confirm the findings of previous studies and found evidence of STAT3 activation in approximately 60% (85/142) of tumors examined in this current study. In regards to *in vitro* studies, a STAT3C model controlled by tetracycline was employed. The majority of the experiments in this study involved MCF-7, a human breast cancer cell line previously reported to have very low constitutive STAT3 activation (Berishaj et al., 2007). I was able to confirm this finding by immunofluorescence staining/confocal microscopy as well as Western blot using anti-pSTAT3. In the absence of constitutive activation of endogenous STAT3, STAT3

activity was manipulated by transfecting tet-off STAT3C, a construct that have been extensive characterized and published (Bromberg et al., 1999), into the cells. In keeping with the fact that STAT3C represents a species with constitutive activity in our experimental model, immunofluorescense demonstrated that transfected STAT3C was localized to the nucleus whereas endogenous STAT3 was localized to the cytoplasm. Furthermore, to confirm that STAT3C is biologically active, a number of STAT3 downstream targets (including cyclin D1) were up-regulated as a result of tTA-TRE-STAT3C.

Since one of the major goals of this chapter is to evaluate the role of STAT3 in modulating invasion in breast cancer, I sought to examine the link between STAT3 and TIMP1, a low molecular weight glycoprotein that is known to inhibit the proteolytic activity of MMPs (Lambert et al., 2004) to decrease cell migration and invasion (Akahane et al., 2004). Using the established experimental model, I demonstrated that TIMP1 expression correlated well with the expression of STAT3C. This is in keeping with the concept that TIMP1 is a downstream target of STAT3. Other supporting evidences is as follows: 1) the promoter region of the *TIMP1* gene has multiple STAT3 binding sites (Bugno et al., 1995); 2) our lab have previously shown that a STAT3 dominant negative construct can down-regulate TIMP1 expression in lymphoma cell lines transfected with STAT3C, a well-characterized constitutively active STAT3 construct, have up-regulation of TIMP1; 4) using the created tet-off STAT3C system, I demonstrated that the levels of STAT3 activated significantly correlated with the TIMP1

levels in breast cancer cells; 5) the significant correlation between pSTAT3 and TIMP1 in a cohort of primary breast tumors. There have been a number of recent studies that have further confirmed the link between STAT3 and TIMP1 in oncogenesis. For example, Guo et al. demonstrated that IL-6 induction of TIMP1 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells was dependent on STAT3 activation (Guo et al., 2007). Interestingly, a recent study indicated that TIMP1 expression induces STAT3 activation in plasmacytic tumors (Guedez et al., 2005). Taken together, there may be a positive feedback between TIMP1 and STAT3 in certain cancer cell types. Importantly, since TIMP1 plays a major role in cell invasion, the matrigel invasion assay was able to demonstrate that the invasiveness of breast cancer cells was inversely proportional to the expression levels of STAT3C and TIMP1. Using an anti-TIMP1 neutralizing antibody, I have provided direct evidence that TIMP1, rather than some other non-specific factors, directly contributes to the decreased invasiveness in the experimental model. In parallel to these in vitro findings, using a large series of primary breast cancer, STAT3 activation highly correlates with TIMP1 expression, and inversely correlates with lymphatic and vascular invasion.

Although the inverse relationship between STAT3 activation and vascular or lymphatic invasion appears to contradict the established pro-oncogenic properties of STAT3, it is of note that TIMP1, a STAT3 downstream target, possesses cell growth-stimulatory functions (Nakopoulou et al., 2003; Visse and Nagase, 2003). TIMP1 has been shown to inhibit apoptosis in several tumor cell types. For instance, Guedez *et al.* showed that TIMP1 directly contributes to increase of survival in Burkitt lymphoma cells (Guedez et al.

al., 1998). Further studies indicated that TIMP1 can initially promote tumor growth in the early stages of lymphoma by inhibiting apoptosis, whereas at a later stage, the secreted TIMP1 blocks tumor angiogenesis and ultimately suppress tumor growth (Guedez et al., 2001), suggesting that TIMP1 may have a dual role in oncogenesis. More recently, Liu et al. has provided evidence that TIMP1 contributes to the survival of breast cancer cells by inhibiting apoptosis (Liu et al., 2005c). In addition, Luparello et al. did a comparison study between two breast cancer cell lines and found the more tumorigenic one to be more responsive to TIMP1 treatment, indicating a proliferative role for TIMP1 (Luparello C, 1999). The mechanism by which TIMP1 promotes cell proliferation and inhibits apoptosis has been reported to be either by direct entry into the nucleus or by initiation of the signaling cascades (Ornbjerg Wurtz S, 2005). Thus, while TIMP1 downregulates the invasiveness of breast cancer cells, it provides survival signal and promotes growth of the tumors. In view of this dual function of TIMP1, it is tempting to hypothesize that high levels of TIMP1 may result in large but localized (i.e. nonmetastatic) tumors. In other words, differences in the STAT3 activity and TIMP1 expression may determine how early metastasis occurs during the course of the disease. In keeping with this hypothesis, it is well recognized that some breast cancer patients present with metastatic diseases but relatively small primary tumors, and some other patients present as localized disease despite the presence of large primary tumors.

In addition to TIMP1, STAT3 is also known to mediate resistance to apoptosis in breast cancer by up-regulating other proteins known to promote cell survival, such as survivin (Hsieh et al., 2005). Other potential STAT3 downstream targets, including cyclin D1 and Bcl-2, are also known to play roles in the pathogenesis of breast cancer. In this study, using MCF-7 transfected cells, cyclin D1, Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and Mcl-1 were examined and a downregulation of STAT3 by increasing concentrations of tetracycline also resulted in a downregulation of these specific targets. Recent studies have speculated that STAT3 signaling may contribute to cell adhesion. Rivat *et al.* stated that the STAT3 signaling pathway regulates homotypic cell-cell adhesion in colorectal cancer cells (Rivat et al., 2004). Another recent publication has suggested a role for STAT3 as a positive regulator of cell-cell adhesion system (Uttamsingh et al., 2003). Overall, STAT3 appears to carry important roles in modulating many biological aspects of breast cancers, including cell survival, proliferation, and metastatic potential.

Increased expression of TIMP1 has been associated with decreased invasiveness and metastatic potential in several experimental models by downregulating MMP activity (Fassina et al., 2000; Gomez et al., 1997; Visse and Nagase, 2003). Interestingly, our lab previously identified high levels of STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression in a specific type of lymphoma, ALK⁺ALCL (Lai et al., 2004). In accordance with the concept that TIMP1 inhibits invasiveness, one of the most characteristic pathologic features of ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphomas is their sinusoidal infiltrative pattern within the lymph node. Thus, the link between STAT3 activation and the relative absence of vascular or lymphatic invasion in breast cancer parallels with what we previously observed in ALK⁺ALCL.

The fact that a significant proportion of TIMP1-positive breast tumors showed no evidence of STAT3 activation suggests that TIMP1 can be activated via alternative mechanisms in this cell type. A relatively small number of cytokines have been shown to up-regulate TIMP1 in various cell types (Blavier et al., 1999), including IL-6 in human fibroblast (Sato et al., 1990) and IL-10 in human mononuclear phagocytes (Lacraz et al., 1995). TNF receptor (TNFR) has also been shown to stimulate TIMP1 secretion in myeloblastic leukemia cells (Kubota et al., 1996). It will be of interest to evaluate if these cytokines play a role in up-regulating TIMP1 in breast cancer. A subset of breast tumors that are STAT3 active but TIMP1 negative was also identified. One possible explanation for this finding may be related to the fact that the *TIMP1* promoter has the binding sites for transcriptional factors AP-1 and STAT3; it has been suggested that the presence of both of these factors is required for full induction of TIMP1 transcription (Bugno et al., 1995). In addition, we found that TIMP1 expression is dependent on a relatively high level of STAT3 activity, as TIMP1 was dramatically decreased with a reduction of STAT3C to 74% (Figure 1a).

Previous studies have demonstrated that overexpression of TIMP1 prolong survival in transgenic mice model (Blavier et al., 1999). Though the results were not statistically significant, I did find a trend for longer survival in patients with STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression. The lack of statistical significance in this current study is probably related to the relatively small sample size for survival data analysis. Thus, further studies with increasing sample size must be done in order to further define the relationship of TIMP1 and patient survival. One previous study has correlated STAT3 activation and

survival in 346 patients with breast cancer, and it was found that STAT3 activation is associated with significantly improved survival at both 5 and 20 years (Dolled-Filhart M, 2003). By immunohistochemical analysis, TIMP1 overexpression in breast cancer cells also has been found to be an indicator of favorable prognosis in breast cancer patients (Nakopoulou et al., 2003). Data from this study suggests that the explanation for the longer survival in patients with STAT3 activation and TIMP1 expression is related to the relative infrequent vascular and lymphatic invasion, both of which are known to be independent poor prognostic factors (Subramaniam and Isaacs, 2005).

STAT3 activation inversely correlated with vascular and lymphatic invasion, and although TIMP1 expression showed a trend for lack of vascular and lymphatic invasion, the results were not statistically significant. The reason that TIMP1 expression did not correlate with vascular and lymphatic invasion may be due to the fact that there are several other factors that may contribute to breast cancer invasion and metastasis. A number of molecules such as cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors have been implicated in the metastasis of breast cancer (Fernandis et al., 2004). In particular, chemokine receptor CXCR4 mediates actin polymerization and pseudopodia formation and induces invasive responses in breast cancer cells (Muller et al., 2001) through interaction with its ligand, stromal cell-derived factor-1 (Liang et al., 2005). The ligands for these CXCR4 receptors have been found to be highly expressed in organs that represent important sites of breast cancer metastasis (Fernandis et al., 2004). CXCR4 expression has been shown to be enhanced by HER2 in breast cancer (Li C, 2004), and CXCR4 receptors have been implicated in the activation of the STAT3 pathway in

hematopoietic cell lines (Ahr et al., 2005). Thus, while TIMP1 contributes to modulating the metastatic potential of breast cancer, a number of other factors are also clearly implicated.

In conclusion, I have confirmed that STAT3 is highly activated in human breast cancer and correlates with a decrease in lymphatic and vascular invasion. Moreover, I have demonstrated a novel link between STAT3 and TIMP1 in breast cancer and that the upregulation of TIMP1 by STAT3 decreases the invasive abilities of breast cancer cell lines. These findings provide us with a better understanding of STAT3 signaling in breast cancer pathogenesis. In addition, the tet-off STAT3C *in vitro* model created will provide me with a tool for future examination of STAT3 in cancer.

2.5. References

Ahr, B., Denizot, M., Robert-Hebmann, V., Brelot, A., and Biard-Piechaczyk, M. (2005). Identification of the cytoplasmic domains of CXCR4 involved in Jak2 and STAT3 phosphorylation. J Biol Chem *280*, 6692-6700.

Akahane, T., Akahane, M., Shah, A., Connor, C. M., and Thorgeirsson, U. P. (2004). TIMP-1 inhibits microvascular endothelial cell migration by MMP-dependent and MMP-independent mechanisms. Exp Cell Res *301*, 158-167.

Aoki, Y., Feldman, G. M., and Tosato, G. (2003). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling induces apoptosis and decreases survivin expression in primary effusion lymphoma. Blood *101*, 1535-1542.

Berclaz G, A. H., Rohrbach V, Siragusa A, Dreher E, Smith PD (2001). EGFR dependent expression of STAT3 (but not STAT1) in breast cancer. International Journal of Oncology 19, 1155-1160.

Berishaj, M., Gao, S. P., Ahmed, S., Leslie, K., Al-Ahmadie, H., Gerald, W. L., Bornmann, W., and Bromberg, J. F. (2007). Stat3 is tyrosine-phosphorylated through the interleukin-6/glycoprotein 130/Janus kinase pathway in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res *9*, R32.

Blavier, L., Henriet, P., Imren, S., and Declerck, Y. A. (1999). Tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases in cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci 878, 108-119.

Bromberg, J. (2002). Stat proteins and oncogenesis. J Clin Invest 109, 1139-1142.

Bromberg J (2000). Signal transducers and activators of transcription as regulators of growth, apoptosis and breast development. Breast Cancer Research 2, 86-90.

Bromberg J, and Jr, D. J. (2000). The role of STATs in transcriptional control and their impact on cellular function. Oncogene 19, 2468-2473.

Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell *98*, 295-303.

Bugno, M., Graeve, L., Gatsios, P., Koj, A., Heinrich, P. C., Travis, J., and Kordula, T. (1995). Identification of the interleukin-6/oncostatin M response element in the rat tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 5041-5047.

Burke, W. M., Jin, X., Lin, H. J., Huang, M., Liu, R., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2001). Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 suppresses growth of human ovarian and breast cancer cells. Oncogene *20*, 7925-7934.

Catlett-Falcone R, L. T., Oshiro MM, Turkson J, Levitzki A, Savino R, Ciliberto G, Moscinski L, Fernandez-Luna JL, Nunez G, Dalton WS, Jove R (1999). Constitutive Activation of Stat3 Signaling Confers Resistance to Apoptosis in Human U266 Myeloma Cells. Immunity *10*, 105-115.

Clevenger, C. V. (2004). Roles and regulation of stat family transcription factors in human breast cancer. Am J Pathol 165, 1449-1460.

Darnell JE Jr (1997). Stats and Gene Regulation. Science 277, 1630-1635.

Dechow, T. N., Pedranzini, L., Leitch, A., Leslie, K., Gerald, W. L., Linkov, I., and Bromberg, J. F. (2004). Requirement of matrix metalloproteinase-9 for the transformation of human mammary epithelial cells by Stat3-C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *101*, 10602-10607.

Dolled-Filhart M, C. R., Kowalski DP, Smith BL, Rimm DL (2003). Tissue microarray analysis of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) and phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) in node-negative breast cancer shows nuclear localization is associated with a better prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research *9*, 594-600.

Dolled-Filhart, M., RL, C., DP, K., BL, S., and DL, R. (2003). Tissue microarray analysis of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) and phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) in node-negative breast cancer shows nuclear localization is associated with a better prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research 9, 594-600.

Fassina, G., Ferrari, N., Brigati, C., Benelli, R., Santi, L., Noonan, D. M., and Albini, A. (2000). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteases: regulation and biological activities. Clin Exp Metastasis 18, 111-120.

Fernandis, A. Z., Prasad, A., Band, H., Klosel, R., and Ganju, R. K. (2004). Regulation of CXCR4-mediated chemotaxis and chemoinvasion of breast cancer cells. Oncogene 23, 157-167.

Gomez, D. E., Alonso, D. F., Yoshiji, H., and Thorgeirsson, U. P. (1997). Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological functions. Eur J Cell Biol 74, 111-122.

Gossen, M., and Bujard, H. (1992). Tight control of gene expression in mammalian cells by tetracycline-responsive promoters. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *89*, 5547-5551.

Groner B, H. L. (2000). Linear and cooperative signaling: roles for Stat proteins in the regulation of cell survival and apoptosis in the mammary epithelium. Breast Cancer Research 2, 149-153.

Guedez, L., Martinez, A., Zhao, S., Vivero, A., Pittaluga, S., Stetler-Stevenson, M., Raffeld, M., and Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. (2005). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1

(TIMP-1) promotes plasmablastic differentiation of a Burkitt lymphoma cell line: implications in the pathogenesis of plasmacytic/plasmablastic tumors. Blood *105*, 1660-1668.

Guedez, L., McMarlin, A. J., Kingma, D. W., Bennett, T. A., Stetler-Stevenson, M., and Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. (2001). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 alters the tumorigenicity of Burkitt's lymphoma via divergent effects on tumor growth and angiogenesis. Am J Pathol 158, 1207-1215.

Guedez, L., Stetler-Stevenson, W. G., Wolff, L., Wang, J., Fukushima, P., Mansoor, A., and Stetler-Stevenson, M. (1998). In vitro suppression of programmed cell death of B cells by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1. J Clin Invest *102*, 2002-2010.

Guo, S. Y., Shen, X., Yang, J., Yuan, J., Yang, R. L., Mao, K., Zhao, D. H., and Li, C. J. (2007). TIMP-1 mediates the inhibitory effect of interleukin-6 on the proliferation of a hepatocarcinoma cell line in a STAT3-dependent manner. Braz J Med Biol Res 40, 621-631.

Hennighausen, L., Robinson, G. W., Wagner, K. U., and Liu, X. (1997). Developing a mammary gland is a stat affair. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 2, 365-372.

Hirano T, I. K., Hibi M (2000). Roles of STAT3 in mediating the cell growth, differentiation and survival signals relayed through the IL-6 family of cytokine receptors. Oncogene *19*, 2548-2556.

Hsiao, J. R., Jin, Y. T., Tsai, S. T., Shiau, A. L., Wu, C. L., and Su, W. C. (2003). Constitutive activation of STAT3 and STAT5 is present in the majority of nasopharyngeal carcinoma and correlates with better prognosis. Br J Cancer *89*, 344-349.

Hsieh, F. C., Cheng, G., and Lin, J. (2005). Evaluation of potential Stat3-regulated genes in human breast cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *335*, 292-299.

Huang, M., Page, C., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2000). Constitutive activation of stat 3 oncogene product in human ovarian carcinoma cells. Gynecol Oncol 79, 67-73.

Kossakowska, A. E., Edwards, D. R., Prusinkiewicz, C., Zhang, M. C., Guo, D., Urbanski, S. J., Grogan, T., Marquez, L. A., and Janowska-Wieczorek, A. (1999). Interleukin-6 regulation of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-2 and MMP-9) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP-1) expression in malignant non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Blood *94*, 2080-2089.

Kubota, S., Takeda, K., Yamada, T., Nomura, Y., Takeda, M., Iwamoto, S., and Seyama, Y. (1996). Tumor necrosis factor alpha and lymphotoxin stimulate human myeloblastic leukemia cell (ML-1) invasion through a reconstituted basement membrane (Matrigel) with concomitant induction of 92 kDa gelatinase secretion. Cancer Lett *98*, 233-240.

Lacraz, S., Nicod, L. P., Chicheportiche, R., Welgus, H. G., and Dayer, J. M. (1995). IL-10 inhibits metalloproteinase and stimulates TIMP-1 production in human mononuclear phagocytes. J Clin Invest *96*, 2304-2310.

Lai, R., Rassidakis, G. Z., Medeiros, L. J., Ramdas, L., Goy, A. H., Cutler, C., Fujio, Y., Kunisada, K., Amin, H. M., and Gilles, F. (2004). Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 activation contributes to high tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 expression in anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Am J Pathol *164*, 2251-2258.

Lambert, E., Dasse, E., Haye, B., and Petitfrere, E. (2004). TIMPs as multifacial proteins. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 49, 187-198.

Levy, D. E., and Lee, C. K. (2002). What does Stat3 do? J Clin Invest *109*, 1143-1148. Li C, Z. F., Lin M, Liu J (2004). Induction of S100A9 gene expression by cytokine oncostatin M in breast cancer cells through the STAT3 signaling cascade. Breast Cancer Res Treat *87*, 123-134.

Liang, Z., Yoon, Y., Votaw, J., Goodman, M. M., Williams, L., and Shim, H. (2005). Silencing of CXCR4 blocks breast cancer metastasis. Cancer Res *65*, 967-971.

Liu, X. W., Taube, M. E., Jung, K. K., Dong, Z., Lee, Y. J., Roshy, S., Sloane, B. F., Fridman, R., and Kim, H. R. (2005). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 protects human breast epithelial cells from extrinsic cell death: a potential oncogenic activity of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1. Cancer Res *65*, 898-906.

Luparello, C., Avanzato, G., Carella, C., and Pucci-Minafra, I. (1999). Tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease (TIMP)-1 and proliferative behaviour of clonal breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat *54*, 235-244.

Muller, A., Homey, B., Soto, H., Ge, N., Catron, D., Buchanan, M. E., McClanahan, T., Murphy, E., Yuan, W., Wagner, S. N., *et al.* (2001). Involvement of chemokine receptors in breast cancer metastasis. Nature *410*, 50-56.

Nakopoulou, L., Giannopoulou, I., Lazaris, A., Alexandrou, P., Tsirmpa, I., Markaki, S., Panayotopoulou, E., and Keramopoulos, A. (2003). The favorable prognostic impact of tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases-1 protein overexpression in breast cancer cells. Apmis *111*, 1027-1036.

Ni, Z., Lou, W., Leman, E. S., and Gao, A. C. (2000). Inhibition of constitutively activated Stat3 signaling pathway suppresses growth of prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res *60*, 1225-1228.

Pellegrini, P., Contasta, I., Berghella, A. M., Gargano, E., Mammarella, C., and Adorno, D. (2000). Simultaneous measurement of soluble carcinoembryonic antigen and the tissue

inhibitor of metalloproteinase TIMP1 serum levels for use as markers of pre-invasive to invasive colorectal cancer. Cancer Immunol Immunother 49, 388-394.

Philp, J. A., Burdon, T. G., and Watson, C. J. (1996). Differential activation of STATs 3 and 5 during mammary gland development. FEBS Lett *396*, 77-80.

Reich, N. C., and Liu, L. (2006). Tracking STAT nuclear traffic. Nat Rev Immunol 6, 602-612.

Ritter, L. M., Garfield, S. H., and Thorgeirsson, U. P. (1999). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) binds to the cell surface and translocates to the nucleus of human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *257*, 494-499.

Rivat, C., De Wever, O., Bruyneel, E., Mareel, M., Gespach, C., and Attoub, S. (2004). Disruption of STAT3 signaling leads to tumor cell invasion through alterations of homotypic cell-cell adhesion complexes. Oncogene *23*, 3317-3327.

Sato, T., Ito, A., and Mori, Y. (1990). Interleukin 6 enhances the production of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) but not that of matrix metalloproteinases by human fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *170*, 824-829.

Shuai, K. (2000). Modulation of STAT signaling by STAT-interacting proteins. Oncogene 19, 2638-2644.

Stetler-Stevenson, M., Mansoor, A., Lim, M., Fukushima, P., Kehrl, J., Marti, G., Ptaszynski, K., Wang, J., and Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. (1997). Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in reactive and neoplastic lymphoid cells. Blood *89*, 1708-1715.

Subramaniam, D. S., and Isaacs, C. (2005). Utilizing prognostic and predictive factors in breast cancer. Curr Treat Options Oncol *6*, 147-159.

Uttamsingh, S., Zong, C. S., and Wang, L. H. (2003). Matrix-independent activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Stat3, and cyclin A-associated Cdk2 Is essential for anchorage-independent growth of v-Ros-transformed chicken embryo fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 278, 18798-18810.

Visse, R., and Nagase, H. (2003). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. Circ Res *92*, 827-839. Watson, C. J. (2001). Stat transcription factors in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia *6*, 115-127.

Watson, C. J., and Miller, W. R. (1995). Elevated levels of members of the STAT family of transcription factors in breast carcinoma nuclear extracts. Br J Cancer 71, 840-844.

Wurtz, S. O., Schrohl, A. S., Sorensen, N. M., Lademann, U., Christensen, I. J., Mouridsen, H., and Brunner, N. (2005). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer *12*, 215-227.

Yoshikawa, T., Saitoh, M., Tsuburaya, A., Kobayashi, O., Sairenji, M., Motohashi, H., Yanoma, S., and Noguchi, Y. (1999). Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in the plasma of patients with gastric carcinoma. A possible marker for serosal invasion and metastasis. Cancer *86*, 1929-1935.

Zacchigna, S., Zentilin, L., Morini, M., Dell'Eva, R., Noonan, D. M., Albini, A., and Giacca, M. (2004). AAV-mediated gene transfer of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 inhibits vascular tumor growth and angiogenesis in vivo. Cancer Gene Ther *11*, 73-80.

Chapter 3 ♦

Aberrant Expression of IL-22 Receptor 1 (IL-22R1) and Autocrine IL-22 Stimulation Contribute to Tumorigenicity in ALK-positive Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma

A version of this chapter is accepted for publication in *Leukemia*:

Dien Bard J, Gelebart P, Anand M, Amin HM, Lai R. Aberrant Expression of IL-22 Receptor 1 (IL-22R1) and Autocrine IL-22 Stimulation Contribute to Tumorigenicity in ALK-positive Anaplastic Large Cell Lymphoma. *Leukemia*. 2008.

3.1. Introduction

ALK⁺ALCL is a specific type of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, characterized by a sinusoidal infiltrative pattern, T/null-cell immunophenotype, and the consistent expression of CD30. The aberrant expression of ALK in approximately 80% of ALK⁺ALCL tumors is a result of the reciprocal chromosomal translocation, t(2;5)(p23;q35), which leads to the juxtaposition of the NPM gene at 5q35 with the ALK gene at 2p23 (Morris et al., 1994; Shiota et al., 1994b). NPM-ALK has been shown to be oncogenic, and it directly contributes to the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL through exerting its constitutively active tyrosine kinase embedded in the ALK portion of the fusion protein (Bischof et al., 1997; Duyster et al., 2001; Fujimoto et al., 1996). Previous studies have demonstrated dysregulation of multiple signaling pathways (Slupianek et al., 2001), including that of STAT3 (Khoury JD, 2003; Zamo et al., 2002). STAT3 itself is an oncoprotein, and aberrant activation of STAT3 has been demonstrated in a variety of human cancers (Bromberg et al., 1999; Burke et al., 2001; Catlett-Falcone R, 1999; Levy and Lee, 2002). Moreover, accumulating evidence has supported the concept that NPM-ALK mediates its oncogenic effects via STAT3 activation (Chiarle et al., 2005; Khoury JD, 2003; Zamo et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002). Sustained STAT3 activation appears to be multi-factorial in ALK⁺ALCL; in addition to NPM-ALK, other mechanisms include Src, JAK3, and loss of SHP1 (Amin et al., 2003b; Fujitani et al., 1997; Han et al., 2006). JAK3, one of the normal physiologic activators of STAT3, is indeed highly activated in most cases of ALK⁺ALCL (Lai et al., 2005), and our recent data suggest that the mechanism is related

to the autocrine stimulation of IL-9 and loss of SHP1 (a tyrosine phosphatase) (Han et al., 2006; Qiu et al., 2006).

IL-22 is a cytokine that was originally labeled IL-10-related T-cell-derived inducible factor (Dumoutier et al., 2000). IL-22 belongs to a family of IL-10-related proteins that includes IL-19, IL-20, IL-24/MDA-7, IL-26/AK155, IL-28 and IL-29. IL-22 production is inducible by IL-9 in T-lymphocytes (Dumoutier et al., 2000) and is known to exert its function by binding to a heterodimeric receptor complex composed of IL-22R1 and IL-IL-10R2 is ubiquitously expressed, while IL-22R1 expression is relatively 10R2. restricted, being found at a high level in the pancreas, small intestine, colon, kidney, and liver (Kotenko et al., 2001; Xie et al., 2000). Importantly, IL-22R1 is not detectable in normal immune cells including monocytes, B-cells, T-cells, natural killer cells, macrophages and dendritic cells, that are found in the bone marrow, peripheral blood, thymus and spleen (Wolk et al., 2002; Wolk et al., 2005; Wolk et al., 2006). In addition to the IL-10R2 and IL-22R1, there is a single-chain IL-22 binding receptor named IL-22 binding protein (commonly labeled as IL-22BP), which has been shown to be a decoy receptor that can antagonize IL-22 binding to its receptor and downregulate IL-22 signaling in vitro (Dumoutier et al., 2001; Gruenberg et al., 2001; Kotenko et al., 2001). IL-22BP is detectable in placenta, breast, thymus, spleen, lymph nodes, stomach and colon (Weiss et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2001). IL-22 is known to activate a number of signaling pathways including that of STAT3 and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Lejeune et al., 2002). Based on the current understanding of the biology of IL-

22, it is believed that IL-22 produced by T-cells homing to the mucosal surfaces plays an important role in enhancing innate immunity (Gurney, 2004).

An initial study in our lab analyzed cytokine expression in ALK⁺ALCL cells using oligonucleotide microarrays, and identified the expression of IL-22R1 as well as IL-22. A recent published study using large-scale microarray gene expression profiling also described the expression of IL-22 among ALK⁺ALCL tumors and cell lines (Lamant et al., 2006). While the expression of IL-22 is not unexpected for ALK⁺ALCL, a tumor derived from mature T-cells, IL-22R1 expression in ALK⁺ALCL cells, a type of lymphoid cells, represents an aberrant event, since this receptor is not detectable in normal lymphoid tissues. In view of these findings and the importance of STAT3 signaling in ALK⁺ALCL, I hypothesized that the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 creates an abnormal cytokine stimulatory pathway to contribute to the tumorigenicity of ALK⁺ALCL. In this study, I first confirmed that IL-22, IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 are consistently expressed in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and tumors, whereas IL-22BP is often absent. Blockade of IL-22 using an IL-22 neutralizing antibody or recombinant IL-22BP decreases STAT3 phosphorylation and activation, which were associated with a decrease in cell proliferation and tumorigenicity. Furthermore, gene transfection of NPM-ALK demonstrated its role in inducing aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in a T-cell lymphoma cell line.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. Cell lines and Culture

Three ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 were used in this study. All three cell lines were obtained from Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen GmbH (DSMZ, Germany). Hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 (ATCC, HB-8065) and T-lymphoblast cell line Jurkat (ATCC, TIB-152) was also used in this study. ALCL cell lines were maintained in RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich). HepG2 was maintained in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich). Both types of culture media were enriched with 10% FBS (Gibco) and antibiotics (10,000 units/mL penicillin G, 10,000 µg/mL streptomycin, Gibco). All cells were grown at 37°C in 5% CO₂. T- and B-lymphocytes were harvested from peripheral blood of a healthy donor cultured in RPMI-1640. Briefly, lymphocytes were isolated using Ficoll-Paque Plus according to the manufacturer's protocol (GE Healthcare Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden). CD3-positive T-cells and CD19-positive B-cells were then isolated using the Epics Altra Hypersort system (Beckman Coulter, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada).

3.2.2. Treatment of Cells

For cytokine experiment, cells (1 X 10^6 cells/mL) were washed twice with PBS and plated into 6-well culture plates (Bectin Dickinson Labware) with serum-free media for 16 hours. Cells were treated with 5 µg/mL of IL-22BP recombinant protein (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or 10 µg/mL of IL-22 neutralizing antibody (Sigma) for 0, 30 min, 1 hour, 4 hour, and 24 hour. In addition, cells were also treated with 10

ng/mL of IL-22 recombinant protein (Sigma) for 0 and 30 min. All cell samples were harvested for western blot.

3.2.3. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies

Western blot analysis was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, cells were collected, centrifuged at 300g for 10 minutes, and washed twice with PBS. Lysis buffer (20 mM tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5.0 mM EDTA, 40.0 µg/mL leupeptin, 1 µM pepstatin, 1 mM AEBSF) was added to the cell pellet for 30 minutes on ice followed by centrifugation at 14,000g for 10 minute at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 50-100 μ g of protein was run on SDS-PAGE. Protein quantification was carried out using the Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biorad). After the proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, the membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBS buffer (Sigma) and 0.05% Tween-20 (Calbiochem), and then incubated with primary antibodies overnight followed by 1 hour incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10000) (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). The membranes were washed in TBS with 0.05% Tween-20 for 30 minutes between steps. Proteins were detected using the enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit (Amersham Life Sciences). The number in parenthesis after each antibody listed indicates the dilution at which it was used. Antibodies used included: rabbit polyclonal anti-human STAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human pSTAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), rabbit polyclonal anti-human IL-22R1 (1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich), rabbit monoclonal anti-human pERK1/2 (1:1000, Cell Signaling), mouse monoclonal anti-human ERK1/2 (1:1000, Cell Signaling), rabbit monoclonal anti-human anti-pJNK/SAPK (1:1000, Cell Signaling),

rabbit monoclonal anti-human JNK/SAPK (1:1000, cell Signaling), rabbit monoclonal anti-human phospho-p38 (1:1000, Cell Signaling), mouse monoclonal anti-human p38 (1:1000, Cell Signaling) and mouse monoclonal anti-human β -actin (1:3000, Sigma-Aldrich).

3.2.4. Immunofluorescence Staining and Confocal Microscopy

Immunofluorescence was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, 1 X 10^6 cells cells grown on coverslip in a 6-well plate were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS. Cells were rinsed with 1X PBS, permeabilized with PBS-0.5% triton X-100 for 5 minutes, and rinsed twice with 1X PBS. Cells were rinsed three times with 1X PBS, incubated with 30 µL of anti-IL-22R1 (1:50) (Sigma-aldrich) antibody overnight, followed by rinsing three times with 1X PBS. IgG antibody was included as a negative control. After Incubation with 25 µL of Alexa 488 goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:250) for 1 hour, cells were rinsed with PBS and mounting media (Sigma-aldrich) was added to the slides. Cells were visualized and imaged with a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope (Oberkochen, Germany). Argon laser with a 488 nm wavelength was used to visualize IL-22R1 at 40X objective and images were analyzed using the Zeiss LSM 5 image browser.

For the double staining experiments, frozen sections from 5 cases of ALK⁺ALCL were fixed in acetone and washed with PBS. Slides were incubated simultaneously with anti-IL-22R1 (Capralogic, 1:200, anti-goat) and anti-IL-22 (Capralogic, 1:200, anti-rabbit) for 1 hour. After washings with PBS, slides were incubated simultaneously with Alexa 488

goat anti-rabbit and Alexa 555 donkey anti-goat secondary antibodies (1:300) for 30 minutes at room temperature. Mounting media with DAPI were added to the slides and were visualized with a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope (Oberkochen, Germany). Argon laser with a 488 nm wavelength was used to visualize IL-22R1 and Helium/Neon laser with a 623 nm wavelength was used to visualize IL-22. All images were visualized at 40X objective and analyzed using the Zeiss LSM 5 image browser.

3.2.5. Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Total cellular RNA was extracted from SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2, Jurkat, and HepG2 cell lines using TRIzol extraction according to manufacturer's protocol (Gibco). Reverse transcription (RT) was performed using 500 ng total RNA in a first strand cDNA synthesis reaction with superscript reverse transcriptase as recommended by the manufacturer (Invitrogen). Primer pairs were designed by Primer3 Input 0.4.0 to detect IL-22, IL-22R1, IL-22BP, IL-10R2 and NPM-ALK. Housekeeping genes, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and β -globin were included as internal controls. Table 3.1 illustrates the primer sequence and product size for each gene. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed by adding 1 µL RT product into 25 µL volume reaction containing 1X buffer, 200 µM of each dNTPs, oligonucleotide primer, and 0.2 U AmpliTaq polymerase. For DNA amplification, cDNA was denatured at 94°C for 1 min, and then subjected to primer annealing at 60°C for 1 min, and then subjected to DNA extension at 72 °C for 1 min for 35 cycles in a thermal cycler (Applied Amplified product were analyzed by DNA gel electrophoresis in 1% Biosystems). agarose and visualized by the Alpha Imager 3400 (Alpha Innotech, San Leandro, CA,

USA). Sequencing of IL-22 PCR product was performed using TOPO TA Cloning Kit according to manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen) and the 3130XL Genetics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems).

Tal	ole	3.	1.	Primer	Seq	uences	and	Pr	oduct	Size
	110	··			~~~~	achiecos	****		ouner	

	Sense Primers	Antisense Primers	Product size (bp)
IL-22	TTCTCTTGGCCCTCTTGGTA	TTCTCCCCAATGAGACGAAC	169
IL-22R1	TGCTGACCATCTTGACTGTG	TCCCTCTCTCCGTACGTCTTAT	181
IL-22BP	GGAACTCAGTCAACGCATGA	TTGGCTTCTGGTGAGAGCTT	178
IL-10R2	TACCACCTCCCGAAAATGTC	CAAATTCAGCCCTGACTCTCA	219
GAPDH	AAGGTCATCCCTGAGCTGAA	CCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAAAT	316
β-GLOBIN	CAACTTCATCCACGTTCACC	GAAGAGCCAAGGACAGGTAC	343

3.2.6. IL-22R1 siRNA

SU-DHL-1 cells (1 X 10⁶ cells in 1 mL of culture medium) were transfected with 100 pmol of IL-22R1 or scrambled siRNA (Qiagen) using Lipofectamine 2000 according to the manufacturer's protocol (Invitrogen). The IL-22R1 target sequence is: 5'-CAGGA GCTCCACAGCGGCATA-3'. Cells were harvested 24 hours after the transfection and subjected to Western blot analysis.

3.2.7. Gene Transfection of NPM-ALK

The NPM-ALK cDNA was initially amplified using an NPM-ALK plasmid (a gift by Dr. Morris) using a primer set: ALK (forward) 5'-ATGGAAGATTCGATGGACATG-3' and NPM (reverse) 5'-TCAGGGCCCAGGCTGGTT-3'. The NPM-ALK cDNA was blunt ligated with pCruz HisTM, which was initially digested with EcoRV. The resulted vector was transformed into Escherichia coli on ampicillin-resistant plates, and plasmids were isolated by a Mini-prep kit (Qiagen). The sequence and orientation of the insert were confirmed by DNA sequencing. Transfection experiments were carried out in 12-well culture plates (Bectin Dickinson Labware) by electroporation technology using Nucleofector Kit V according to the manufacturer's protocol (Amaxa, Cologne, Germany). Briefly, 1 X 10^6 cells were washed with PBS twice and resuspended in 100 μ L of Cell Line Nucleofector Solution V and 1 μ g of DNA. The cell suspension is transfer to the amaxa certified cuvette and transfected using program A-17 on the Nucleofector I machine (Amaxa). 500 µL of pre-warmed RPMI 1640 is added to the cuvette and the cell suspension is transferred to 12-well culture plate (Bectin Dickinson Labware).
3.2.8. ELISA Assay for IL-22

Aliquots of medium were extracted from SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 cells, spun at 15,000*g*, and supernatant was collected. Assay was performed as per company protocol (R&D systems). Briefly, 100 μ L of Assay Diluent and sample were added to the 96 well microplate, covered, and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Wells were washed 4X with wash buffer and 200 μ L of IL-22 Conjugate was added, followed by 2 hour incubation at room temperature. Wash step is repeated and 200 μ L of Substrate solution is then added to each well and incubated in the dark for 30 minutes. 50 μ L of Stop Solution is added to read well and a colorimetric plate reader (Biorad) measured each absorbance at 450/570 nm.

3.2.9. Cell Growth Assays

To determine cell viability in cells treated with IL-22 recombinant protein, IL-22BP, and IL-22 neutralizing antibody, daily cells counts along with the MTS assay was performed. For cell count, 25,000 cells were plated in 24-well culture plates with 5% FBS. Recombinant IL-22, IL-22BP, and IL-22 neutralizing antibody were added daily and cells were counted daily using tryphan blue exclusion assay (Gibco). For the MTS assay (Promega, Madison, WI, USA), 5,000 cells were seeded in 96-well culture plates and treated daily with recombinant IL-22, IL-22BP, and IL-22 neutralizing antibody for 3 days. Cell viability was then measured colorimetrically at 450nm using a Microplate reader (Biorad) and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1 (Biorad).

3.2.10. Colony Formation in Soft Agar

To make the base layer, 1.2% soft agar was prepared by autoclaving Bacto agar (Difco, Detroit, MI, USA) in distilled water. RPMI 1640 is then added to make a 0.6% agar and 3.0 mL of agar is added to the bottle of a 6-well plate and allowed to solidify. Cells were suspended in media containing 0.3% agar and RPMI 1640. 2 mL containing 20,000 cells were plated in a six-well plate coated with the base layer. The cells were fed every 4 days by adding 500 μ L of RPMI 1640/10% FBS. Colonies were stained with 0.05% crystal violet at 2 weeks. Quantification of cell colonies was done using at 40X magnification and images of the agar were analyzed using the Olympus 1X70 microscope.

3.2.11. ALK⁺ALCL Tumors and Immunohistochemistry

10 paraffin-embedded lymph node biopsies from patients with ALK⁺ALCL were obtained from the Cross Cancer Institute (Edmonton, AB, Canada) following approval by the institutional ethics committee. The diagnosis of these cases was based on the criteria established by the World Health Organization Classification scheme, and all cases were confirmed to express ALK bv. immunohistochemistry. Immunohistochemical staining was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections of 4 µM thickness were deparafinized and hydrated. Heat-induced epitope retrieval was performed using Tris buffer (pH 9.9; Dako) and a RHS. After incubation at 100°C for 10 minutes, slides were washed in running tap water for 5 minutes, and endogenous peroxidase were blocked using 10% H₂O₂ and methanol, followed by 5 minutes wash in running tap

water. Tissue sections were then incubated with goat anti-human IL-22R1 (1:500) (Capralogics, Hardwick, MA, USA) or rabbit anti-human IL-22 antibody (1:500) (Capralogics) overnight in a humidified chamber at 4°C. Both antibodies are specific to peptide antigens and antigen sequence analysis indicates peptide antigen specificity. After 3 wash with PBS, tissue sections were incubated with secondary antibodies: anti-rabbit IgG or anti-goat IgG (Dako) for 30 minutes at room temperature. The tissue sections were incubated with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine/H₂O₂ (Dako) for color development, using hematoxylin as a counterstain. To optimize the IHC staining, benign tonsils were used as positive and negative controls for IL-22 in which the mantle zone B-cells served as negative control. For IL-22R1, liver tissues were used as a positive control and benign tonsils were used as a negative control.

3.2.12. Statistical Analysis

Graphpad Instat 3 software was used for statistical analysis of the data. The association between IL-22 and cell growth was evaluated using the Student's t-test. A P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Each assay was performed at least in triplicate and the illustrative graphs are representative of the mean of the triplicate experiments. Error bars represent SEM.

3.3.1. Expression of IL-22R1, IL-10R2, and IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and tumors

The expression of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 in 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines was assessed. As shown in Figure 3.1, RT-PCR was performed and the amplifiable products for IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 were detectable in all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (lane a-c). While the IL-10R2 bands were of relatively even intensity among these 3 cell lines, SUP-M2 showed the strongest intensity for IL-22R1. HepG2 and a case of breast cancer served as the positive controls for IL-22R1 (lane d and e). IL-22BP, the naturally occurring IL-22R1 decoy, was not detected in any of the ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, but expressed in a case of breast cancer (lane e).

Next, IL-22R1 protein expression of IL-22R1 was assessed in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines using Western blot analysis. As shown in Figure 3.2, IL-22R1 protein was detectable in all ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (lane a-c) but not in normal peripheral blood T- and Blymphocytes (lane d-e). Correlating with the results obtained from the RT-PCR assays, IL-22R1 protein was detectable in all ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, but not in benign T- and Bcells harvested from the peripheral blood of a healthy individual. HepG2, the positive control, again showed strong expression of IL-22R1. To determine the sub-cellular localization of IL-22R1, immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy was performed. As shown in Figure 3.3, strong IL-22R1 was detected on the cell membrane and in the cytoplasm of SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299 and SUP-M2 cells.



Figure 3.1. mRNA expression of IL-22 receptors in ALK⁺ALCL. RNA extraction was performed on SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2 cells, and hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines HepG2. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 mRNA and the absence of IL-22BP mRNA in 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. HepG2 was included as a positive control for IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 and a breast tumor was included as a positive control for IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 mRDA and β-globin were included as internal controls.



Figure 3.2. Protein expression of IL-22 receptors in ALK⁺ALCL. Protein lysates for SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2, HepG2, and T/B-lymphocytes were used and lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. IL-22R1 was detected using an anti-IL-22R1 antibody. Western blot analysis confirmed the expression of IL-22R1 in all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines examined. T- and B-cells harvested from the peripheral blood of a healthy individual (cell sorted using flow cytometry) were included to confirm the lack of IL-22R1 expression in these cells. HepG2 was included as a positive control. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 3.3. IL-22R1 expression in in ALK⁺**ALCL cell lines.** Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscropy was employed to detect IL-22R1 expression on ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2. ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were fixed, permeabilized, and stained with Alexa 488 to detect IL-22R1 expression. Immunofluorescence staining of slides with antibodies directed against IL-22R1 (left panel) or control IgG (right panel) and confocal microscopy demonstrated the expression of IL-22R1 in ALK+ cell lines, SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2. Images were analyzed at 40X objective.

I next sought to determine whether ALK⁺ALCL cells express IL-22. As shown in Figure 3.4a, RT-PCR revealed that IL-22 mRNA was expressed in all three ALK⁺ALCL cell lines examined. The amplifiable PCR product was sequenced and confirmed to be full-length IL-22 (data not shown). In addition, ELISA assay for human IL-22 was performed using the supernatants of these 3 cell lines; soluble IL-22 was detectable in all three ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with the highest levels found in Karpas 299 (Figure 3.4b). HepG2 was included as a negative control since it has been previously reported to have undetectable levels of IL-22 (Radaeva et al., 2004).

To evaluate the expression of IL-22R1 and IL-22, 10 paraffin-embedded tumors and immunohistochemistry was employed. IL-22 was expressed in all tumors examined, as illustrated in Figure 3.5 (upper panel, A and B). Of note, a residual benign B-cell follicle included was not reactive with the anti-IL-22 antibody, thus keeping with the concept that IL-22 is a T-cell derived cytokine and thus not expressed in B-cells. In the lower panel of Figure 3.5 (C and D), scattered ALK⁺ALCL cells were reactive with anti-IL-22R1. Consistent with the results from confocal microscopy, IL-22R1 had a membranous/cytoplasmic staining pattern. To further support that IL-22R1 and IL-22 were expressed in the same cells, we employed double immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy, and the results are illustrated in Figure 3.6. IL-22 (red signal) and IL-22R1 (green signal) were detected in the same tumor cell.

130





b

Figure 3.4. Autocrine expression of IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. (a). RNA extraction was performed on SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2, and HepG2 cells. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of IL-22 mRNA in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. HepG2 cells were included as a negative control and GAPDH was included as an internal control. (b). Supernatant of cell lines were collected and IL-22 ELISA assay was performed to confirm the autocrine expression of IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. HepG2 was included as a negative control.



IL-22RI





Double staining of ALK⁺ALCL tumor with IL-22 and IL-22R1. Figure 3.6. Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscropy was employed to detect double staining of IL-22R1 and IL-22 expression on an ALK⁺ALCL tumor. ALK⁺ALCL tumor deparaffinized and stained with Alexa 488 and Alexa 555 to detect IL-22R1 and IL-22 expression. Immunofluorescence staining of slides with antibodies directed against IL-22 (second panel), IL-22R1 (third panel) or no antibody control (first panel) and confocal IL-22R1 microscopy demonstrated the expression of and IL-22. Cytoplasmic/membranous expression of IL-22R1 (red) and IL-22 (green) was demonstrated on the same tumor cell (left image). Images were analyzed at 40X objective.

3.3.2. IL-22 modulates cell growth in ALK⁺ALCL

To assess the biological effects of IL-22 stimulation, all three ALK^+ALCL cell lines were serum-starved for 16 hours followed by daily treatment (5 days total) with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-22 protein. Serum starvation of cells are required to equilibrate cells to G_0 phase (Gustincich and Schneider, 1993). Daily manual counts of viable cells were performed using trypan blue exclusion. Jurkat cells, a T-lymphoblast cell line that lacks IL-22R1 expression and normal peripheral blood lymphocytes, were included as negative controls. As shown in Figure 3.7, a significant increase in the cell number was observed in all three ALK^+ALCL cell lines on day 3. In contrast, no change in cell growth was observed in Jurkat and normal lymphocytes. To assess the rate of cellular growth, MTS assay was performed on SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cell after treatment of recombinant IL-22 for 3 days. The absorbance values were normalized and results are summarized in Figure 3.9. The results were significantly higher in the treated cells in both SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 when compared to the control samples (*P* values, 0.0001, 0.028, respectively, Student's t-test).

To explore the effects on cell growth after IL-22 blockade, all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were serum-starved for 16 hours, and treated daily with 5 μ g/mL of IL-22BP protein or 10 μ g/mL of IL-22 neutralizing antibody. With the tryphan blue exclusion assay, all ALK⁺ALCL cell lines showed a significantly lower viable cell number in the treated samples, whereas no significant differences were detected between the treated and untreated cells in Jurkat and benign lymphocytes (Figure 3.8). SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 treated cells showed a decrease in cell viability at approximately Day 4 whereas SUP-M2 treated cells had a significant decrease in viability at Day 3. The blockade experiments were repeated on SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells using the MTS assay (Figure 3.9). Similar results were obtained with the use of IL-22BP (*P* values, 0.02 for both SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299) or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (*P* values, 0.03 and 0.007 for SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299, respectively) where a decrease in cell growth was observed in the treated cells.



Figure 3.7. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-22 protein (\blacksquare) or no treatment (\diamondsuit). SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 cells were serum starved for 16 hours followed by daily treatment with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-22 protein. Daily cell counts were performed using trypan blue exclusion assay. Cell numbers were counted using a hemocytometer at 10X objective. Treatment of 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with recombinant IL-22 protein induced a marked increase in cell number seen at approximately Day 4. Jurkat cells and benign lymphocytes were included as negative controls and were subjected to the same experimental conditions. No change in cell numbers was observed in either cell types. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Figure 3.8. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK⁺**ALCL cell lines.** 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment (\blacksquare) or no treatment (\diamondsuit). SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 cells were serum starved for 16 hours followed by daily treatment with either recombinant IL-22BP protein (5 µg/mL) or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (10 µg/mL). Daily cell counts were performed using trypan blue exclusion assay. Cell numbers were counted using a hemocytometer at 10X objective. Jurkat cells and benign lymphocytes were included as negative controls and were subjected to the same experimental conditions. No change in cell numbers was observed in either cell types. (a). Treatment of all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with recombinant IL-22BP protein resulted in a marked decrease in cell number seen at approximately Day 4 for SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299. A significant decrease in cell growth was observed at Day 3 for SUP-M2 cells. (Continued next page).



Figure 3.8. (continued) (b). Treatment of all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with IL-22 neutralizing antibody resulted in a marked decrease in cell number seen at approximately Day 4 for SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299. A significant decrease in cell growth was observed at Day 3 for SUP-M2 cells. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.



Figure 3.9. IL-22 modulated cell proliferation in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines using MTS assay. SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-22 protein (10 ng/mL), recombinant IL-22BP protein (5 μ g/mL), or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (10 μ g/mL) and no treatment. SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells were plated in a 96-well culture plate and serum starved for 16 hours followed by daily treatment with the three various treatments for 3 days. Cell viability was measured colorimetrically at 450 nm and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1. Treatment of SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 with recombinant IL-22 protein induced a significant increase in the cell growth whereas treatment with IL-22BP and IL-22 neutralizing antibody induced a significant decrease in cell growth. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

3.3.3. IL-22 modulates tumorigenicity assessed by colony formation in soft agar

To determine the biological effects and significance of IL-22 autocrine stimulation, we blocked IL-22 using 5 µg/mL of IL-22BP recombinant protein or 10 µg/mL of L-22 neutralizing antibody, and assessed changes in soft agar colony formation. Since only tumorigenic cells have the ability to grow on soft agar, this is an excellent research tool for investigating the tumorigenic potential of cells (Kohlhase et al., 1996). All 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, including SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2, were serumstarved for 16 hours, treated with either IL-22BP or IL-22 neutralizing antibody for 24 hours, and observed for colony formation for 14 days. Compared to the untreated, ALK⁺ALCL cells treated with IL-22BP or the IL-22 neutralizing antibody resulted in a significant decrease in the number of colonies in all three cell lines (P value 0.0001 for all 3 cell lines) (Figure 3.10a), with the greatest effect seen in Karpas 299. In contrast, treatment of these cells with recombinant IL-22 proteins (10 ng/mL) for 24 hours led to a significant increase in the number of colonies in SUP-M2 (P value 0.0001), SU-DHL-1 (P value 0.0001), but not Karpas 299 (P value 0.339). The lack of significant effect on Karpas 299 may be related to the fact that these cells produce the highest level of IL-22 among all 3 cell lines (as illustrated in Figure 3.4) and a higher concentration of recombinant IL-22 protein may be required to see a significant difference. Images of cell colony formation with and without IL-22BP recombinant protein treatment are illustrated in Figure 3.10b.



Figure 3.10. IL-22 modulated ALK⁺ALCL colony formation. SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299 and SUP-M2 cells were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-22 protein (10 ng/mL), recombinant IL-22BP protein (5 µg/mL), or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (10 µg/mL) and no treatment. ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were serum starved for 16 hours followed by treatment with the three different treatments. 20,000 cells were then grown in 0.3% agar/RPMI 1640 for 2 weeks. Cell colonies were then stained with 0.05% crystal violet and quantified using 40X objective. (a). Treatment of ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with recombinant IL-22 protein induced a significant increase in colony formation in soft agar in SU-DHL-1 and SUP-M2 cells (top panel). There was no significant change in colony number in Karpas 299 cells after two weeks, probably related to the fact that Karpas 299 cell produce a relatively high level of endogenous IL-22. Treatment of the 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with recombinant IL-22BP protein or IL-22 neutralizing antibody induced a significant decrease in colony formation in soft agar (bottom panels). Karpas 299 cells revealed the greatest difference in colony formation between treated and untreated cells in two weeks (middle panel). Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. (Continued next page).



Figure 3.10. (continued). (b). Images of SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 cells before and after treatment with 5 μ g/mL of recombinant IL-22BP protein. A significant decrease in cell colonies was observed in the treated samples. Images were photographed using Olympus 1X70 microscope at 20X magnification.

3.3.4. IL-22 modulated STAT3 and MAPK signaling

Because IL-22 have been reported to activate STAT3 in a number of non-hematologic cell lines (Dumoutier et al., 2000; Kotenko et al., 2001; Lejeune et al., 2002; Xie et al., 2000), I sought to determine if IL-22 also contribute to STAT3 activation, a mechanism know to contribute to tumorigenesis in ALK⁺ALCL cells. IL-22 blockade using IL-22BP recombinant protein led to a detectable decrease in pSTAT3 in SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 (Figure 3.11a illustrates results for Karpas 299). Similar results were observed when these cell lines were treated with an IL-22 neutralizing antibody (Figure 3.11b). Next, cells were treated with IL-22 recombinant protein to determine whether STAT3 would be further stimulated. SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells were serum-starved for 16 hours prior to treatment with 10 ng/mL of IL-22 protein for 0 and 30 minutes. Figure 3.12a illustrates a detectable increase in the pSTAT3 levels with increasing IL-22 treatment in Karpas 299 cells. HepG2 cells stimulated with recombinant IL-22 protein were included as a positive control with a detectable increase in pSTAT3 observed in the treated cells (Figure 3.12b).

IL-22 is also known to activate major MAPK pathways, including ERK1/2, JNK/SAPK and p38. Interestingly, ERK1/2 kinase has been implicated in ALK⁺ALCL through NPM-ALK (Marzec et al., 2007). Therefore, it is of interest to determine whether these kinases can be phosphorylated by the addition of recombinant IL-22 protein ALK⁺ALCL cells. As seen in Figure 3.12c, an increase in the phosphorylated form of ERK1/2, JNK/SAPK, and p38 were detected after 30 minute exposure to recombinant IL-22 protein in Karpas 299. In contrast, the total levels of these three kinases were similar before and after the treatment.

To further evaluate the role of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL, IL-22R1 expression was downregulated using siRNA. 24 hours after siRNA transfection, there was a substantial decrease in IL-22R1 cells transfected with IL-22R1 siRNA but not scrambled siRNA (Figure 3.13). Correlating with this change, pSTAT3 was decreased in cells treated with IL-22R1 siRNA.



Figure 3.11. Effects of IL-22 on STAT3 signaling pathway. SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299 and SUP-M2 cells were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-22BP protein (5 μ g/mL) or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (10 μ g/mL) and no treatment. ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were serum starved for 16 hours followed by treatment with either recombinant IL-22BP protein (5 µg/mL) or IL-22 neutralizing antibody (10 µg/mL) for 0, 30 minutes, 1 hour, 4 hour and 24 hour. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using an antipSTAT3 antibody followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3 using an anti-STAT3 antibody. Densitometry was performed to quantify protein expression levels of pSTAT3 (figure illustrates results for Karpas 299). (a). Treatment of Karpas 299 with 5 µg/mL recombinant IL-22BP protein markedly decreased pSTAT3 protein level with total STAT3 levels staying the same in all samples. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. (b). Treatment of Karpas 299 with 10 µg/mL IL-22 neutralizing antibody markedly decreased pSTAT3 protein level with total STAT3 levels staying the same in all samples. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 3.12. Effects of IL-22 on STAT3 and MAPK signaling pathway. SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299 and SUP-M2 cells were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-22 protein (10 ng/mL) and no treatment. ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were serum starved for 16 hours followed by treatment with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-22 protein for 0 and Densitometry was performed to quantify protein expression levels of 30 minutes. pSTAT3 (figure illustrates results for Karpas 299). Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. (a). Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using an anti-pSTAT3 antibody followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3 using an anti-STAT3 antibody. Treatment of Karpas 299 with recombinant IL-22 protein for 30 minutes markedly increased pSTAT3 protein level with total STAT3 levels staying the same at 0 and 30 minutes. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. (b). HepG2 was included as a positive control and was subjected to the same experimental treatment with recombinant IL-22 protein for 0 and 30 minutes. pSTAT3 levels were markedly increased in the 30 minute treatment whereas total STAT3 levels stayed the same at 0 and 30 minutes. (Continued next page).



Figure 3.12 (continued) (c). Phosphorylated JNK/SAPK, ERK1/2, and p38 were detected using anti-pJNK/SAPK, anti-pERK1/2, and anti-phospho-p38 followed by detection of the total cellular JNK/SAPK, ERK1/2, and p38. Treatment of Karpas 299 with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-22 protein for 30 minutes resulted in an increase in the phosphorylated forms of JNK/SAPK, ERK1/2, and p38 with the total levels of JNK/SAPK, ERK1/2, and p38 not changing between 0 and 30 minute treatments. pSTAT3 protein level with total STAT3 levels staying the same at 0 and 30 minutes. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 3.13. IL-22R1 directly up-regulated STAT3 activation. SU-DHL-1 cells were transfected with either IL-22R1 siRNA or control siRNA. After 24 hour incubation, lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. IL-22R1 was detected using an anti-IL-22R1 antibody. Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using an anti-STAT3 antibody followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3 using an anti-STAT3 antibody. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. Downregulation of IL-22R1 using siRNA was sufficient in reducing pSTAT3 expression by Western blot analysis. In contrast, the control siRNA had no change in IL-22R1 and pSTAT3 expression.

3.3.5. NPM-ALK induced IL-22R1 expression

Because NPM-ALK is the characteristic oncoprotein in this tumor type, I asked if NPM-ALK is responsible for the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL. Jurkat cells, a T-lymphoblast cell line that lacks IL-22R1 expression, was subjected to transfection with either *NPM-ALK* vector or empty vector. The expression of the NPM-ALK transgene was confirmed by RT-PCR (Figure 3.14a) in cells transfected with *NPM-ALK* but not the negative control vector. In cells transfected with *NPM-ALK*, IL-22R1 protein expression was detectable by Western blots (Figure 3.14b). In contrast, Jurkat cells transfected with the empty vector had no detectable levels of Il-22R1 protein expression.

To assess the ability of IL-22R1 to stimulate STAT3 activation by NPM-ALK, Jurkat cells transfected with either NPM-ALK or an empty vector were treated with IL-22 for 30 minutes and subjected to Western blot. Interestingly, only cells transfected with NPM-ALK but not the empty vector showed detectable pSTAT3 after treatment with IL-22 (Figure 3.15). This finding correlates with Figure 3.14b where IL-22R1 expression was stimulated by NPM-ALK transfection.



Figure 3.14. Induction of IL-22R1 expression in NPM-ALK activated cell line. Jurkat cells were transfected with 1 μ g of NPM-ALK vector or an empty vector. (a). RT-PCR studies confirmed the expression of *NPM-ALK* in Jurkat cells after transfection. In contrast transfection with the empty vector had no detectable levels of NPM-ALK. GAPDH and β -globin were included as internal controls. (b). Western blot analysis was performed to detect IL-22R1 in the NPM-ALK-transfected cells. Protein lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. IL-22R1 was detected using an anti-IL-22R1 antibody. Transfection of Jurkat cells with *NPM-ALK* induced expression of IL-22R1. In contrast, no IL-22R1 expression was detected in Jurkat cells transfected with an empty vector. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 3.15. Induction of STAT3 activation in NPM-ALK activated cell line. Jurkat cells were transfected with 1 μ g of NPM-ALK vector or an empty vector and treated with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-22 protein for 30 minutes. Protein lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using an anti-pSTAT3 antibody followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3 using an anti-STAT3 antibody. pSTAT3 was detected in Jurkat cells transfected with NPM-ALK. In contrast, no pSTAT3 expression was detected in Jurkat cells transfected with an empty vector. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.

3.3. Discussion

IL-22, a recently discovered cytokine (Dumoutier et al., 2000), is a member of the IL-10 family proteins largely expressed by activated T- and NK-cells (Kotenko, 2002); (Brand et al., 2007). The expression of one of the IL-22R heterodimeric proteins, namely IL-22R1, is relatively restricted and found largely on epithelial cells from various mucosal surfaces. Characteristically, IL-22R1 is not expressed in benign lymphoid cells, resting and activated monocytes, and dendritic cells (Wolk et al., 2002; Wolk et al., 2005; Wolk et al., 2006). In vitro, IL-22 promotes cell proliferation and anti-apoptotic effects in various epithelial cell lines. It also has been shown to activate a number of signaling pathways in epithelial cells, including those of STAT3, MAPK and AKT (Lejeune et al., 2002; Weber et al., 2006). Similar to STAT3 and ERK1/2, AKT signaling pathway is also involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis (Dauer et al., 2005). Based on these findings, it is widely believed that IL-22 plays an important role in innate immunity (Gurney, 2004). In this chapter, I sought to identify a novel autocrine stimulatory pathway that may possibly contribute to the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL through activation of the STAT3 signaling pathway.

One of the significant findings of this study is that of aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL, a type of mature T-cell neoplasm. The expression of IL-22R1, initially identified in oligonucleotide arrays, was confirmed by several different methods such as RT-PCR, Western blots, confocal microscopy and immunohistochemistry. The expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL is a consistent finding, since it is readily detectable in all ALK⁺ALCL tumors and cell lines examined. I also identified consistent expression

of IL-22 by these tumors, a finding that is not too surprising considering that ALK⁺ALCL is a T-cell neoplasm. A recently published study also reported the presence of IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL (Lamant et al., 2006). In view of the existence of a naturally occurring IL-22R decoy, namely IL-22BP, I also performed RT-PCR to detect the expression of this protein in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and the results indicate that this regulatory protein is consistently absent in these cells. Taken together, the findings in this chapter strongly suggest that the IL-22 autocrine stimulatory pathway is functional and un-checked in ALK⁺ALCL. Functional assays including the soft agar colony formation assay support the concept that the IL-22 autocrine pathway is biological significant in ALK⁺ALCL and contributes to the tumorigenicity.

In keeping with the previous findings of IL-22 mediated activation of the STAT3 pathway in a number of epithelial cell types (Lejeune et al., 2002; Nagalakshmi et al., 2004; Weber et al., 2006), I found that STAT3 activation can be enhanced by IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL cells. This finding is of great interest, since constitutive activation of STAT3 has been shown to be crucial to the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL. Specifically, blockade of STAT3 signaling induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (Amin, 2004). In another study, Chiarle *et al.* showed that oncogenic effects of NPM-ALK is dependent on STAT3 activation (Chiarle et al., 2005). Thus, enhancement of STAT3 activation in this cell-type may likely explain the increased tumorigenicity induced by IL-22. Our finding also further support the concept that STAT3 activation in ALK⁺ALCL is multi-factorial, as first pointed out by Zhang *et al.* (Zhang et al., 2002). In addition to NPM-ALK, it has been reported that Src (Cussac et al., 2004), JAK3

(Amin and Lai, 2007; Amin et al., 2003b; Han et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2002), and IL-9 (Xin 2006) contributes to deregulate this signaling pathway. The relatively high levels of IL-9 production in this cell-type may explain the production of IL-22, as IL-22 is well known to be an IL-9-inducible cytokine (Dumoutier et al., 2000). Our lab has also recently showed that the sustained STAT3 activation is potentiated by the loss of SHP1, a tyrosine phosphatase that normally provides negative feedback to the JAK3/STAT3 signaling exist in ALK⁺ALCL (Han et al., 2006).

Of note, other than the STAT3 signaling pathway, IL-22 has been reported to activate the three major MAPK pathways that converge on extracellular signal-regulated kinases, including ERK1/2, JNK, and p38 kinase pathways (Andoh et al., 2005; Ikeuchi et al., 2005; Lejeune et al., 2002; Nagai et al., 2007; Radaeva et al., 2004). All of these signaling pathways play pivotal role(s) in a variety of cellular responses, including cell proliferation, cell differentiation and cell survival (Nagai et al., 2007; Torii et al., 2006). Specifically, ERK activation is known to downregulate anti-proliferative genes to allow successful G_1 phase progression (Yamamoto et al., 2006). The JNK and p38 kinase signaling pathways are involved in many environmental stress responses, and has been reported to regulate apoptosis (Davis, 2000; Tournier et al., 2000; Wang et al., 2004). These MAPK pathways, which have been implicated in transformation and tumor progression in many human cancers (Du et al., 2004; Nagata and Todokoro, 1999; Ono and Han, 2000), were confirmed to be activated by IL-22 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and stimulation of these pathways likely further promotes the tumorigenic effects of IL-22.

Thus, the finding that IL-22 induces up-regulation of the phosphorylated/active form of ERK, JNK, and p38 is significant.

Since NPM-ALK plays a key role in the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL, I investigated if NPM-ALK is directly responsible for the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 expression. Transfection experiments using Jurkat cells, a T-lymphoblast cell line that lack IL-22R1 expression, strongly support that NPM-ALK expression can induce IL-22R1 expression, which in turn can activate STAT3 (Figure 3.13, 3.14). Thus, these results have clearly shown that NPM-ALK expression can convert an 'IL-22 unresponsive phenotype' into an 'IL-22 responsive phenotype'. The mechanism by which NPM-ALK mediates this effect is unclear, but it is likely that specific signaling pathways may be implicated. As previously mentioned, NPM-ALK has been reported to induce the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in ALK⁺ ALCL cell lines (Marzec et al., 2007). Interestingly, scanning of the promoter region of IL-22R1 revealed elk-1 and RREB-1 transcription factors. Elk-1 is known to be phosphorylated by ERK1/2 (Conner et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2006), and RREB-1 is involved in Ras signal transduction (Thiagalingam et al., 1996), which is known to activate the MAPK/ERK kinase (Mor and Philips, 2006). This may provide another possible explanation as to the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL, where there is a positive feedback loop between ERK1/2 phosphorylation and IL-22R1 activation. Figure 3.16 illustrates a hypothetical model of IL-22 autocrine pathway in ALK⁺ALCL.



Figure 3.16. A hypothetical model of the IL-22 autocrine pathway in ALK⁺ALCL. IL-22 is an inflammatory cytokine that is produced by T-cells. The cytokine may bind to IL-22BP which will prevent its binding to IL-22R1. For IL-22 to exert its biological function, it must bind to IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 simultaneously. In ALK⁺ALCL, the IL-22 receptor likely activates JAK3, which contributes to tyrosine phosphorylation and activation of STAT3. Once activated, the STAT3 homodimers migrate to the nucleus to modulate transcription of specific genes, promoting cell survival and growth. IL-22 is also known to activate the MAPK pathway, which has been recently shown to be important in the pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL. NPM-ALK, a tyrosine kinase involved in the activation of STAT3 and MAPK pathway in ALK⁺ALCL, is implicated in the induction of IL-22R1 expression. IL-9, a cytokine known to induce IL-22 secretion, has been recently shown to be produced by ALK⁺ALCL.

Multiple experiments in this study have identified an IL-22 autocrine stimulatory pathway that promotes tumorigenicity and cell growth in ALK⁺ALCL. In contrast, another study reported that IL-22 mediates reduction in tumor growth and cell cycle arrest via downregulating ERK1/2 and AKT activation in murine breast cancer cell lines (Weber et al., 2006). I believe that there are at least three possible explanations for this discrepancy. First, human ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were used throughout this chapter whereas the paper by Weber et al. primarily involved murine breast cancer cell lines. Therefore, the effects of IL-22 may be specific to cell-type, and possibly, species. Second, it has been reported that the biological effects of IL-22 are concentrationdependent. In one study, a relatively low IL-22 concentration led to cell proliferation, whereas a relatively high IL-22 concentration suppressed cell proliferation in HepG2 cells (Radaeva et al., 2004). In this regard, Weber et al. employed 50 ng/mL of IL-22, a concentration that is 5-fold higher than what is used in most studies as well as this chapter (Weber et al., 2006). Through screening of a cohort of primary breast tumors for IL-22 and its corresponding receptors by RT-PCR, I have identified IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 in 10/10 cases, IL-22 in 0/10 cases and IL-22BP in 7/10 breast tumors. With this finding, the third possible reason for discrepancy between the findings in this chapter and the study by Weber et al. is the strong presence of the receptor antagonist IL-22BP in breast cancer, which may have prevented recombinant IL-22 protein from exerting its pro-stimulatory function.

Of note, a recent paper using cDNA microarray has demonstrated that ALK ALCL produces IL-22 (Lamant et al., 2006) however, the study did not investigate the

expression of IL-22R1. More recent studies in our laboratory have shown that the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 is not restricted to ALK⁺ALCL. In fact, one of the ALK-ALCL cell lines, MAC-2A, showed IL-22R1 expression (data not shown). Thus, mechanisms other than NPM-ALK likely induce aberrant IL-22R1 expression in lymphoma cells. It is highly likely that the IL-22 autocrine stimulatory pathway also carry important biological significance in the lymphomagenesis of ALK⁻ALCL, and this area warrants further studies.

In conclusion, I present the first evidence of aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in a human lymphoid malignancy. This aberrancy, which is linked to the oncoprotein NPM-ALK, creates an abnormal autocrine stimulatory pathway that promotes tumorigenesis, likely by activating multiple signaling pathways including that of STAT3 and MAPK. These findings suggest that IL-22 signaling pathway may be a useful therapeutic target in ALK⁺ALCL.
3.5. References

Amin, H. M., and Lai, R. (2007). Pathobiology of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood *110*, 2259-2267.

Amin, H. M., Medeiros, L. J., Ma, Y., Feretzaki, M., Das, P., Leventaki, V., Rassidakis, G. Z., O'Connor, S. L., McDonnell, T. J., and Lai, R. (2003). Inhibition of JAK3 induces apoptosis and decreases anaplastic lymphoma kinase activity in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene *22*, 5399-5407.

Amin HM, M. T., Ma Y, Lin Q, Fujio Y, Kunisada K, Leventaki V, Das P, Rassidakis GZ, Cutler C, Medeiros LJ, Lai R (2004). Selective inhibition of STAT3 induces apoptosis and G(1) cell cycle arrest in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene 23, 5426-5434.

Andoh, A., Zhang, Z., Inatomi, O., Fujino, S., Deguchi, Y., Araki, Y., Tsujikawa, T., Kitoh, K., Kim-Mitsuyama, S., Takayanagi, A., *et al.* (2005). Interleukin-22, a member of the IL-10 subfamily, induces inflammatory responses in colonic subepithelial myofibroblasts. Gastroenterology *129*, 969-984.

Bischof, D., Pulford, K., Mason, D. Y., and Morris, S. W. (1997). Role of the nucleophosmin (NPM) portion of the non-Hodgkin's lymphoma-associated NPM-anaplastic lymphoma kinase fusion protein in oncogenesis. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 2312-2325.

Brand, S., Dambacher, J., Beigel, F., Zitzmann, K., Heeg, M. H., Weiss, T. S., Prufer, T., Olszak, T., Steib, C. J., Storr, M., *et al.* (2007). IL-22 mediated liver cell regeneration is abrogated by SOCS-1/3 overexpression in vitro. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol *292*, G1019-G1028.

Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell *98*, 295-303.

Burke, W. M., Jin, X., Lin, H. J., Huang, M., Liu, R., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2001). Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 suppresses growth of human ovarian and breast cancer cells. Oncogene 20, 7925-7934.

Catlett-Falcone R, L. T., Oshiro MM, Turkson J, Levitzki A, Savino R, Ciliberto G, Moscinski L, Fernandez-Luna JL, Nunez G, Dalton WS, Jove R (1999). Constitutive Activation of Stat3 Signaling Confers Resistance to Apoptosis in Human U266 Myeloma Cells. Immunity *10*, 105-115.

Chiarle, R., Simmons, W. J., Cai, H., Dhall, G., Zamo, A., Raz, R., Karras, J. G., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2005). Stat3 is required for ALK-mediated lymphomagenesis and provides a possible therapeutic target. Nat Med *11*, 623-629.

Conner, S. R., Scott, G., and Aplin, A. E. (2003). Adhesion-dependent activation of the ERK1/2 cascade is by-passed in melanoma cells. J Biol Chem 278, 34548-34554. Davis, R. J. (2000). Signal transduction by the JNK group of MAP kinases. Cell 103, 239-252.

Du, L., Lyle, C. S., Obey, T. B., Gaarde, W. A., Muir, J. A., Bennett, B. L., and Chambers, T. C. (2004). Inhibition of cell proliferation and cell cycle progression by specific inhibition of basal JNK activity: evidence that mitotic Bcl-2 phosphorylation is JNK-independent. J Biol Chem 279, 11957-11966.

Dumoutier, L., Lejeune, D., Colau, D., and Renauld, J. C. (2001). Cloning and characterization of IL-22 binding protein, a natural antagonist of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor/IL-22. J Immunol *166*, 7090-7095.

Dumoutier, L., Louahed, J., and Renauld, J. C. (2000). Cloning and characterization of IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor (IL-TIF), a novel cytokine structurally related to IL-10 and inducible by IL-9. J Immunol *164*, 1814-1819.

Duyster, J., Bai, R. Y., and Morris, S. W. (2001). Translocations involving anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK). Oncogene 20, 5623-5637.

Fujimoto, J., Shiota, M., Iwahara, T., Seki, N., Satoh, H., Mori, S., and Yamamoto, T. (1996). Characterization of the transforming activity of p80, a hyperphosphorylated protein in a Ki-1 lymphoma cell line with chromosomal translocation t(2;5). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 4181-4186.

Fujitani, Y., Hibi, M., Fukada, T., Takahashi-Tezuka, M., Yoshida, H., Yamaguchi, T., Sugiyama, K., Yamanaka, Y., Nakajima, K., and Hirano, T. (1997). An alternative pathway for STAT activation that is mediated by the direct interaction between JAK and STAT. Oncogene *14*, 751-761.

Gruenberg, B. H., Schoenemeyer, A., Weiss, B., Toschi, L., Kunz, S., Wolk, K., Asadullah, K., and Sabat, R. (2001). A novel, soluble homologue of the human IL-10 receptor with preferential expression in placenta. Genes Immun *2*, 329-334.

Gurney, A. L. (2004). IL-22, a Th1 cytokine that targets the pancreas and select other peripheral tissues. Int Immunopharmacol 4, 669-677.

Gustincich, S., and Schneider, C. (1993). Serum deprivation response gene is induced by serum starvation but not by contact inhibition. Cell Growth Differ *4*, 753-760.

Han, Y., Amin, H. M., Franko, B., Frantz, C., Shi, X., and Lai, R. (2006). Loss of SHP1 enhances JAK3/STAT3 signaling and decreases proteosome degradation of JAK3 and NPM-ALK in ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood *108*, 2796-2803.

Ikeuchi, H., Kuroiwa, T., Hiramatsu, N., Kaneko, Y., Hiromura, K., Ueki, K., and Nojima, Y. (2005). Expression of interleukin-22 in rheumatoid arthritis: potential role as a proinflammatory cytokine. Arthritis Rheum *52*, 1037-1046.

Khoury JD, M. L., Rassidakis GZ, Yared MA, Tsioli P, Leventaki V, Schmitt-Graeff A, Herling M, Amin HM, Lai R. (2003). Differential expression and clinical significance of tyrosine-phosphorylated STAT3 in ALK+ and ALK- anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *9*, 3692-3699.

Kotenko, S. V. (2002). The family of IL-10-related cytokines and their receptors: related, but to what extent? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 13, 223-240.

Kotenko, S. V., Izotova, L. S., Mirochnitchenko, O. V., Esterova, E., Dickensheets, H., Donnelly, R. P., and Pestka, S. (2001). Identification of the functional interleukin-22 (IL-22) receptor complex: the IL-10R2 chain (IL-10Rbeta) is a common chain of both the IL-10 and IL-22 (IL-10-related T cell-derived inducible factor, IL-TIF) receptor complexes. J Biol Chem 276, 2725-2732.

Lai, R., Rassidakis, G. Z., Lin, Q., Atwell, C., Medeiros, L. J., and Amin, H. M. (2005). Jak3 activation is significantly associated with ALK expression in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Hum Pathol *36*, 939-944.

Lamant, L., De Reynies, A., Duplantier, M. M., Rickman, D. S., Sabourdy, F., Giuriato, S., Brugieres, L., Gaulard, P., Espinos, E., and Delsol, G. (2007). Gene expression profiling of systemic anaplastic large cell lymphoma reveals differences depending on ALK status and two distinct morphological ALK+ subtypes. Blood *109*, 2156-2164.

Lejeune, D., Dumoutier, L., Constantinescu, S., Kruijer, W., Schuringa, J. J., and Renauld, J. C. (2002). Interleukin-22 (IL-22) activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP kinase pathways in a rat hepatoma cell line. Pathways that are shared with and distinct from IL-10. J Biol Chem 277, 33676-33682.

Levy, D. E., and Lee, C. K. (2002). What does Stat3 do? J Clin Invest *109*, 1143-1148. Lu, Z., and Xu, S. (2006). ERK1/2 MAP kinases in cell survival and apoptosis. IUBMB Life *58*, 621-631.

Marzec, M., Kasprzycka, M., Liu, X., Raghunath, P. N., Wlodarski, P., and Wasik, M. A. (2007). Oncogenic tyrosine kinase NPM/ALK induces activation of the MEK/ERK signaling pathway independently of c-Raf. Oncogene *26*, 813-821.

Mor, A., and Philips, M. R. (2006). Compartmentalized Ras/MAPK signaling. Annu Rev Immunol 24, 771-800.

Morris, S. W., Kirstein, M. N., Valentine, M. B., Dittmer, K. G., Shapiro, D. N., Saltman, D. L., and Look, A. T. (1994). Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Science *263*, 1281-1284.

Nagai, H., Noguchi, T., Takeda, K., and Ichijo, H. (2007). Pathophysiological roles of ASK1-MAP kinase signaling pathways. J Biochem Mol Biol *40*, 1-6.

Nagalakshmi, M. L., Rascle, A., Zurawski, S., Menon, S., and de Waal Malefyt, R. (2004). Interleukin-22 activates STAT3 and induces IL-10 by colon epithelial cells. Int Immunopharmacol 4, 679-691.

Nagata, Y., and Todokoro, K. (1999). Requirement of activation of JNK and p38 for environmental stress-induced erythroid differentiation and apoptosis and of inhibition of ERK for apoptosis. Blood *94*, 853-863.

Ohler, L., Geissler, K., and Hinterberger, W. (2003). Diagnostic and prognostic value of colony formation of hematopoietic progenitor cells in myeloid malignancies. Wien Klin Wochenschr *115*, 537-546.

Ono, K., and Han, J. (2000). The p38 signal transduction pathway: activation and function. Cell Signal 12, 1-13.

Qiu, L., Lai, R., Lin, Q., Lau, E., Thomazy, D. M., Calame, D., Ford, R. J., Kwak, L. W., Kirken, R. A., and Amin, H. M. (2006). Autocrine release of interleukin-9 promotes Jak3-dependent survival of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma cells. Blood *108*, 2407-2415.

Radaeva, S., Sun, R., Pan, H. N., Hong, F., and Gao, B. (2004). Interleukin 22 (IL-22) plays a protective role in T cell-mediated murine hepatitis: IL-22 is a survival factor for hepatocytes via STAT3 activation. Hepatology *39*, 1332-1342.

Shiota, M., Fujimoto, J., Takenaga, M., Satoh, H., Ichinohasama, R., Abe, M., Nakano, M., Yamamoto, T., and Mori, S. (1994). Diagnosis of t(2;5)(p23;q35)-associated Ki-1 lymphoma with immunohistochemistry. Blood *84*, 3648-3652.

Slupianek, A., Nieborowska-Skorska, M., Hoser, G., Morrione, A., Majewski, M., Xue, L., Morris, S. W., Wasik, M. A., and Skorski, T. (2001). Role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway in nucleophosmin/anaplastic lymphoma kinase-mediated lymphomagenesis. Cancer Res *61*, 2194-2199.

Song, G., Ouyang, G., and Bao, S. (2005). The activation of Akt/PKB signaling pathway and cell survival. J Cell Mol Med 9, 59-71.

Thiagalingam, A., De Bustros, A., Borges, M., Jasti, R., Compton, D., Diamond, L., Mabry, M., Ball, D. W., Baylin, S. B., and Nelkin, B. D. (1996). RREB-1, a novel zinc finger protein, is involved in the differentiation response to Ras in human medullary thyroid carcinomas. Mol Cell Biol *16*, 5335-5345.

Torii, S., Yamamoto, T., Tsuchiya, Y., and Nishida, E. (2006). ERK MAP kinase in G cell cycle progression and cancer. Cancer Sci 97, 697-702.

Tournier, C., Hess, P., Yang, D. D., Xu, J., Turner, T. K., Nimnual, A., Bar-Sagi, D., Jones, S. N., Flavell, R. A., and Davis, R. J. (2000). Requirement of JNK for stress-induced activation of the cytochrome c-mediated death pathway. Science 288, 870-874.

Wang, W. H., Gregori, G., Hullinger, R. L., and Andrisani, O. M. (2004). Sustained activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathways by hepatitis B virus X protein mediates apoptosis via induction of Fas/FasL and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor 1/TNF-alpha expression. Mol Cell Biol 24, 10352-10365.

Weber, G. F., Gaertner, F. C., Erl, W., Janssen, K. P., Blechert, B., Holzmann, B., Weighardt, H., and Essler, M. (2006). IL-22-mediated tumor growth reduction correlates with inhibition of ERK1/2 and AKT phosphorylation and induction of cell cycle arrest in the G2-M phase. J Immunol *177*, 8266-8272.

Weiss, B., Wolk, K., Grunberg, B. H., Volk, H. D., Sterry, W., Asadullah, K., and Sabat, R. (2004). Cloning of murine IL-22 receptor alpha 2 and comparison with its human counterpart. Genes Immun *5*, 330-336.

Wolk, K., Kunz, S., Asadullah, K., and Sabat, R. (2002). Cutting edge: immune cells as sources and targets of the IL-10 family members? J Immunol *168*, 5397-5402.

Wolk, K., Witte, E., Reineke, U., Witte, K., Friedrich, M., Sterry, W., Asadullah, K., Volk, H. D., and Sabat, R. (2005). Is there an interaction between interleukin-10 and interleukin-22? Genes Immun *6*, 8-18.

Wolk, K., Witte, E., Wallace, E., Docke, W. D., Kunz, S., Asadullah, K., Volk, H. D., Sterry, W., and Sabat, R. (2006). IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. Eur J Immunol *36*, 1309-1323.

Xie, M. H., Aggarwal, S., Ho, W. H., Foster, J., Zhang, Z., Stinson, J., Wood, W. I., Goddard, A. D., and Gurney, A. L. (2000). Interleukin (IL)-22, a novel human cytokine that signals through the interferon receptor-related proteins CRF2-4 and IL-22R. J Biol Chem *275*, 31335-31339.

Xu, W., Presnell, S. R., Parrish-Novak, J., Kindsvogel, W., Jaspers, S., Chen, Z., Dillon, S. R., Gao, Z., Gilbert, T., Madden, K., *et al.* (2001). A soluble class II cytokine receptor, IL-22RA2, is a naturally occurring IL-22 antagonist. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *98*, 9511-9516.

Yamamoto, T., Ebisuya, M., Ashida, F., Okamoto, K., Yonehara, S., and Nishida, E. (2006). Continuous ERK activation downregulates antiproliferative genes throughout G1 phase to allow cell-cycle progression. Curr Biol *16*, 1171-1182.

Zamo, A., Chiarle, R., Piva, R., Howes, J., Fan, Y., Chilosi, M., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2002). Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) activates Stat3 and protects hematopoietic cells from cell death. Oncogene 21, 1038-1047.

Zhang, Q., Raghunath, P. N., Xue, L., Majewski, M., Carpentieri, D. F., Odum, N., Morris, S., Skorski, T., and Wasik, M. A. (2002). Multilevel dysregulation of STAT3 activation in anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive T/null-cell lymphoma. J Immunol *168*, 466-474.

Chapter 4 •

IL-21 contributes to JAK3/STAT3 activation and promotes cell

growth in

ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication to *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*: **Jennifer Dien Bard**, Pascal Gelebart, Mona Anand, Hesham M. Amin, Raymond Lai. IL-21 contributes to JAK3/STAT3 activation and promotes cell growth in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma

4.1. Introduction

Anaplastic lymphoma kinase-expressing anaplastic large-cell lymphoma (ALK⁺ALCL) is a subtype of T/null-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma characterized by a constellation of pathologic and clinical features (Amin and Lai, 2007). The aberrant expression of ALK in most of these tumors is the result of the reciprocal chromosomal translocation, t(2;5)(p23;q35), which leads to the fusion of the nucleophosmin (NPM) gene at 5q35 with the anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) gene at 2p23 (Morris et al., 1994; Shiota et al., 1994b). It is widely accepted that NPM-ALK directly contributes to lymphomagenesis (Amin and Lai, 2007). Accumulating data suggest that NPM-ALK mediates lymphomagenesis by virtue of its constitutively active tyrosine kinase activity that is embedded in the ALK portion of this fusion protein. Through their interactions with NPM-ALK, multiple signaling proteins became tyrosine phosphorylated and thus, constitutively activated (Amin et al., 2003b; Bischof et al., 1997; Chiarle et al., 2005; Fujimoto et al., 1996; Slupianek et al., 2001). JAK3/STAT3 is a well characterized signaling pathway in ALK⁺ALCL. JAK3 is pathogenetically important in ALK⁺ALCL, since inhibition of JAK3 reduces the ALK tyrosine kinase activity, downregulates STAT3 activation, and induces apoptosis and G₁ cell-cycle arrest in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (Amin et al., 2003b). One of the JAK3 downstream mediators is STAT3, a family member of latent transcription factors activated in response to cytokines and growth factors (Bowman et al., 2000; Darnell, 1997). Both JAK3 and STAT3 are constitutively activated in ALK⁺ALCL ^{9,21,22}. STAT3 is an oncogene (Bromberg et al., 1999), and a variety of human cancer types express constitutively active STAT3 (Burke et al., 2001;

Levy and Darnell, 2002; Lin et al., 2000; Ma XT, 2004). STAT3 is known to promote oncogenesis by modulating the expression of many important regulatory proteins involved in apoptosis and cell cycle, such as c-Jun, c-Myc, Bcl-xL, Bcl-2, Mcl-1, survivin, cyclins, p21, and p27 (Bowman et al., 2000; Coqueret and Gascan, 2000; Epling-Burnette et al., 2001; Grad et al., 2000; Mahboubi et al., 2001). Accumulating evidence supports the concept that NPM-ALK mediates its oncogenic effects via STAT3 activation (Chiarle et al., 2005; Khoury JD, 2003; Zamo et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002), and blockade of STAT3 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines results in significant apoptosis and cell cycle arrest (Amin et al., 2004). While NPM-ALK plays a direct role in activating STAT3, sustained activation of this protein appears to be multi-factorial in ALK⁺ALCL, and the mechanism has been attributed to Src and the loss of various negative feedback systems such as SHP1, a tyrosine phosphatase (Amin et al., 2003b; Fujitani et al., 1997; Han et al., 2006; Qiu et al., 2006). JAK3, the physiologic activator of STAT3 which also contributes to STAT3 activation in ALK⁺ALCL, was recently found to be attributed to autocrine cytokine stimulation, namely IL-9²⁵.

Interleukin-21 (IL-21), a newly discovered cytokine (Parrish-Novak et al., 2000), is expressed exclusively by CD4-positive T cells and known to regulate the functions of Tcells, B-cells, natural killer cells and myeloid cells (Asao et al., 2001; Habib et al., 2002). IL-21 is considered a class I cytokine and it has a significant homology to IL-2, IL-4, and IL-15 (Parrish-Novak et al., 2000). All of the class I cytokines, including IL-9, IL-15, and IL-21, have receptors that contains the IL-2 common γ -chain (γ_c). Their biological importance is highlighted by the phenotype identified in the JAK3-deficient severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice as well as X-linked SCID mice in which the gene encoding γ_c is mutated (Leonard, 2001; Macchi et al., 1995; Russell et al., 1995). IL-21-mediated cell signaling requires heterodimerization of its receptors, γ_c and IL-21R, which is normally expressed on B-cells, T-cells and natural killer cells (Habib et al., 2002). IL-21 induces activation of both JAK1 and JAK3, which then initiate STAT1 and STAT3 signal transduction and stimulate various cellular responses in a cell-type specific manner (Asao et al., 2001; Habib et al., 2003; Strengell et al., 2002; Suto et al., 2002). For example, IL-21 has a pro-apoptotic effect on B-cells (Mehta et al., 2003) but a proliferative effect on T cells (Li et al., 2005; Zeng et al., 2005). While IL-21 has been reported to promote cell growth and proliferation in some cancer types including myeloma and adult T-cell leukemia (Akamatsu et al., 2007; Brenne et al., 2002; Ueda et al., 2005), it has been shown to induce apoptosis in follicular lymphoma (Akamatsu et al., 2007).

In view of the biological relevance of JAK3/STAT3 in ALK⁺ALCL and the link between IL-21 and the JAK3/STAT3 signaling pathway, I hypothesize that IL-21 may contribute to JAK3/STAT3 activation and promote tumorigenesis in ALK⁺ALCL, in a similar manner as IL-9 as described previously by our group (Qiu et al., 2006). The biological relevance and importance of IL-21 have not been previously examined in ALK⁺ALCL. In our initial study using oligonucleotide microarrays to study the cytokine expression in ALK⁺ALCL, aside from the IL-22 complex that was described in chapter 3, both IL-21R and IL-21 were found to be frequently expressed in this cell type. In this chapter, the expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and tumors was

comprehensively evaluated. The biological effects of IL-21 in ALK⁺ALCL cells were also assessed, with a focus on the JAK3/STAT3 signaling.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Cell lines and Culture

Three ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, and SUP-M2 were used in this study. All three cell lines were obtained from Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen GmbH (DSMZ, Germany). HepG2 (ATCC, HB-8065) and MDA-MB-231 (ATCC HTB-26) were also used in this study and was maintained in DMEM (Sigma-Aldrich). Both culture media were enriched with 10% FBS (Gibco) and antibiotics (10,000 units/mL penicillin G, 10,000 µg/mL streptomycin, Gibco). All cells were grown at 37° C in 5% CO₂.

4.2.2. Treatment of Cells

For cytokine experiment, cells (1 X 10^6 cells/mL) were washed twice with PBS and plated in 6-well culture plates (Bectin Dickinson Labware) with serum-free media for 16 hours. Cells were treated with 10 ng/mL of Recombinant IL-21 protein (Sigma-Aldrich), for 0 and 30 min and harvested for western blot.

4.2.3. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies

Western blot analysis was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, cells were collected, centrifuged at 300g for 10 minutes, and washed twice with PBS. Lysis buffer

(20 mM tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5.0 mM EDTA, 40.0 µg/mL leupeptin, 1 µM pepstatin, 1 mM AEBSF) was added to the cell pellet for 30 minutes on ice followed by centrifugation at 14,000g for 10 minute at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 50-100 µg of protein was run on SDS-PAGE. Protein quantification was carried out using the Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biorad). After the proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, the membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBS buffer (Sigma) and 0.05% Tween-20 (Calbiochem), and then incubated with primary antibodies overnight followed by 1 hour incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10000) (Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). The membranes were washed in TBS with 0.05% Tween-20 for 30 minutes between steps. Proteins were detected using the enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit (Amersham Life Sciences). The number in parenthesis after each antibody listed indicates the dilution at which it was used. Antibodies used included: Antibodies used included: rabbit polyclonal anti-human STAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human pSTAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), goat polyclonal anti-human pJAK3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), rabbit polyclonal antihuman JAK3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), rabbit monoclonal anti-human pERK1/2 (1:1000, Cell Signaling), mouse monoclonal anti-human ERK1/2 (1:1000, Cell Signaling), rabbit polyclonal anti-human IL-21R (1:1000, Sigma), and mouse monoclonal anti-human β actin (1:3000, Sigma-Aldrich).

4.2.4. Immunofluorescence Staining and Confocal Microscopy

Immunofluorescence was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, 1×10^6 cells cells grown on coverslip in a 6-well plate were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS.

Cells were rinsed with 1X PBS, permeabilized with PBS-0.5% triton X-100 for 5 minutes, and rinsed twice with 1X PBS. Cells were rinsed three times with 1X PBS, incubated with 30 µL of anti-IL-21R (1:50) (Sigma-aldrich) antibody overnight, followed by rinsing three times with 1X PBS. IgG antibody was included as a negative control. After Incubation with 25 µL of Alexa 488 goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (1:250) for 1 hour, cells were rinsed with PBS and mounting media (Sigma-aldrich) was added to the slides. Cells were visualized with a Cells were visualized and imaged with a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope (Oberkochen, Germany). Argon laser with a 488 nm wavelength was used to visualize IL-22R1 at 40X objective and images were analyzed using the Zeiss LSM 5 image browser.

4.2.5. Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Total cellular RNA was extracted from SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2 and HepG2 cell lines using TRIzol extraction according to manufacturer's protocol (Gibco). RT was performed using 500 ng total RNA in a first strand cDNA synthesis reaction with superscript reverse transcriptase as recommended by the manufacturer (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Primer pairs were designed by Primer3 Input 0.4.0 to detect IL-21 and IL-21R. GAPDH was included as an internal control. PCR was performed by adding 1 µL RT product into 25 µL volume reaction containing 1X buffer, 200 µM of each dNTPs, oligonucleotide primer, and 0.2 U Ampli*Taq* polymerase. The primer sequences and PCR cycles are shown in Table 4.1. For DNA amplification, cDNA was denatured at 94°C for 1 min, and then subjected to primer annealing at 58°C for 1 min, and then subjected to DNA extension at 72°C for 1 min for 35 cycles in a

thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Amplified product were analyzed by DNA gel electrophoresis in 1% agarose and visualized by the Alpha Imager 3400 (Alpha Innotech).

T٤	ıb	le -	4.	1.	Pr	imer	Se	ea	uei	nce	and	P	CR	cor	nditio	ons
_																

	Sense Primers	Antisense Primers	Product
			size (bp)
IL-21	GGCAACATGGAGAGGATTGT	AAGCAGGAAAAAGCTGACCA	240
IL-21R	TCTACATGCTGAAGGGCAAG	TCACTCCATTCACTCCAGGT	315
GAPDH	AAGGTCATCCCTGAGCTGAA	CCCTGTTGCTGTAGCCAAAT	316

4.2.6. Cell growth assays

To determine cell viability in cells treated with recombinant IL-21 protein, daily cells counts was performed. For cell count, 25,000 cells were plated in 24-well culture plates with medium containing 5% FBS. Recombinant IL-21 was added daily and cells were counted daily using trypan blue exclusion assay (Gibco).

4.2.7. siRNA Transfection

Karpas 299 cells (1 X 10⁶ cells in 1 mL of culture medium) were transfected with 100 pmol of IL-21R or scrambled siRNA (Qiagen) using the Nucleofector Kit (Amaxa) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The IL-21R target sequence is: 5'-CCCGGTCATCTTTCAGACCCA-3'. Cells were harvested 24 hours after the transfection.

4.2.8. MTS Assay

To determine the effect of SALL4 on cell viability, Karpas 299 cells were transfected with either IL-21R siRNA or control siRNA and the MTS assay (Promega) was performed after 72 hours. 5,000 cells were seeded in 96-well culture plates and cell viability was measured daily using a colorimetric Microplate reader (Biorad) at 450nm and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1 (Biorad).

4.2.9. ALK⁺ALCL tumors and immunohistochemistry

10 paraffin-embedded lymph node biopsies from patients with ALK⁺ALCL were obtained from the Cross Cancer Institute (Edmonton, AB, Canada) following approval by the institutional ethics committee. The diagnosis of these cases was based on the criteria established by the World Health Organization Classification scheme, and all confirmed ALK immunohistochemistry. cases were to express by Immunohistochemical staining was performed using standard techniques. Briefly. formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded tissue sections of 4 µM thickness were deparafinized and hydrated. Heat-induced epitope retrieval was performed using Tris buffer (pH 9.9; Dako) and a RHS. After incubation at 100°C for 10 minutes, slides were washed in running tap water for 5 minutes, and endogenous peroxidase were blocked using 10% H₂O₂ and methanol, followed by 5 minutes wash in running tap Tissue sections were then incubated with goat anti-human IL-21R (1:500) water. (Capralogics) or rabbit anti-human IL-21 antibody (1:500) (Capralogics) overnight in a humidified chamber at 4°C. Both antibodies are specific to peptide antigens and antigen sequence analysis indicates peptide antigen specificity. After 3 wash with PBS, tissue sections were incubated with secondary antibodies: anti-rabbit IgG or anti-goat IgG (Dako) for 30 minutes at room temperature. The tissue sections were incubated with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine/H₂O₂ (Dako) for color development, using hematoxylin as a counterstain. To optimize the IHC staining, benign tonsils were used as positive and negative controls for IL-21 in which the mantle zone B-cells served as negative control. For IL-21R, benign tonsils were used as a positive control and lung sample were used as a negative control.

4.2.10. Statistical Analysis

Graphpad Instat 3 software was used for statistical analysis of the data. The association between IL-22 and cell growth was evaluated using the Student's t-test. A P value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Each assay was performed at least in triplicate and the illustrative graphs are representative of the mean of the triplicate experiments. Error bars represent SEM.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and tumors

The expression of IL-21 and IL-21R mRNA in three ALK⁺ALCL cell lines was assessed using conventional RT-PCR studies. As shown in Figure 4.1, IL-21 mRNA was readily detectable in Karpas 299 but not in SU-DHL-1 and SUP-M2. In contrast, all three cell lines expressed *IL-21R*. The expression of γ_c in these cells has been previously reported by our group (Qiu et al., 2006). HepG2 cells served as the positive control and MDA-MB-231 served as the negative control for IL-21R.



Figure 4.1. mRNA expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. RNA extraction was performed on ALK⁺ALCL cell lines, SU-DHL-1, Karpas 299, SUP-M2 cells, and hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of IL-21 mRNA in 1/3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (expressed in Karpas 299). IL-21R mRNA was present in all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. HepG2 was included as a positive control for IL-21R and MDA-MB-231 was included as a negative control for IL-21R. GAPDH was included as an internal control.

To further confirm the expression of IL-21R in ALK⁺ALCL, Western blot analysis was performed on SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells. IL-21R protein expression was detected in both cell lines as well as HepG2 cells, which was included as a positive control (Figure 4.2). To determine the sub-cellular localization of IL-21R in Karpas 299 cells, immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscopy was performed. As shown in Figure 4.3, IL-21R was found on the cell membrane and in the cytoplasm of Karpas 299 cells. In contrast, the negative control using IgG antibody revealed no immunofluorescence staining.

To evaluate the expression of IL-21 and IL-21R mRNA in ALK⁺ALCL tumors, RT-PCR was performed using frozen tumor tissues. All of these four tumors were previously confirmed to contain largely neoplastic cells by histologic examination. As shown in Figure 4.4, all 4 tumors had detectable IL-21 and IL-21R; while the IL-21R expression levels were relatively equal among all 4 tumors, the IL-21 level was appreciably lower in tumor 1 and 2 compared to that of tumor 3 and 4. HepG2 cells served as the positive control for IL-21R. MDA-MB-231 served as the negative control for IL-21R; both of these cell lines were negative for IL-21.

To confirm that the expression of IL-21R and IL-21 was indeed derived from the neoplastic lymphoid cells, immunohistochemistry was employed on formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded tissues of ten ALK⁺ALCL tumors. The staining for IL-21 is illustrated in Figure 4.5 (left panel). The staining was readily detectable in all

ALK⁺ALCL cases. The neoplastic cells showed relatively intense cytoplasmic staining; the adjacent B-cell areas had no definitive IL-21 staining. For IL-21R, we were able to detect staining in the neoplastic cells in all 10 cases, as illustrated in Figure 1D (right panel), the neoplastic cells showed a cytoplasmic/membraneous staining pattern of IL-21R. The adjacent benign B-cell areas had no detectable IL-21R. IL-21 and IL-21R staining in reactive tonsils was also assessed; all have lymphoid cell compartments showed no definitive staining using immunohistochemical technique, strongly suggesting that both IL-21 and IL-21R are expressed at substantially higher levels in ALK⁺ALCL when compared to benign lymphoid cells.







Figure 4.3. IL-21R expression in ALK⁺**ALCL cell lines.** Immunofluorescence staining and confocal microscropy was employed to detect IL-21R expression on ALK⁺ALCL cell line Karpas 299. Karpas 299 cells were fixed, permeabilized, and stained with Alexa 488 to detect IL-21R expression. Immunofluorescence staining of slides with antibodies directed against IL-21R (left panel) or control IgG (right panel) and confocal microscopy demonstrated the expression of IL-21R in Karpas 299. Images were analyzed at 40X objective.



Figure 4.4. mRNA expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in ALK⁺**ALCL.** RNA extraction was performed on 4 ALK⁺ALCL tumors. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of IL-21 and IL-21R mRNA in all 4 ALK⁺ALCL tumors. IL-21R mRNA was present in all 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. HepG2 was included as a positive control for IL-21R and MDA-MB-231 was included as a negative control for IL-21R. GAPDH was included as an internal control.



Figure 4.5. IL-21 and IL-21R expression in ALK⁺ALCL tumors. Immunohistochemical staining of paraffin-embedded tissue sections confirmed the expression of IL-21 (left panel) and IL-21R (right panel) in a case of ALK⁺ALCL tumors. A and C demonstrates staining at 20X magnification and B and D demonstrates staining at 40X magnification. For IL-21, the neoplastic cells showed cytoplasmic staining; the adjacent benign B-cell areas were largely non-reactive. IL-21R demonstrated a cytoplasmic/membranous staining pattern. The adjacent benign B-cell areas also were largely non-reactive.

4.3.2. IL-21 modulated JAK3/ STAT3 signaling

Since previous studies have reported a role for IL-21 in activating JAK3 and STAT3 (Brenne et al., 2002; de Totero et al., 2006; Habib et al., 2002; Pelletier et al., 2004; Ueda et al., 2005), I sought to determine whether IL-21 expression will contribute to the activation of these signaling pathways in ALK⁺ALCL cells. Karpas 299 cells were serum-starved for 16 hours followed by treatment for 30 minutes with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-21 protein. As shown in Figure 4.6, IL-21 stimulation for 30 minutes led to an increase in pSTAT3 and pJAK3 expression. Next, I wanted to assess whether IL-21 will induce pSTAT1 activation, a member of the STAT family known to have antiproliferative and pro-apoptotic properties (Adamkova et al., 2007; de Totero et al., 2006). Using the same experimental conditions, I demonstrated that STAT1 was not activated after IL-21 treatment. This is expected since an increase in cell growth, not apoptosis, was observed with treatment of recombinant IL-21 protein.

4.3.3. IL-21 treatment increased cell growth of ALK⁺ALCL cell lines

To assess the biological effects of IL-21, I treated ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-21 protein. SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 cells were grown in media containing reduced FBS (i.e. 5%) for 16 hours, followed by daily treatment with 10 ng/mL of rIL-21 for 5 days. Cell count was performed daily using the trypan blue exclusion assay. As shown in Figure 4.7, a significant increase in the number of viable cells was observed on day 3 for SU-DHL-1 and on day 4 for Karpas 299 cells. The delayed cell growth response in Karpas 299 is most likely due to the fact that Karpas 299, but not SU-DHL-1, produces endogenous IL-21. Morphologic examination of these cell

samples, either the negative controls or cells treated with rIL-21, did not show any features of apoptosis.

To further evaluate the biological role of IL-21 signaling in ALK⁺ALCL, siRNA was employed to downregulate the expression of IL-21R in Karpas 299. RT-PCR was performed 24 hours after siRNA transfection and a substantial decrease in IL-21R was demonstrated in cells transfected with IL-21R siRNA but not control siRNA (Figure 4.8a). Correlating with these changes, pSTAT3 was substantially decreased in cells transfected with IL-21R siRNA compared to cells transfected with scrambled siRNA (Figure 4.8b). Using the same experimental conditions, I assessed if the cell growth was affected by IL-21R downregulation. Thus, I performed the MTS assay in cells transfected with IL-21R siRNA. At 72 hours after transfection, the cell growth index of cells transfected with IL-21R siRNA was significantly lower than that of the negative control sample (P value, 0.028) (Figure 4.8c).



Figure 4.6. Effects of IL-21 on STAT3, JAK3, STAT1 signaling. Karpas 299 cells were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-21 protein (10 ng/mL) and no treatment. Karpas 299 cells were serum starved for 16 hours followed by treatment with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-21 protein for 0 and 30 minutes. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Phosphorylated STAT3, JAK3, ERK1/2, STAT1 was detected using anti-pSTAT3, anti-pJAK3, anti-pERK1/2, and anti-pSTAT1 antibody. This is followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3, JAK3, and ERK1/2 using anti-STAT3, anti-JAK3, and anti-ERK1/2 antibody. Treatment of Karpas 299 with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-21 protein for 30 minutes resulted in an increase in the phosphorylated forms of STAT3, JAK3, and ERK1/2 with the total levels of STAT3, JAK3, and ERK1/2 not changing between 0 and 30 minute treatments. Treatment of recombinant IL-21 protein for 30 minutes did not change the phosphorylated level of STAT1. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 4.7. IL-21 modulated cell proliferation in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. 2 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines were exposed to 2 conditions: treatment with recombinant IL-21 protein (\blacksquare) or no treatment (\triangle). SU-DHL-1 and Karpas 299 were serum starved for 16 hours followed by daily treatment with 10 ng/mL of recombinant IL-21 protein. Daily cell counts were performed using trypan blue exclusion assay. Cell numbers were counted using a hemocytometer at 10X objective. Treatment of 2 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines with recombinant IL-21 protein induced a marked increase in cell number seen at approximately Day 4. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.





b

Figure 4.8. IL-21 directly up-regulated STAT3 and cell growth. Karpas 299 cells were transfected with either IL-21R siRNA or control siRNA. (a) After 24 hour incubation, RT-PCR studies confirmed the downregulation of IL-21R in the IL-21R siRNA sample compared to the control siRNA sample. (b) After 24 hour incubation, lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using anti-pSTAT3, antibody, followed by detection of the total cellular STAT3 using anti-STAT3 antibody. pSTAT3 expression was also downregulated in the IL-21R siRNA sample. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control.



Figure 4.8. (continued) (c) After 72 hour incubation, cell viability was measured colorimetrically at 450 nm and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1. Transfection of Karpas 299 cells with IL-21R siRNA resulted in a significant decrease in cell growth compared to the control siRNA. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

4.4. Discussion

The rationale for performing the study in this chapter is based on our previous finding that JAK3 is constitutively activated in ALK⁺ALCL, and we believe that this finding is suggestive of a role of cytokine stimulation in the pathogenesis of these tumors. With this assumption, we started to investigate the possible role of various cytokines that normally activate JAK3 in these tumors. JAK3 is an interleukin receptor-bound tyrosine kinase in which activation is limited to a small number of interleukins that recruit the IL-2 common γ_c in their receptors. Thus, we have focused on those interleukins which signaling require γ_c recruited to their respective receptors, and they include IL-2, IL-9, IL-15, and IL-21 (Leonard, 2001; Russell et al., 1995). Previously, our group have described evidence to support the existence of the IL-9 autocrine stimulatory pathway in ALK⁺ALCL. Specifically, blockade of IL-9 stimulation using a neutralizing antibody inhibits JAK3/STAT3 activation, accompanied by decreased cell growth and tumorigenicity in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines (Oiu et al., 2006). In this chapter, I examined IL-21, a recently described type I cytokine produced exclusively by activated CD4positive T cells. IL-21 has been described to have profound but heterogeneous biological effects in B-cells, T-cells and natural killer cells (Coquet et al., 2007; Habib et al., 2003; Kasaian et al., 2002; Parrish-Novak et al., 2000). Importantly, IL-21 is known to activate JAK3 in benign lymphoid cells (Parrish-Novak et al., 2000; Strengell et al., 2002). As described above, I was able to detect consistent expression of IL-21 and IL-21R in the cytokine oligonucleotide array studies of ALK⁺ALCL cells. With this background, I

hypothesize that IL-21 is a contributing factor for JAK3/STAT3 activation and pathogenesis of ALK⁺ALCL.

In keeping with this hypothesis, I confirmed the consistent expression of IL-21 in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines and tumors. While evidence of IL-21R expression was only found in 1 of the 3 ALK⁺ALCL cell lines examined, it was detectable in all 4 tumors by RT-PCR and all 10 tumors by immunohistochemistry. This data indicate that IL-21 signaling is biologically significant, since addition of recombinant IL-21 protein enhanced the activation of JAK3/STAT3, a major signaling pathway known to be important in ALK⁺ALCL. Correlating with these biochemical changes, addition of recombinant IL-21 protein significantly increased cell growth and siRNA downregulation of IL-21R signaling importance of the IL-21 signaling pathway in ALK⁺ALCL, siRNA downregulation of IL-21R showed the opposite biological effects.

The tumor-promoting effects of IL-21 in ALK⁺ALCL are in parallel with the observations made in myeloma (Brenne et al., 2002) and adult T-cell leukemia (Akamatsu et al., 2007): (Ueda et al., 2005). An increase in cell proliferation was observed in myeloma cells and T-cell leukemia cells when treated with rIL-21 (Akamatsu et al., 2007; Brenne et al., 2002; Ueda et al., 2005). Analysis of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway was described to some extent in these papers. Brenne *et al.* reported phosphorylation of JAK1 and STAT3, but not STAT1, after treatment of myeloma cells with rIL-21 (Brenne et al., 2002). These findings are indeed in parallel with our findings

regarding STAT1 and STAT3 activation. Ueda *et al.* demonstrated STAT3 and STAT5 phoshoryation after rIL-21 treatment of T-cell leukemia cells (Ueda et al., 2005), but STAT1 phosphorylation was not investigated in this study. The biological significance of IL-21-mediated STAT1 will be further discussed below.

The data presented in this chapter further supports the concept that STAT3 activation in ALK⁺ALCL is multi-factorial, a concept that was initially proposed by Zhang *et al.* (Zhang et al., 2002). This multifactorial dysregulation of STAT3 was initially proposed to be attributed to the presence of NPM-ALK, the aberrancy of PP2A, a tyrosine phosphatase known to inhibit STAT3 dephosphorylation, and the absence of PIAS3 (Zhang et al., 2002). Nevertheless, the contribution of JAK3, the physiologic activator of STAT3, was not included in this study. Our findings related to IL-9 and IL-21 in activating JAK3/STAT3 and enhancing tumor growth in ALK⁺ALCL not only have further supported the 'multi-factorial STAT3 activation' concept, but also added a new dimension to this conceptual model. In Chapter 3, I have provided evidence that the tumorigenicity of ALK⁺ALCL is promoted by IL-22 (Leukemia, in press). Unlike IL-9 and IL-21, IL-22-mediated activation of IL-22 is not dependent on γ_c or JAK3. Furthermore, the functional IL-22 receptor (IL-22R), which is composed of the IL-22R1 and IL-10R2 subunits, is not fully expressed on benign lymphoid cells. The data in chapter 3 suggest that the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL cells is directly linked to NPM-ALK, since transfection of NPM-ALK into cells resulted in the expression of IL-22R1, thus converting from an 'IL-22 un-responsive phenotype' to an 'IL-22 responsive phenotype'. Taken together, it is increasingly evident that, while NPM-

ALK mediates tumorigenesis in ALK⁺ALCL by deregulation of multiple signaling pathways, aberrancies of cell signaling in these neoplastic cells can be attributed to increasing number of factors. Recent studies from our group highlights the importance of autocrine cytokine stimulation of the STAT3 pathway, which is crucial for NPM-ALK-mediated lymphogenesis (Chiarle et al., 2005; Crockett et al., 2004).

Aside from activating STAT3, IL-21 signaling also has been reported to result in activation of STAT1 in some cell types (de Totero et al., 2006; Habib et al., 2003; Zeng et al., 2007). In contrast to STAT3 which promotes cell survival, cell cycle progression in many cell types, STAT1 is known to have tumor suppressing properties, namely anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic effects (Adamkova et al., 2007; de Totero et al., 2006). In view of the normal functions of STAT1, I believe that the lack of IL-21 induced upregulation of pSTAT3 in ALK⁺ALCL is significant. As discussed above, myeloma cells also fail to demonstrate STAT1 activation upon IL-21 stimulation (Brenne et al., 2002). Taken together, it is tempting to speculate that the IL-21 induced cell growth is attributed to the imbalance between STAT1 and STAT3 activity. It will be of great interest to determine why STAT1 is not activated in ALK⁺ALCL or myeloma in response to IL-21.

In conclusion, I have provided the first evidence that an autocrine IL-21 stimulatory pathway exists in ALK⁺ALCL tumors. In parallel with IL-9, IL-21 signaling contributes to cell growth in ALK⁺ALCL by enhancing JAK3/STAT3 activation and may be a potential therapeutic target for this type of cancer. These findings support the

pathogenetic importance of JAK3 in these tumors. In conjunction with the results of several previous studies, it becomes increasingly evident that STAT3 activation, considered to be one of the most crucial oncogenic factors in ALK⁺ALCL, is multi-factorial.
4.5. References

Adamkova, L., Souckova, K., and Kovarik, J. (2007). Transcription protein STAT1: biology and relation to cancer. Folia Biol (Praha) 53, 1-6.

Akamatsu, N., Yamada, Y., Hasegawa, H., Makabe, K., Asano, R., Kumagai, I., Murata, K., Imaizumi, Y., Tsukasaki, K., Tsuruda, K., *et al.* (2007). High IL-21 receptor expression and apoptosis induction by IL-21 in follicular lymphoma. Cancer Lett 256, 196-206.

Amin, H. M., and Lai, R. (2007). Pathobiology of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood *110*, 2259-2267.

Amin, H. M., McDonnell, T. J., Ma, Y., Lin, Q., Fujio, Y., Kunisada, K., Leventaki, V., Das, P., Rassidakis, G. Z., Cutler, C., *et al.* (2004). Selective inhibition of STAT3 induces apoptosis and G(1) cell cycle arrest in ALK-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene 23, 5426-5434.

Amin, H. M., Medeiros, L. J., Ma, Y., Feretzaki, M., Das, P., Leventaki, V., Rassidakis, G. Z., O'Connor, S. L., McDonnell, T. J., and Lai, R. (2003). Inhibition of JAK3 induces apoptosis and decreases anaplastic lymphoma kinase activity in anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Oncogene *22*, 5399-5407.

Asao, H., Okuyama, C., Kumaki, S., Ishii, N., Tsuchiya, S., Foster, D., and Sugamura, K. (2001). Cutting edge: the common gamma-chain is an indispensable subunit of the IL-21 receptor complex. J Immunol *167*, 1-5.

Bischof, D., Pulford, K., Mason, D. Y., and Morris, S. W. (1997). Role of the nucleophosmin (NPM) portion of the non-Hodgkin's lymphoma-associated NPM-anaplastic lymphoma kinase fusion protein in oncogenesis. Mol Cell Biol *17*, 2312-2325. Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., and Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. Oncogene *19*, 2474-2488.

Brenne, A. T., Ro, T. B., Waage, A., Sundan, A., Borset, M., and Hjorth-Hansen, H. (2002). Interleukin-21 is a growth and survival factor for human myeloma cells. Blood *99*, 3756-3762.

Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell 98, 295-303.

Burke, W. M., Jin, X., Lin, H. J., Huang, M., Liu, R., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2001). Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 suppresses growth of human ovarian and breast cancer cells. Oncogene *20*, 7925-7934.

Chiarle, R., Simmons, W. J., Cai, H., Dhall, G., Zamo, A., Raz, R., Karras, J. G., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2005). Stat3 is required for ALK-mediated lymphomagenesis and provides a possible therapeutic target. Nat Med *11*, 623-629.

Coqueret, O., and Gascan, H. (2000). Functional interaction of STAT3 transcription factor with the cell cycle inhibitor p21WAF1/CIP1/SDI1. J Biol Chem 275, 18794-18800.

Coquet, J. M., Kyparissoudis, K., Pellicci, D. G., Besra, G., Berzins, S. P., Smyth, M. J., and Godfrey, D. I. (2007). IL-21 is produced by NKT cells and modulates NKT cell activation and cytokine production. J Immunol *178*, 2827-2834.

Crockett, D. K., Lin, Z., Elenitoba-Johnson, K. S., and Lim, M. S. (2004). Identification of NPM-ALK interacting proteins by tandem mass spectrometry. Oncogene 23, 2617-2629.

Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1997). Stats and Gene Regulation. Science 277, 1630-1635.

de Totero, D., Meazza, R., Zupo, S., Cutrona, G., Matis, S., Colombo, M., Balleari, E., Pierri, I., Fabbi, M., Capaia, M., *et al.* (2006). Interleukin-21 receptor (IL-21R) is upregulated by CD40 triggering and mediates proapoptotic signals in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood *107*, 3708-3715.

Epling-Burnette, P. K., Liu, J. H., Catlett-Falcone, R., Turkson, J., Oshiro, M., Kothapalli, R., Li, Y., Wang, J. M., Yang-Yen, H. F., Karras, J., *et al.* (2001). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling leads to apoptosis of leukemic large granular lymphocytes and decreased Mcl-1 expression. J Clin Invest *107*, 351-362.

Fujimoto, J., Shiota, M., Iwahara, T., Seki, N., Satoh, H., Mori, S., and Yamamoto, T. (1996). Characterization of the transforming activity of p80, a hyperphosphorylated protein in a Ki-1 lymphoma cell line with chromosomal translocation t(2;5). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 4181-4186.

Fujitani, Y., Hibi, M., Fukada, T., Takahashi-Tezuka, M., Yoshida, H., Yamaguchi, T., Sugiyama, K., Yamanaka, Y., Nakajima, K., and Hirano, T. (1997). An alternative pathway for STAT activation that is mediated by the direct interaction between JAK and STAT. Oncogene *14*, 751-761.

Grad, J. M., Zeng, X. R., and Boise, L. H. (2000). Regulation of Bcl-xL: a little bit of this and a little bit of STAT. Curr Opin Oncol 12, 543-549.

Habib, T., Nelson, A., and Kaushansky, K. (2003). IL-21: a novel IL-2-family lymphokine that modulates B, T, and natural killer cell responses. J Allergy Clin Immunol *112*, 1033-1045.

Habib, T., Senadheera, S., Weinberg, K., and Kaushansky, K. (2002). The common gamma chain (gamma c) is a required signaling component of the IL-21 receptor and supports IL-21-induced cell proliferation via JAK3. Biochemistry *41*, 8725-8731.

Han, Y., Amin, H. M., Franko, B., Frantz, C., Shi, X., and Lai, R. (2006). Loss of SHP1 enhances JAK3/STAT3 signaling and decreases proteosome degradation of JAK3 and NPM-ALK in ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Blood *108*, 2796-2803.

Kasaian, M. T., Whitters, M. J., Carter, L. L., Lowe, L. D., Jussif, J. M., Deng, B., Johnson, K. A., Witek, J. S., Senices, M., Konz, R. F., *et al.* (2002). IL-21 limits NK cell responses and promotes antigen-specific T cell activation: a mediator of the transition from innate to adaptive immunity. Immunity *16*, 559-569.

Khoury JD, M. L., Rassidakis GZ, Yared MA, Tsioli P, Leventaki V, Schmitt-Graeff A, Herling M, Amin HM, Lai R. (2003). Differential expression and clinical significance of tyrosine-phosphorylated STAT3 in ALK+ and ALK- anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *9*, 3692-3699.

Leonard, W. J. (2001). Cytokines and immunodeficiency diseases. Nat Rev Immunol 1, 200-208.

Levy, D. E., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (2002). Stats: transcriptional control and biological impact. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol *3*, 651-662.

Li, Y., Bleakley, M., and Yee, C. (2005). IL-21 influences the frequency, phenotype, and affinity of the antigen-specific CD8 T cell response. J Immunol *175*, 2261-2269.

Lin, T. S., Mahajan, S., and Frank, D. A. (2000). STAT signaling in the pathogenesis and treatment of leukemias. Oncogene *19*, 2496-2504.

Ma XT, W. S., Ye YJ, Du RY, Cui ZR, Somsouk M (2004). Constitutive activation of Stat3 signaling pathway in human colorectal carcinoma. World Journal of Gastroenterology *10*, 1569-1573.

Macchi, P., Villa, A., Giliani, S., Sacco, M. G., Frattini, A., Porta, F., Ugazio, A. G., Johnston, J. A., Candotti, F., O'Shea, J. J., and et al. (1995). Mutations of Jak-3 gene in patients with autosomal severe combined immune deficiency (SCID). Nature *377*, 65-68. Mahboubi, K., Li, F., Plescia, J., Kirkiles-Smith, N. C., Mesri, M., Du, Y., Carroll, J. M., Elias, J. A., Altieri, D. C., and Pober, J. S. (2001). Interleukin-11 up-regulates survivin expression in endothelial cells through a signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 pathway. Lab Invest *81*, 327-334.

Mehta, D. S., Wurster, A. L., Whitters, M. J., Young, D. A., Collins, M., and Grusby, M. J. (2003). IL-21 induces the apoptosis of resting and activated primary B cells. J Immunol *170*, 4111-4118.

Morris, S. W., Kirstein, M. N., Valentine, M. B., Dittmer, K. G., Shapiro, D. N., Saltman, D. L., and Look, A. T. (1994). Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Science *263*, 1281-1284.

Parrish-Novak, J., Dillon, S. R., Nelson, A., Hammond, A., Sprecher, C., Gross, J. A., Johnston, J., Madden, K., Xu, W., West, J., *et al.* (2000). Interleukin 21 and its receptor are involved in NK cell expansion and regulation of lymphocyte function. Nature *408*, 57-63.

Pelletier, M., Bouchard, A., and Girard, D. (2004). In vivo and in vitro roles of IL-21 in inflammation. J Immunol 173, 7521-7530.

Qiu, L., Lai, R., Lin, Q., Lau, E., Thomazy, D. M., Calame, D., Ford, R. J., Kwak, L. W., Kirken, R. A., and Amin, H. M. (2006). Autocrine release of interleukin-9 promotes Jak3-dependent survival of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma cells. Blood *108*, 2407-2415.

Russell, S. M., Tayebi, N., Nakajima, H., Riedy, M. C., Roberts, J. L., Aman, M. J., Migone, T. S., Noguchi, M., Markert, M. L., Buckley, R. H., *et al.* (1995). Mutation of Jak3 in a patient with SCID: essential role of Jak3 in lymphoid development. Science 270, 797-800.

Shiota, M., Fujimoto, J., Takenaga, M., Satoh, H., Ichinohasama, R., Abe, M., Nakano, M., Yamamoto, T., and Mori, S. (1994). Diagnosis of t(2;5)(p23;q35)-associated Ki-1 lymphoma with immunohistochemistry. Blood *84*, 3648-3652.

Slupianek, A., Nieborowska-Skorska, M., Hoser, G., Morrione, A., Majewski, M., Xue, L., Morris, S. W., Wasik, M. A., and Skorski, T. (2001). Role of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Akt pathway in nucleophosmin/anaplastic lymphoma kinase-mediated lymphomagenesis. Cancer Res *61*, 2194-2199.

Strengell, M., Sareneva, T., Foster, D., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (2002). IL-21 upregulates the expression of genes associated with innate immunity and Th1 response. J Immunol *169*, 3600-3605.

Suto, A., Nakajima, H., Hirose, K., Suzuki, K., Kagami, S., Seto, Y., Hoshimoto, A., Saito, Y., Foster, D. C., and Iwamoto, I. (2002). Interleukin 21 prevents antigen-induced IgE production by inhibiting germ line C(epsilon) transcription of IL-4-stimulated B cells. Blood *100*, 4565-4573.

Ueda, M., Imada, K., Imura, A., Koga, H., Hishizawa, M., and Uchiyama, T. (2005). Expression of functional interleukin-21 receptor on adult T-cell leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol *128*, 169-176.

Zamo, A., Chiarle, R., Piva, R., Howes, J., Fan, Y., Chilosi, M., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2002). Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) activates Stat3 and protects hematopoietic cells from cell death. Oncogene 21, 1038-1047.

Zeng, R., Spolski, R., Casas, E., Zhu, W., Levy, D. E., and Leonard, W. J. (2007). The molecular basis of IL-21-mediated proliferation. Blood.

Zeng, R., Spolski, R., Finkelstein, S. E., Oh, S., Kovanen, P. E., Hinrichs, C. S., Pise-Masison, C. A., Radonovich, M. F., Brady, J. N., Restifo, N. P., *et al.* (2005). Synergy of IL-21 and IL-15 in regulating CD8+ T cell expansion and function. J Exp Med 201, 139-148.

Zhang, Q., Raghunath, P. N., Xue, L., Majewski, M., Carpentieri, D. F., Odum, N., Morris, S., Skorski, T., and Wasik, M. A. (2002). Multilevel dysregulation of STAT3 activation in anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive T/null-cell lymphoma. J Immunol *168*, 466-474.

Chapter 5 ♦

STAT3 is a transcriptional factor regulating the gene

expression of SALLA

A version of this chapter will be submitted for publication to *Oncogene*: Jennifer Dien Bard, Pascal Gelebart, Leah Young, Amin HM, Yupo Ma, Raymond Lai. STAT3 is a transcriptional factor regulating the gene expression of *SALL4*.

5.1. Introduction

Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs) consist of 7 latent cytoplasmic transcription factors that are involved in cell cycle progression, differentiation and survival in response to various cytokines and growth factors (Clevenger, 2004; Yu and Jove, 2004). In contrast to normal cells in which phosphorylation and activation of STAT3 is a transient process, cancer cells often have constitutively active STAT3; aberrant STAT3 activation has been reported in several types of human cancers including breast cancer (Garcia et al., 2001), pancreatic cancer (Scholz et al., 2003) and lymphomas (Zamo et al., 2002). Using a variety of experimental models, it has been shown that constitutive activation of STAT3 directly contributes to oncogenesis (Bowman et al., 2000; Bromberg et al., 1999). Aside from its roles in oncogenesis, STAT3 has been implicated as a major player in murine embryonic development, as targeted disruption of the STAT3 gene resulted in embryonic lethality (Takeda et al., 1997). STAT3 also has been strongly implicated in the maintenance of the pluripotent and self-renewal state in mouse embryonic stem (ES) cells, since blockade of STAT3 signaling using a dominant negative construct results in a loss in pluripotency and a transition into cell differentiation in these cells (Boeuf et al., 1997; Niwa et al., 1998; Raz et al., 1999).

The fundamental role of several other transcription factors in the self-renewal process of ES cells also has been established (Chambers and Smith, 2004; Niwa, 2001; Niwa et al., 2000; Vernallis et al., 1997). One of these proteins is SALL4, a zinc finger transcriptional factor that is one of four members of the SALL gene family originally cloned based on the

sequence homolog to *Drosophila spalt* (Al-Baradie et al., 2002; Kohlhase et al., 1996). SALL4 has been reported to play a prominent role in maintaining embryonic pluripotency, as knockdown of *SALL4* resulted in differentiation of ES cells (Ng et al., 2006). Similar to STAT3, SALL4 has been implicated in tumorigenesis in humans and is denoted a protooncogene (Al-Baradie et al., 2002; Ma et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2007). Ma *et al.* described the oncogenic role of SALL4 by reporting its constitutive activation in all cases of acute myeloid leukemia examined (Ma et al., 2006). In addition, *SALL4* mRNA was found expressed in human epithelial ovarian cancer, a cancer also known to have high activation of STAT3 (Bohm et al., 2006; Burke et al., 2001).

Since STAT3 and SALL4 share a similar role in maintaining the pluripotent state of the ES cells, these two proteins may be functionally linked to each other. In this study, I specifically tested the hypothesis that STAT3 is a transcriptional factor regulating the gene expression of *SALL4* using the tet-off STAT3C system previously established in Chapter 2 (Dien et al., 2006). MCF-7 cells permanently expressing tTA-TRE-STAT3C allows the level of STAT3 to be tightly controlled by the addition of tetracycline (STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7). I provided evidence that STAT3 binds to the promoter of the SALL4 gene and significantly modulates the transcriptional activity of *SALL4*. The data presented in this chapter provides a novel connection between STAT3 can directly alter SALL4 expression.

5.2. Materials and Methods

5.2.1. Construction of tet-off STAT3C

STAT3C construct is a generous gift from Dr. Bromberg, and its properties have been well characterized and described (Bromberg et al., 1999). Briefly, the constitutively dimerizable form of STAT3 was created by substituting cysteine residues for specific amino acids within the C-terminal loop of the SH2 domain, allowing for sulfhydryl bonds to form between the STAT3 monomers and rendering the molecule capable of spontaneous dimerization without phosphorylation at Tyr705. Thus, the STAT3C dimer is capable of translocating to the nucleus and driving gene transcription. Due to its ability to transform cells and promote tumor formation, STAT3C has been widely used to alleviate the importance of STAT3 activation in human cancers. To create tet-off STAT3C, we first synthesized TRE-STAT3C, which was generated by digesting the 2.8 Kb fragment of STAT3C from the STAT3C plasmid using BamH1. The STAT3C fragment was then ligated with the pTREzhyg vector (Clontech), which was then transformed into *E.coli* and selected on ampicillin resistant plates. The plasmids were isolated using the mini-prep kit (Qiagen). Orientation and integrity of the generated TRE-STAT3C plasmid was analyzed by DNA sequencing using the 3130XL Genetics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems). The TRE-STAT3C plasmid was amplified using the Maxiprep kit (Qiagen).

5.2.2. SALL4 Promoter Construct

The 5'-flanking region of SALL4 was amplified using the following primer set: 5'-GGGGTACCGCTCAATCAATTATTATTATTATTAC; 3'- CCCAAGCTTGCGAGCATCG GGGCGCCGGGAGAG to generate a fragment of 2000 base pairs upstream of the first ATG carrying Kpn and HindII restriction enzyme sites at each end, respectively. Human genomic DNA isolated from the kidney was used to amplify this 5'-flanking region of SALL4. After Kpn and HindII digestion, this fragment was cloned into the promoterless pGL3-Basic luciferase reporter plasmid (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) to generate the SALL4/luciferase reporter.

5.2.3. Cell lines and Culture

Human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 (ATCC HTB-22), MDA-MB-231 (ATCC HTB-26) and MDA-MB-468 (ATCC HTB-132) were used in this study. AML cell line HL-60 (ATCC CCL-240) and MCL cell line Mino were included as controls. Mino cells were established in our lab and the characteristics were previously described (Amin et al., 2003a). Briefly, Mino cells have the mature B-cell immunophenotype, carry the t(11;14)(q13;q32), and express cyclin D1. All cell lines were grown at 37°C in 5% CO₂ and maintained in either DMEM or RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich). Culture media were enriched with 10% FBS (Gibco) and antibiotics (10,000 units/mL penicillin G, 10,000 μ g/mL streptomycin, Gibco). The creation of permanent MCF-7 cell clones was previously described in Chapter 2. Briefly, MCF-7 was transfected with tTA plasmid (Clontech) and TRE-STAT3C plasmid followed by selection of cell clones expressing tTA-TRE-STAT3C using G418 (800 μ g/mL). These cells are referred to as STAT3C ^{tet-}

^{off} MCF-7. In contrast to the cell clone that was used in chapter 2, this STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 permanently expressed TRE-STAT3C.

5.2.4. Transfection

Transient transfection of cell lines, with various vectors was performed using Lipofectamine 2000 Transfection Reagent (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, cell lines were grown in 6-well culture plates (Bectin Dickinson Labware) without antibiotics. When cells reached approximately 90% confluency culture media was replaced with serum-free Opti-MEM I (Gibco), and the cells were transfected with DNA:Lipofectamine complex. For all of the *in vitro* experiments, MCF-7 cell clone permanently transfected with tTA-TRE-STAT3C (STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7) were subjected to transiently transfection with 2 µg of SALL4 promoter luciferase (A gift from Dr. Yupo Ma), and 1 µg of β -galactosidase (β -GAL). To regulate the expression of STAT3C in these cells, various concentrations of tetracycline (ng/mL) (Invitrogen) were added to the cell culture.

5.2.5. Western Blot Analysis and Antibodies

Western blot analysis was performed using standard techniques. Briefly, 24 hours after transfection, cells were harvested by gentle scraping and washed twice in PBS (Sigma). Lysis buffer (20 mM tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5.0 mM EDTA, 40.0 μ g/mL leupeptin, 1 μ M pepstatin, 1 mM 4-AEBSF) was added to the cell pellet for 30 minutes on ice followed by centrifugation at 14,000*g* for 10 minute at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and 50-100 μ g of protein was run on SDS-PAGE. Protein quantification was carried out using

the Bradford assay according to the manufacturer's protocol (Biorad). After the proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, the membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBS (Sigma) and 0.05% Tween-20 (Calbiochem), and then incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C by 1 hour incubation followed by 1 hour incubation with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:10000)(Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories). The membranes were washed in TBS with 0.05%Tween-20 for 30 minutes between steps. Proteins were detected using the enhanced chemiluminescence detection kit (Amersham Life Sciences). The number in parenthesis after each antibody listed indicates the dilution at which it was used. Antibodies used included: mouse monoclonal anti-human FLAG (1:3000, Sigma-Aldrich), rabbit polyclonal anti-human STAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), mouse monoclonal anti-human PSTAT3 (1:500, Santa Cruz), rabbit polyclonal anti-human SALL4 (a gift from Dr. Yupo Ma), mouse monoclonal anti-human α -tubulin (1:1000, Santa Cruz) and mouse monoclonal anti-human β -actin (1:3000, Sigma-Aldrich). The generation of the SALL4 antibody was previously described (Ma et al., 2006). Briefly, to prepare an anti-peptide antibody, the peptide MSRRKOAKPOHIN of human SALL4 was chosen for its potential antigenicity (amino acids 1-13). SALL4 anti-peptide antibody was produced in rabbits in collaboration with Lampire Biological Laboratories (Piperville, PA).

5.2.6. Nuclear Extraction

Nuclear extraction of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, SU-DHL-1, and Mino cells were performed using the Nuclear Extraction Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol for adherent and suspension cells (Panomics, Fremont, CA, USA). Briefly, Buffer A

Working Reagent (Buffer A, dithiothreitol (DTT), Protease inhibitor, Phosphatase inhibitor I/II) was added to 1 X 10^6 cells, rocked on ice for 10 minutes at 200 rpm, and centrifuged at 14,000 g for 3 minutes at 4°C. After the supernatant is removed (cytoplasmic portion), Buffer B Working Reagent (Buffer B, DTT, Protease Inhibitor Cocktail, Phosphatase Inhibitor I/II) is added to each cell pellet and rocked on iced for 2 hours at 200 rpm. Samples are centrifuged at 14,000 g for 3 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant (nuclear portion) is transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube for Western blot analysis.

5.2.7. Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Total cellular RNA was extracted from MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, Mino, HL-60 and 9 primary breast tumors using TRIzol extraction according to the manufacturer's protocol (Gibco). RT was performed using 500 ng total RNA in a first strand cDNA synthesis reaction with superscript reverse transcriptase as recommended by the manufacturer (Invitrogen). GAPDH was included as an internal control. The SALL4 primer sequences were obtained from a previous paper by Cui *et al.* (Cui et al., 2006). Primer pairs were designed by Primer3 Input 0.4.0 to detect GAPDH. The primer sequences are as follow: SALL4 (500 bp) forward: 5'-CATGATGGCTTCCT TAGATGCCCCAG-3', reverse: 5'-CCGTGTGTCATGTAGTGAACCTTTAAG-3', GAPDH (316 bp) forward: 5'-AAGGTCATCCCTGAGCTGA-3', reverse: 5'-CCGTGTTGCTGTAGCCAAAT-3'. PCR was performed by adding 1 µL RT product into 25 µL volume reaction containing 1X buffer, 200 µM of each dNTPs, oligonucleotide primer, and 0.2 U Ampli*Taq* polymerase. For DNA amplification,

cDNA was denatured at 94°C for 1 min, subjected to primer annealing at 60°C for 1 min, followed by DNA extension at 72°C for 1 min for 40 cycles in a thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems). Amplified product were analyzed by DNA gel electrophoresis in 1% agarose and visualized by the Alpha Imager 3400 (Alpha Innotech). Sequencing of PCR product for SALL4 was performed using TOPO TA Cloning Kit (Invitrogen) and the 3130XL Genetics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems).

5.2.8. Luciferase Assay

Luciferase assay is a sensitive method of detecting firefly luciferase (Photinus pyralis) in mammalian cells using a FLUOstar Optima microplate reader (BMG Labtech, Offenburg, Germany). Firefly luciferase protein catalyzes luciferin (Sigma) oxidation which results in light generation. STAT3C tet-off MCF-7 undergoes double transfection with pGL3 SALL4 reporter construct (a gift from Dr. Yupo Ma), and β -GAL using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). Lysates were prepared 24 hour post-transfection on ice using freshly prepared lysis buffer (1 M Tris-HCL pH 7.8, 10% NP40, 1M DTT), incubated on ice for 15 minutes, and plated onto 96-well plate (Corning Life Sciences, Lowell, MA, USA). Samples were analyzed using the FLUOstar Optima microplate reader (BMG Labtech). The luciferase assay buffer is prepared fresh and consist of: 20mM tricine, 100 mM magnesium carbonate (MgCO₃), 1 M magnesium sulphate (MgSO4), 50 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1 M DTT, 10 mM coenzyme A, 100 mM luciferin, and 100 mM ATP. A portion of the lysate is used to measure β -GAL, an internal control for transfection efficiency. 20 µL of lysate is added to 96-well culture plate containing 80 μ L of dH₂0 and 20 μ L of ortho-Nitrophenyl- β -galactoside (ONPG) and the mixture is incubated at 37° C for 1 hour. β -GAL activity is measured colorimetrically at 405nm using a Microplate reader (Biorad). The luciferase activity is normalized against the β -GAL activity to minimize experimental variability caused by differences in cell viability or transfection efficiency.

5.2.9. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) was performed using the Magna ChIP Assay Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Upstate, Charlottesville, VA). This kit is optimized for immunoprecipitation of transcriptionally active chromatin from mammalian cells. Briefly, histones were cross-linked to DNA by adding formaldehyde to a final concentration of 1% and incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature. 10X glycine was then added to each dish to quench unreacted formaldehyde. Cells were washed twice with cold PBS containing 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail II, and gently scraped into 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tubes. After centrifuging cells at 800 g for 10 minute at 4°C, ChIP lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-HCL pH 8.0) plus 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail II are added and incubated on ice for 15 minutes. This is followed by sonication of chromatin to an average size of ~ 500bp and immunoprecipitated with protein A magnetic beads and either rabbit anti-human STAT3 antibody or normal IgG antibody overnight at 4°C. The protein A magnetic beads were then pelleted using a magnetic separator (Upstate) and the protein A beadantibody/chromatin complex was washed using the provided buffers. Histone complex were then eluted with ChIP elution buffer and incubated at 65°C for 2 hours with shaking, followed by 10 minute incubation at 95°C. Beads were then separated using the magnetic separator and supernatant was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube. DNA was recovered using the DNA Purification spin columns provided and then used for PCR. Primer pairs were designed by Primer3 Input 0.4.0 to detect SALL4 promoter region containing putative STAT3-binding sites. The primer sequences are as follow: Primer #1 (209 bp) forward: 5'- GCCCAGAGCAGTTATGGAAA-3', reverse: 5'-ATTGA CACATGATGCCTGGA-3', Primer #2 (220 bp) forward: 5'- GATAGCTGGAGCAA GGATGG-3', reverse: 5' ATGAGCCCTGACAGCTGATT-3'. PCR was performed by adding 500 ng of DNA product into 25 μ L volume reaction containing 1X buffer, 200 μ M of each dNTPs, oligonucleotide primer, and 0.2 U Ampli*Taq* polymerase. For DNA amplification, DNA was denatured at 94°C for 30 second, subjected to primer annealing at 60°C for 30 second, followed by DNA extension at 72°C for 30 second for 32 cycles in a thermal cycler (Applied Biosystems). Amplified product were analyzed by DNA gel electrophoresis in 1% agarose and visualized by the Alpha Imager 3400 (Alpha Innotech).

5.2.10. Site Specific Mutagenesis

The human SALL4 promoter consists of approximately 2.0 Kb genomic DNA. Potential STAT3-binding sites in the SALL4 promoter was determined by searching the 2.0 Kb region for consensus STAT-binding sites, $(TTN_{(4-6)}AA)$ and consensus STAT3-binding sites, TTMXXXDAA (D: A, G, T; M: A, C) (Qian et al., 2006). Four sites at positions - 199, - 1229, -1270, -1316 upstream of the initiation site were selected and specifically mutated using the GeneEditor in vitro Site-Directed Mutagenesis system according to the manufacturer's protocol (Promega). Site-directed mutagenesis is a valuable tool to

evaluate the function of DNA and protein and the GeneEditor system uses antibiotic selection to obtain high frequency of mutants. Design of the mutagenic oligonucleotides was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. In general, greater than 24base oligonucleotide with mismatch located in the center is sufficient for 2 or more mismatches. To stabilize the annealing between the nucleotide and template DNA, the 3' end of the oligonucleotide should end with either a G or C nucleotide. Oligonucleotide sequences are listed below with mutations underlined and in lower case: -1316 from ATGCCCAGAGCAGTTATGGAAAGACCAATC to ATGCCCAGAGCAGgcgtGGA AAGACCAATC, -1270 from GATGATTTCATCATTCATTTAACATTTATTG to GATGATTTCATCAgcgtTTTAACATTTATTG, -1229 from TTGTGTAAAGCAGT TAGCCAAATTAAGTATAC to TTGTGTAAAGCAGgcgtCCAAATTAAGTATAC, and -199 from GATCAATGAGGGCTTATTTAAATGATCTC to GATCAATGAGG GCgcgTTTAAATGATCTC. pGL3 SALL3 reporter construct was the template used for the mutagenesis study. Mutants were screened by direct sequencing using the 3130XL Genetics Analyzer (Applied Biosystems). Plasmids were amplified using Maxi-prep kit (Qiagen).

5.2.11. STAT3DN Adenoviral Vector

The production and characteristics of AdSTAT3DN have been previously described (Kunisada et al., 1998). Briefly, the adenoviral vector was deleted at the E1A region. Using site-directed mutagenesis technique, the STAT3 cDNA was modified such that the Tyr705 residue was replaced by phenylalanine. Expression of STAT3 was driven by the

rabbit β -actin promoter and cytomegalovirus enhancer. The construct was epitopetagged with FLAG (DYKDDDDK) (Kodak) at the N terminal.

5.2.12. Generation of SALL4 siRNA Retrovirus

The generation of SALL4 siRNA construct was previously described (Yang et al., 2007) Briefly, the Phoenix packaging cells (ATCC SD-3443) were grown at 37° C in 5% CO₂ and maintained in maintained in DMEM (Sigma). Recombinant retroviruses were produced by using the Phoenix packaging cell line that was transfected with the pSuper construct containing the control RNAi sequence or sequence directed against SALL4. The viral supernatant was collected 48 h after transfection and filtered through a 0.45-µm filter.

5.2.13. MTS Assay

To determine the effect of SALL4 on cell viability, MDA-MB-231 cells were infected with either SALL4 siRNA or empty vector retrovirus and the MTS assay (Promega) was performed after 48 hours. 1,000 cells were seeded in 96-well culture plates and cell viability was measured daily using a colorimetric Microplate reader (Biorad) at 450nm and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1 (Biorad).

5.3. Results

5.3.1 SALL4 gene promoter contains the STAT3 consensus sequence

As summarized in Table 5.1 and 5.2, sequence analysis of the -2 Kb *SALL4* promoter region in both humans and mice revealed 27 potential binding sites for STAT that is characterized by the consensus sequence, $TTN_{(4-6)}AA$ (Seidel et al., 1995). Among these sites, 4 in humans and 10 in mice contain TTMXXXDAA (D: A, G, T; M: A, C), the consensus sequence of STAT3 (Ehret et al., 2001; Qian et al., 2006). In humans, the 4 STAT3 potential binding sites begin at the following positions: -199, - 1229, -1270, and - 1316, upstream of the ATG transcription initiation site.

Table 5.1.	Potential S	STAT3-bindin	g sites in	human	SALL4	promoter
* Specific S	STAT3-bind	ting sites				

Site	Location	Consensus sites	Site	Location	Consensus sites
number	relative to	TTN ₍₄₋₆)AA	number	relative to	TTN ₍₄₋₆)AA
1	-73	TTTCCCAA	15	-1092	TTTTCTGTAA
2	-124	TTGATAATAA	16	-1229	TTAGCCAAA *
3	-199	ТТАТТТААА *	17	-1242	TTGTGTAAA
4	-255	TTTGTCACAA	18	-1270	ТТСАТТТАА *
5	-433	TTCTACGTAA	19	-1316	TTATGGAAA *
6	-442	TTCCAAAA	20	-1360	TTACAATGAA
7	-472	TTTGGAGCAA	21	-1512	TTGTCCAA
8	-576	TTGGGGGAA	22	-1582	TTCAACAA
9	-618	ТТААТСАААА	23	-1622	TTATACATAA
10	-722	TTTTGGAA	24	-1634	TTGCTTTAAA
11	-799	TTTGTGAA	25	-1655	TTGGCTATAA
12	-847	TTGAAGTTAA	26	-1691	TTATTAAA
13	-1046	TTAGTAACAA	27	-1879	TTTTCCTTAA
.14	-1071	TTGCACAA			

Table 5.2.	Potential ST	FAT3-binding	sites in	mouse S	ALL4 I	promoter
* Specific S	STAT3-bindi	ng sites				

Site	Location relative to	Consensus sites	Site	Location relative to	Consensus sites	
mumber	ATG	1 111(4-0/2 1/1	number	ATG	I I I I (4-0)/ 1/ 1	
1	-203	TTATTTAAA *	15	-1041	TTAGGAAA	
2	-410	ТТСААТААА *	16	-1076	TTGAGAAAA*	
3	-439	TTCTAGAA	17	-1100	TTAGCCAA	
4	-482	TTACTACAA	18	-1111	TTGCAAGGAA	
5	-614	ТТСССТААА *	19	-1137	TTCTTCAA	
6	-683	TTAGGTAA	20	-1147	TTAGTTGAA *	
7	-775	TTACAACAA	21	-1447	TTTCTGTAA	
8	-794	TTCCGAAAA*	22	-1478	TTGCAGAA	
9	-856	TTCTAGCAA	23	-1692	TTCCCAGAA *	
10	-869	TTCTGGAA	24	-1774	ТТСССТТАА *	
11	-942	TTAAGTACAA	25	-1785	TTACACAA	
12	-955	TTCTAGAAA *	26	-1808	TTAGATAAA *	
13	-983	TTCTGTAA	27	-1919	TTATGAAA	
14	-1024	TTCCCGAA				

5.3.2. STAT3 regulates SALL4 gene expression

To establish the functional relationship between the STAT3 activity and SALL4 gene expression, the *in vitro* model that was previously established and described in chapter 2 was employed. The expression of STAT3C in MCF-7 breast cancer cell line (STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7) can be downregulated by the addition of tetracycline to the cell culture in a dose-dependent fashion (Dien et al., 2006). As shown in Figure 5.1a, the FLAG epitope that has been tagged to STAT3C construct was strongly expressed in the absence of tetracycline. With the addition of increasing doses of tetracycline to the cell culture (20 and 60 µg/mL), there was a gradual decrease in the expression of the FLAG epitope. Accordingly, the total STAT3 level, which included both the endogenous STAT3 and exogenous STAT3C, was also decreased. β -actin, the loading control, was unchanged in all 3 lanes. As shown in Figure 5.1b, which was derived from the same Western blots used for Figure 5.1a, the protein expression of SALL4 was significantly decreased with the addition of tetracycline; it was undetectable at 60 of μ g/mL of tetracycline. HL-60 (an AML cell line) served as the positive control whereas Mino (a MCL cell line) served as the negative control for SALL4. To confirm these results, RT-PCR was performed and consistent results were obtained. As shown in Figure 5.2, STAT3C tet-off MCF-7 cells expressed SALL4 mRNA at a much higher level in the absence of tetracycline treatment, compared to cells treated with tetracycline, at 20 or 60 µg/mL. HL-60 and Mino cell lines served as the positive and negative control, respectively. The sequences of the RT-PCR amplicons for SALL4 were confirmed (results not shown).

To further establish the functional relationship between the STAT3 activity and *SALL4* gene expression, STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells were transfected with a vector containing the human *SALL4* promoter/pGL3-basic luciferase reporter. All the transfection experiments performed included a β -GAL expressing vector as a control for the transfection efficiency. A relatively robust luciferase activity was detectable in the absence of tetracycline, and hence, a high level of STAT3C expression. As shown in Figure 5.3, addition of tetracycline resulted in a significant decrease in the *SALL4* promoter luciferase activity. The relative luciferase activity was calculated by normalizing the luciferase activity to the β -GAL activity.



Figure 5.1. SALL4 expression in STAT3C ^{tet-off} system. MCF-7 cells permanently expressing tTA-TRE-STAT3C were treated with 0, 20, and 60 μ g/mL of tetracycline and SALL4 expression was assessed by Western blot. (a). Flag, the epitope tagged in the STAT3C construct was detected using an anti-FLAG antibody. Detection of the total cellular STAT3 followed using an anti-STAT3 antibody. Treatment with increasing concentrations of tetracycline resulted in a decrease in FLAG and STAT3 expression with FLAG levels undetectable at 60 μ g/mL. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. (b). SALL4 expression was detected using an anti-SALL4 antibody. SALL4 expression was detected in the STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells that were not treated with tetracycline. In contrast, the addition of tetracycline was sufficient in shutting down SALL4 expression. AML cell line, HL-60, was included as a positive control for SALL4 and MCL cell line, Mino, were included as a protein loading control. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. AML cell line, HL-60, was included as a positive control for SALL4 and MCL cell line, Mino, were included as a protein loading control.



Figure 5.2. SALL4 mRNA expression STAT3C ^{tet-off} system. RNA extraction was performed on STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells treated with 0, 20, and 60 μ g/mL of tetracycline. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of SALL4 in the 0 and 20 μ g/mL of tetracycline sample but SALL4 mRNA expression was absent in the 60 μ g/mL of tetracycline sample. HL-60 was included as a positive control and Mino was included as a negative control for SALL4. GAPDH was included as an internal control.



Figure 5.3. SALL4 transcriptional activation is STAT3 dependent. Luciferase assay was performed on STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells treated with 0 and 20 μ g/mL of tetracycline. Cells were transiently transfected with human SALL4 luciferase promoter and β -GAL. Luciferase activity was read using a luminometer and levels were normalized with the β -GAL activity. Luciferase activity was much higher in the transfected cells with no tetracycline treatment compared to the transfected cells treated with 20 μ g/mL of tetracycline. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

5.3.3. STAT3 binds to SALL4 Promoter

To determine whether there is a direct binding of STAT3 to the STAT3-binding consensus sequences on the SALL4 promoter, chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed using MDA-MB-231, a breast cancer cell line expressing high activated STAT3. After extraction, chromatin was immunoprecipitated using anti-STAT3 Immunoprecipitation with normal rabbit IgG antibody was used as the antibody. negative control. Figure 5.4a is a schematic representation of the primer sets that were design to include the 4 putative STAT3-binding sites on the human SALL4 promoter, with primer #1 spanning 3 STAT3 sites (-1316, -1270, -1229) and primer #2 spanning 1 STAT3 site (-199). The use of both primer #1 and primer #2 yielded amplifiable products of the SALL4 promoter (Figure 5.4b). No amplifications were observed in the immunoprecipitation reactions that contained normal IgG antibody. The input lane was included as a control for PCR effectiveness. PCR without the addition of DNA templates was used as the negative control.



Figure 5.4. STAT3 binds to the human SALL4 promoter. (a). Schematic representation of the primer sets specific for the SALL4 promoter that was used in this study. Primer #1 consists of 3 STAT3-binding sites and primer #2 consist of 1 STAT3-binding site. (b). Chromatin immunoprecipitation was performed on breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, using antibody against STAT3 or normal rabbit IgG antibody. PCR was performed on the purified DNA using the 2 primer sets. PCR with primer #1 and #2 revealed amplicons for MDA-MB-231 using anti-STAT3 antibody. In contrast, no amplicons were observed in the anti-IgG antibody samples.

Site-directed mutagenesis was used to mutate all of the 4 putative STAT3-binding sites. Mutations were confirmed by DNA sequencing and are described as followed: -1316 from TTATGGAAA to gcgtGGAAA, -1270 from TTCATTTAA to gcgtTTTAA, -1229 from TTAGCCAAA to gcgtCCAAA, and -199 from TTATTTAAA to gcgTTTAAA. STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells were transfected with β -GAL, and with either wild type or the mutated constructs. Subsequently, luciferase assay was performed. After normalization with β -GAL, the relative luciferase activity for each mutated constructs was compared to that of the un-mutated construct. The wild type luciferase promoter demonstrated the highest level of luciferase activity. In contrast, mutations at the promoter region at -199 resulted in the most significant down-regulation of SALL4 promoter activity (Figure 5.5). The luciferase activity was also significantly reduced in the other mutants. These results correlated with those found in the chromatin immunoprecipitation assay, supporting the concept that there are more than one functional STAT3-binding site on the SALL4 promoter. Nevertheless, the STAT3-binding site at -199 appears to be most effective in modulating the gene expression of SALL4.



Figure 5.5. Transcriptional activation of *SALL4* promoter with altered STAT3binding sites compared to wild type. Site-directed mutagenesis was performed on the *SALL4* promoter with mutations of 3-4 basepairs on the 4 putative STAT3-binding sites: -1316 (Mut 1), -1270 (Mut 2), -1229 (Mut 3), -199 (Mut 4). Transcriptional activity of the *SALL4* promoter was compared between the 4 mutants and the wild type. Constructs + β -GAL were transiently transfected in STAT3C ^{tet-off} MCF-7 cells with no tetracycline treatment and luciferase assay was performed. Luciferase activity was normalized against β -GAL activity. Luciferase activity of all mutants was decreased when compared to the wild type with the most significant decrease founding Mut 4 (-199). Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

5.3.4. Detection of SALL4 in human cell lines

Since much of the data presented thus far in this chapter was based on the use of the SALL4/luciferase reporter gene construct, I tested if the SALL4 expression level can be regulated by modulating STAT3 activity in a native human cell line. While the expression of SALL4 is highly restricted in human cells (Cui et al., 2006), I was able to identify a relatively high level of SALL4 expression in several breast cancer cell lines, including MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, and MDA-MB-468, as shown in Figure 5.6a. HL-60 was included as the positive control and Mino cells were included as the negative control. To confirm SALL4 expression in these cell lines, RT-PCR was performed and SALL4 mRNA was detected in all three breast cancer cell lines (Figure 5.6b). The amplifiable PCR products were sequenced and the products were confirmed to be full-length SALL4 (data not shown). Since SALL4 is known to be a transcriptional factor itself, it is expected to be localized to the nucleus (Ma et al., 2006). Thus, nuclear-cytoplasmic fractionation was performed. As shown in Figure 5.7, I confirmed that SALL4 is localized to the nucleus in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. Interestingly, the SALL4 nuclear protein level was higher in MDA-MB-231 cells, which correlated with a substantially higher pSTAT3 level in the nuclei of MB-231 cells. The same membrane was re-probed with an antibody reactive with α -tubulin, a protein largely restricted to the cytoplasm; the absence of α -tubulin in the nuclear fraction indicates that our fractionation method was sufficient.

Using MDA-MB-231, which expressed both SALL4 and STAT3, I determined if STAT3 regulates *SALL4* gene expression in a native condition. STAT3 activation was inhibited

with the use of an adenoviral STAT3 dominant negative construct (Ad-STAT3DN), which has been previously described in details (Khoury JD, 2003). As shown in Figure 5.8, MDA-MB-231 cells infected with Ad-STAT3DN for 24 hours showed expression of the FLAG epitope that was associated with the STAT3DN construct. *SALL4* expression was down-regulated in these cells. These results were in contrast with cells treated with an adenoviral vector expressing green fluorescence protein (Ad-GFP).



Figure 5.6. Expression of SALL4 in breast cancer cell lines. (a) Protein lysates for MDA-MB-468, MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, HL-60, and Mino were used and lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. SALL4 was detected using an anti-SALL4 antibody. Western blot analysis confirmed the expression of SALL4 in all breast cancer cells lines examined. HL-60 was included as a positive control and Mino were included as a negative control for SALL4. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. (b) RNA extraction was performed on MDA-MB-468, MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, HL-60, and Mino. RT-PCR studies demonstrated the presence of SALL4 in breast cancer cell lines. HL-60 was included as a negative control and Mino was included as a negative control for SALL4. GAPDH was included as an internal control.



Figure 5.7. Nuclear SALL4 correlated with pSTAT3 in breast cancer. Nuclear extraction was performed on MDA-MB-231, MCF-7, SU-DHL-1, and Mino. Western blot analysis demonstrated the presence of nuclear SALL4 in both breast cancer cell lines and tumor. SALL4 was detected using an anti-SALL4 antibody and α -Tubulin, a cytoplasmic protein, was detected using anti- α -Tubulin antibody. This was included to ensure that no cytoplasmic protein was carried over during nuclear extraction. Levels of nuclear SALL4 expression was compared to pSTAT3 levels in these cell lines. Phosphorylated STAT3 was detected using anti-pSTAT3 antibody. Nuclear SALL4 expression correlated with pSTAT3 levels. ALK+ALCL cell line was included as a positive control and Mino was included as negative control for both SALL4 and pSTAT3. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control for pSTAT3.



Figure 5.8. STAT3 up-regulated SALL4 expression. MDA-MB-231 cells were treated with AdSTAT3DN for 24 hours and protein lysates was generated. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. Untreated cells were included as a negative control. In the AdSTAT3Dn treated cells, FLAG expression was detected and total STAT3 levels was increased and is representative of a decrease in phosphorylated STAT3. In contrast, SALL4 levels were decreased with the addition of AdSTAT3DN, indicating that STAT3 can activate SALL4 expression. FLAG antibody was detected using anti-FLAG antibody. Total STAT3 was detected using anti-STAT3 antibody and SALL4 was detected using an anti-SALL4 antibody. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control

5.3.5. Effects of endogenous SALL4 on human cancer cell lines

To assess if the expression of SALL4, which is under the regulation of STAT3, is biologically meaningful, SALL4 expression was down-regulated in MDA-MB-231 using siRNA-mediated knockdown. MDA-MB-231 was infected with either SALL4 siRNA retrovirus or an empty-vector retrovirus for 48 hours. Trypan blue exclusion assay was used to count the number of viable cells and to assess cell morphology. There was a significant decrease in the number of viable cells in cells treated with SALL4 siRNA, but no appreciable apoptosis was detectable. Western blots were performed to confirm that SALL4 expression was down-regulated with the siRNA treatment. As illustrated in Figure 5.9a, SALL4 expression was down-regulated by approximately 50%. To further assess the effects of SALL4 on cell growth, MTS assay was performed 48 hours after retroviral infection. The cell growth index was measured daily for 4 days and a significant decrease in cell growth was observed in the SALL4 siRNA infected cells when compared to cells infected with the empty vector (Figure 5.9b). On day 4, there was approximately a 50% decrease in cell growth in the SALLA siRNA sample when compared to the control sample


Figure 5.9. SALL4 promote cell growth in breast cancer. (a). MDA-MB-231 cells was treated with SALL4 siRNA retrovirus or empty vector and protein lysates was generated. Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose. SALL4 levels were decreased on the siRNA treated cells compared to the empty vector treated cells. SALL4 was detected using an anti-SALL4 antibody. Nitrocellulose membrane stained for β -ACTIN was included as a protein loading control. Densitometry was performed to quantify the protein expression levels of SALL4.



b

Figure 5.9. (continued) (b). MDA-MD-231 cells were treated with SALL4 siRNA retrovirus (\blacksquare) or empty vector (\square). After 48 hours, cells were plated onto a 96-well culture plate (1,000 cells/well). Cell viability was measured colorimetrically at 450 nm and absorbance values were normalized using the Microplate Manager 5.2.1. Treatment of MDA-MB-231 with SALL4 siRNA retrovirus resulted in a decrease in cell growth compared to cells treated with the empty vector. Cell growth index was approximately 50% less in SALL4 siRNA retrovirus treated cells at Day 4. Graphical depiction illustrates the mean of triplicate experiments. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

5.4. Discussion

Since its discovery, STAT3 have been extensively studied, and it has been known to be critical for cell growth, differentiation and survival in normal cells. Aberrant activation of STAT3 is oncogenic and this biochemical abnormality is detectable in various cancer cell lines and tumors (Bowman et al., 2000; Calo et al., 2003; Levy and Lee, 2002). STAT3 is also known to play a critical role in maintaining the pluripotency and self-renewal state of mouse ES cells (Boeuf et al., 1997; Niwa et al., 1998). Murine ES cell lines are pluripotent cell lines derived from the inner cell mass (Evans and Kaufman, 1981; Martin, 1981) and its self-renewal is dependent on LIF, a cytokine known to mediate cellular response via heterodimerization of LIF receptor and gp130. The binding of LIF to the receptor complex triggers the activation of JAK tyrosine kinases, resulting in STAT3 activation (Gearing et al., 1991; Smith et al., 1988).

Similar to STAT3, SALL4, a newly designated proto-oncogene, also plays a fundamental role in the self-renewal and pluripotency of ES cells (Zhang et al., 2006). *SALL4* gene is one of four family members originally cloned on the basis of its DNA sequence homology to *Drosophila spalt* and known to play an important role in development (Al-Baradie et al., 2002; Borozdin et al., 2004; Kohlhase et al., 1996). Mutations of *SALL4* in humans has been reported in the Okihiro/Duane-Radial Ray syndrome, an autosomal dominant disorder which is characterized by radial ray defects and is associated with defects in multiple organs (Al-Baradie et al., 2002). Recent studies have shown that SALL4 plays an essential role in pluripotent maintenance of murine ES cells; decreasing

SALL4 expression by siRNA resulted in the differentiation of ES cells to the trophoblast lineage (Zhang et al., 2006).

In view of the common roles of STAT3 and SALL4 in maintaining the pluirpotency of ES cells and their importance in oncogenesis, this chapter investigated if there is also a functional link between STAT3 and SALL4. In this chapter, I have shown that the SALL4 promoter carries four STAT3 binding consensus sequences. STAT3 indeed binds to these four sites and regulates the gene expression of *SALL4*, with the binding region starting at -199 being the most influential. This concept is in keeping with the observations that site-directed mutations at the all four STAT3-binding sites significantly reduced the luciferase activity in our *SALL4*/luciferase reporter gene assay, and the functional relationship between STAT3 and SALL4 was confirmed using a native human cell line that expressed both STAT3 and SALL4.

For the first time, I demonstrated that aberrant activation of SALL4 was detectable in various breast cancer cell lines. SALL4 expression in these cells is likely to be functional since it is localized to the nucleus. Moreover, by comparing the results of MDA-MB-231 and MCF7, the nuclear SALL4 protein level appears to correlate with that of pSTAT3, although more comprehensive study is required to confirm this impression. The finding of relatively consistent expression of SALL4 in various breast cancer cell lines is initially surprising, considering that SALL4 is believed to be a stem cell marker (Elling et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2006). Nevertheless, it is not uncommon for stem cell markers to be

expressed in carcinoma cells. For instance, Oct4, one of the key regulators of ES cells, was detectable in a variety of human cancers including that of breast, lung, pancreas, colon and ovary (Monk and Holding, 2001). In addition to Oct4, a relatively recent study by Ezeh et al. identified expression of Nanog, another regulator of ES cells, in breast tumors and cell lines but not in normal breast tissues (Ezeh et al., 2005). Although the biological role of Nanog and Oct4 in cancer is largely unknown, the expression of these two markers may correlate with tumor aggressiveness. Specifically, a recent study reported that expression of *Nanog* and *Oct4* is associated with a high-grade histology (Ben-Porath et al., 2008). Similar to SALL4, the interactions between STAT3 and both Oct4 and Nanog have been reported to be essential for the maintenance of murine ES cells in a pluripotent state (Chambers, 2004) and for oncogenesis (Gibbs et al., 2005). For instance, Oct4 is reported to provide anti-apoptotic effects in murine ES cells and this effect may be mediated by the STAT3 signaling pathway (Guo et al., 2008). Coexpression of STAT3, Oct4 and Nanog has been reported in bone sarcoma cells, although whether STAT3 is responsible for the expression of Oct4 and Nanog in these cells were not addressed (Gibbs et al., 2005). In light of the findings in this chapter, it is tempting to speculate that STAT3 may directly contribute to the aberrant expression of these stem cell markers in various forms of human cancer.

SALL4 appears to be biologically significant in the breast cancer cell lines, since siRNAmediated downregulation of SALL4 expression in MDA-MB-231 led to a significant decrease in cell growth. Interestingly, it has been reported that breast cancer cells treated with Ad-STAT3DN also showed cell cycle arrest and it is possible that this biological effect may be mediated via SALL4. While the focus of this chapter is related to the functional link between STAT3 and SALL4, our laboratory is currently further investigating the clinical and biological significance of SALL4 in breast cancer.

The oncogenic potential of SALL4 has been recently revealed by multiple studies. The SALL4 transgenic mice exhibit myelodysplastic-like features including ineffective hematopoiesis and increased proportion of immature cells (Ma et al., 2006). The SALL4 level was found to be consistently increased with progression to leukemia. SALL4 is known to directly target the BMI-1 gene, a marker that is important in predicting the disease progression of acute myeloid leukemia (Yang et al., 2007). Interestingly, SALL4 have been reported to directly bind to β -catenin and activate the Wnt canonical pathway signaling pathway (Ma et al., 2006). Another study reported that the Wnt canonical signaling pathway can directly regulate SALL4 expression by direct interaction of T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor 1 (TCF/LEF1), members of the Wnt signalling pathway, with the SALL4 promoter (Bohm et al., 2006). This particular interaction has been elucidated in various vital physiological phenomena (Arias, 2001; Huelsken et al., 2001; Tan et al., 2005), such as maintenance of pluripotent cells in a proliferative state, promotion of self-renewal in stem cells (Reya et al., 2003; Willert et al., 2003) and regulation of cell proliferation, migration, apoptosis and differentiation (Miller, 2002). Taken together, it is highly likely that SALL4 cooperates with the Wnt canonical pathway, as well as the STAT3 signaling pathway, to promote tumorigenesis in various human malignancies.

To conclude, this chapter describes a novel link between STAT3 and SALL4 where *SALL4* is reported to be a direct target gene of STAT3. Furthermore, I delineated the specific STAT3-binding region required for optimal transcriptional activation of SALL4. This data suggests that STAT3 and SALL4 likely cooperate, in both physiological and pathologic states.

5.5. References

Al-Baradie, R., Yamada, K., St Hilaire, C., Chan, W. M., Andrews, C., McIntosh, N., Nakano, M., Martonyi, E. J., Raymond, W. R., Okumura, S., *et al.* (2002). Duane radial ray syndrome (Okihiro syndrome) maps to 20q13 and results from mutations in SALL4, a new member of the SAL family. Am J Hum Genet 71, 1195-1199.

Amin, H. M., McDonnell, T. J., Medeiros, L. J., Rassidakis, G. Z., Leventaki, V., O'Connor, S. L., Keating, M. J., and Lai, R. (2003). Characterization of 4 mantle cell lymphoma cell lines. Arch Pathol Lab Med *127*, 424-431.

Arias, A. M. (2001). Epithelial mesenchymal interactions in cancer and development. Cell 105, 425-431.

Benekli, M., Xia, Z., Donohue, K. A., Ford, L. A., Pixley, L. A., Baer, M. R., Baumann, H., and Wetzler, M. (2002). Constitutive activity of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 protein in acute myeloid leukemia blasts is associated with short disease-free survival. Blood *99*, 252-257.

Boeuf, H., Hauss, C., Graeve, F. D., Baran, N., and Kedinger, C. (1997). Leukemia inhibitory factor-dependent transcriptional activation in embryonic stem cells. J Cell Biol *138*, 1207-1217.

Bohm, J., Sustmann, C., Wilhelm, C., and Kohlhase, J. (2006). SALL4 is directly activated by TCF/LEF in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *348*, 898-907.

Borozdin, W., Wright, M. J., Hennekam, R. C., Hannibal, M. C., Crow, Y. J., Neumann, T. E., and Kohlhase, J. (2004). Novel mutations in the gene SALL4 provide further evidence for acro-renal-ocular and Okihiro syndromes being allelic entities, and extend the phenotypic spectrum. J Med Genet *41*, e102.

Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., and Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. Oncogene 19, 2474-2488.

Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. Cell *98*, 295-303.

Burke, W. M., Jin, X., Lin, H. J., Huang, M., Liu, R., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2001). Inhibition of constitutively active Stat3 suppresses growth of human ovarian and breast cancer cells. Oncogene 20, 7925-7934.

Calo, V., Migliavacca, M., Bazan, V., Macaluso, M., Buscemi, M., Gebbia, N., and Russo, A. (2003). STAT proteins: from normal control of cellular events to tumorigenesis. J Cell Physiol 197, 157-168.

Chambers, I., and Smith, A. (2004). Self-renewal of teratocarcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Oncogene 23, 7150-7160.

Clevenger, C. V. (2004). Roles and regulation of stat family transcription factors in human breast cancer. Am J Pathol 165, 1449-1460.

Coppo, P., Dusanter-Fourt, I., Millot, G., Nogueira, M. M., Dugray, A., Bonnet, M. L., Mitjavila-Garcia, M. T., Le Pesteur, D., Guilhot, F., Vainchenker, W., *et al.* (2003). Constitutive and specific activation of STAT3 by BCR-ABL in embryonic stem cells. Oncogene *22*, 4102-4110.

Cui, W., Kong, N. R., Ma, Y., Amin, H. M., Lai, R., and Chai, L. (2006). Differential expression of the novel oncogene, SALL4, in lymphoma, plasma cell myeloma, and acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Mod Pathol *19*, 1585-1592.

Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1997). Stats and Gene Regulation. Science 277, 1630-1635.

Diaz, N., Minton, S., Cox, C., Bowman, T., Gritsko, T., Garcia, R., Eweis, I., Wloch, M., Livingston, S., Seijo, E., *et al.* (2006). Activation of stat3 in primary tumors from high-risk breast cancer patients is associated with elevated levels of activated SRC and survivin expression. Clin Cancer Res *12*, 20-28.

Dien, J., Amin, H. M., Chiu, N., Wong, W., Frantz, C., Chiu, B., Mackey, J. R., and Lai, R. (2006). Signal transducers and activators of transcription-3 up-regulates tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 expression and decreases invasiveness of breast cancer. Am J Pathol *169*, 633-642.

Dolled-Filhart, M., RL, C., DP, K., BL, S., and DL, R. (2003). Tissue microarray analysis of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) and phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) in node-negative breast cancer shows nuclear localization is associated with a better prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research *9*, 594-600.

Ehret, G. B., Reichenbach, P., Schindler, U., Horvath, C. M., Fritz, S., Nabholz, M., and Bucher, P. (2001). DNA binding specificity of different STAT proteins. Comparison of in vitro specificity with natural target sites. J Biol Chem 276, 6675-6688.

Elling, U., Klasen, C., Eisenberger, T., Anlag, K., and Treier, M. (2006). Murine inner cell mass-derived lineages depend on Sall4 function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *103*, 16319-16324.

Evans, M. J., and Kaufman, M. H. (1981). Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292, 154-156.

Ezeh, U. I., Turek, P. J., Reijo, R. A., and Clark, A. T. (2005). Human embryonic stem cell genes OCT4, NANOG, STELLAR, and GDF3 are expressed in both seminoma and breast carcinoma. Cancer *104*, 2255-2265.

Fujitani, Y., Hibi, M., Fukada, T., Takahashi-Tezuka, M., Yoshida, H., Yamaguchi, T., Sugiyama, K., Yamanaka, Y., Nakajima, K., and Hirano, T. (1997). An alternative pathway for STAT activation that is mediated by the direct interaction between JAK and STAT. Oncogene *14*, 751-761.

Garcia, R., Bowman, T. L., Niu, G., Yu, H., Minton, S., Muro-Cacho, C. A., Cox, C. E., Falcone, R., Fairclough, R., Parsons, S., *et al.* (2001). Constitutive activation of Stat3 by the Src and JAK tyrosine kinases participates in growth regulation of human breast carcinoma cells. Oncogene *20*, 2499-2513.

Gearing, D. P., Thut, C. J., VandeBos, T., Gimpel, S. D., Delaney, P. B., King, J., Price, V., Cosman, D., and Beckmann, M. P. (1991). Leukemia inhibitory factor receptor is structurally related to the IL-6 signal transducer, gp130. Embo J *10*, 2839-2848.

Guo, Y., Mantel, C., Hromas, R. A., and Broxmeyer, H. E. (2008). Oct-4 is critical for survival/antiapoptosis of murine embryonic stem cells subjected to stress: effects associated with Stat3/survivin. Stem Cells *26*, 30-34.

Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Erdmann, B., Cotsarelis, G., and Birchmeier, W. (2001). beta-Catenin controls hair follicle morphogenesis and stem cell differentiation in the skin. Cell 105, 533-545.

Kohlhase, J., Schuh, R., Dowe, G., Kuhnlein, R. P., Jackle, H., Schroeder, B., Schulz-Schaeffer, W., Kretzschmar, H. A., Kohler, A., Muller, U., *et al.* (1996). Isolation, characterization, and organ-specific expression of two novel human zinc finger genes related to the Drosophila gene spalt. Genomics *38*, 291-298.

Kunisada, K., Tone, E., Fujio, Y., Matsui, H., Yamauchi-Takihara, K., and Kishimoto, T. (1998). Activation of gp130 transduces hypertrophic signals via STAT3 in cardiac myocytes. Circulation *98*, 346-352.

Levy, D. E., and Lee, C. K. (2002). What does Stat3 do? J Clin Invest *109*, 1143-1148. Li, L., and Shaw, P. (2002). Autocrine-mediated Activation of STAT3 Correlates with Cell Proliferation in Breast Carcinoma Lines. Journal of Biological Chemistry *277*, 17397-17405.

Ma, Y., Cui, W., Yang, J., Qu, J., Di, C., Amin, H. M., Lai, R., Ritz, J., Krause, D. S., and Chai, L. (2006). SALL4, a novel oncogene, is constitutively expressed in human acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and induces AML in transgenic mice. Blood *108*, 2726-2735.

Martin, G. R. (1981). Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 78, 7634-7638.

Miller, J. R. (2002). The Wnts. Genome Biol 3, REVIEWS3001.

Minami, M., Inoue, M., Wei, S., Takeda, K., Matsumoto, M., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1996). STAT3 activation is a critical step in gp130-mediated terminal differentiation and growth arrest of a myeloid cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *93*, 3963-3966.

Monk, M., and Holding, C. (2001). Human embryonic genes re-expressed in cancer cells. Oncogene 20, 8085-8091.

Morris, S. W., Kirstein, M. N., Valentine, M. B., Dittmer, K. G., Shapiro, D. N., Saltman, D. L., and Look, A. T. (1994). Fusion of a kinase gene, ALK, to a nucleolar protein gene, NPM, in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Science 263, 1281-1284.

Ng, D. C., Lin, B. H., Lim, C. P., Huang, G., Zhang, T., Poli, V., and Cao, X. (2006). Stat3 regulates microtubules by antagonizing the depolymerization activity of stathmin. J Cell Biol *172*, 245-257.

Niwa, H. (2001). Molecular mechanism to maintain stem cell renewal of ES cells. Cell Struct Funct 26, 137-148.

Niwa, H., Burdon, T., Chambers, I., and Smith, A. (1998). Self-renewal of pluripotent embryonic stem cells is mediated via activation of STAT3. Genes Dev *12*, 2048-2060.

Niwa, H., Miyazaki, J., and Smith, A. G. (2000). Quantitative expression of Oct-3/4 defines differentiation, dedifferentiation or self-renewal of ES cells. Nat Genet 24, 372-376.

Qian, L., Chen, L., Shi, M., Yu, M., Jin, B., Hu, M., Xia, Q., Zhang, X., Shen, B., and Guo, N. (2006). A novel cis-acting element in Her2 promoter regulated by Stat3 in mammary cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun *345*, 660-668.

Raz, R., Lee, C. K., Cannizzaro, L. A., d'Eustachio, P., and Levy, D. E. (1999). Essential role of STAT3 for embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *96*, 2846-2851.

Reya, T., Duncan, A. W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D. C., Willert, K., Hintz, L., Nusse, R., and Weissman, I. L. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature 423, 409-414.

Scholz, A., Heinze, S., Detjen, K. M., Peters, M., Welzel, M., Hauff, P., Schirner, M., Wiedenmann, B., and Rosewicz, S. (2003). Activated signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) supports the malignant phenotype of human pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology *125*, 891-905.

Seidel, H. M., Milocco, L. H., Lamb, P., Darnell, J. E., Jr., Stein, R. B., and Rosen, J. (1995). Spacing of palindromic half sites as a determinant of selective STAT (signal

transducers and activators of transcription) DNA binding and transcriptional activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 3041-3045.

Smith, A. G., Heath, J. K., Donaldson, D. D., Wong, G. G., Moreau, J., Stahl, M., and Rogers, D. (1988). Inhibition of pluripotential embryonic stem cell differentiation by purified polypeptides. Nature *336*, 688-690.

Takeda, K., Noguchi, K., Shi, W., Tanaka, T., Matsumoto, M., Yoshida, N., Kishimoto, T., and Akira, S. (1997). Targeted disruption of the mouse Stat3 gene leads to early embryonic lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 3801-3804.

Tan, X., Apte, U., Micsenyi, A., Kotsagrelos, E., Luo, J. H., Ranganathan, S., Monga, D. K., Bell, A., Michalopoulos, G. K., and Monga, S. P. (2005). Epidermal growth factor receptor: a novel target of the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in liver. Gastroenterology *129*, 285-302.

Vernallis, A. B., Hudson, K. R., and Heath, J. K. (1997). An antagonist for the leukemia inhibitory factor receptor inhibits leukemia inhibitory factor, cardiotrophin-1, ciliary neurotrophic factor, and oncostatin M. J Biol Chem 272, 26947-26952.

Watson, C. J., and Miller, W. R. (1995). Elevated levels of members of the STAT family of transcription factors in breast carcinoma nuclear extracts. Br J Cancer 71, 840-844.

Willert, K., Brown, J. D., Danenberg, E., Duncan, A. W., Weissman, I. L., Reya, T., Yates, J. R., 3rd, and Nusse, R. (2003). Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. Nature 423, 448-452.

Yang, J., Chai, L., Liu, F., Fink, L. M., Lin, P., Silberstein, L. E., Amin, H. M., Ward, D. C., and Ma, Y. (2007). Bmi-1 is a target gene for SALL4 in hematopoietic and leukemic cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 10494-10499.

Yu, H., and Jove, R. (2004). The STATs of cancer--new molecular targets come of age. Nat Rev Cancer 4, 97-105.

Zamo, A., Chiarle, R., Piva, R., Howes, J., Fan, Y., Chilosi, M., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2002). Anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) activates Stat3 and protects hematopoietic cells from cell death. Oncogene *21*, 1038-1047.

Zhang F, L. C., Halfter H, Liu J (2003). Delineating an oncostatin M-activated STAT3 signaling pathway that coordinates the expression of genes involved in cell cycle regulation and extracellular matrix deposition of MCF-7 cells. Oncogene *22*, 894-905.

Zhang, J., Tam, W. L., Tong, G. Q., Wu, Q., Chan, H. Y., Soh, B. S., Lou, Y., Yang, J., Ma, Y., Chai, L., *et al.* (2006). Sall4 modulates embryonic stem cell pluripotency and early embryonic development by the transcriptional regulation of Pou5f1. Nat Cell Biol *8*, 1114-1123.

Zhou, Q., Chipperfield, H., Melton, D. A., and Wong, W. H. (2007). A gene regulatory network in mouse embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 16438-16443.

Chapter 6 •

Discussion

6.1. Thesis overview

In this thesis, I have extensively evaluated the role of STAT3 in oncogenesis by identifying novel upstream regulators and direct target genes of STAT3. Previous studies demonstrated aberrant activation of STAT3 in a number of human cancer cell lines and tumors (Bowman et al., 2000; Bromberg, 2002; Garcia et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2000), including 90% of ALK⁺ALCL cases and approximately 50% of primary breast cancer cases (Chiarle et al., 2005; Diaz et al., 2006; Dolled-Filhart et al., 2003; Khoury JD, 2003). However, STAT3 signaling is biologically complex and the exact mechanism by which STAT3 mediates oncogenesis is not fully understood. Ι hypothesize that aberrant activation of STAT3 signaling, through aberrant cytokine upregulation and induction of downstream target genes, is clinically and biologically significant in the pathophysiology of a variety of human cancers. The three main objectives in this thesis is to increase our understanding of the effects of STAT3 in cancer by identifying specific targets of STAT3 that may contribute to the pathogenesis of cancer, by exploring the possible interactions of STAT3 with other oncogenes, and by identifying ESPs and corresponding receptors that may contribute to STAT3 activation in cancer. Through the identification of novel upstream and downstream targets of STAT3 and its biological effects, my work furthered our current understanding of the mechanism involved in the aberrant activation of STAT3 in oncogenesis. These novel findings may possibly lead to the development of novel anti-cancer treatments designed specifically to disrupt these targets of STAT3.

6.2. STAT3 activation by upstream regulators

One of the primary objectives in this thesis was to identify novel upstream regulators of STAT3 that may contribute to its oncogenic effects in cancer. The identification of upstream regulators of STAT3 is essential, not only to increase our understanding of how STAT3 becomes aberrantly activated in cancer, but also to provide us with possible therapeutic targets to treat STAT3-driven cancers.

As described in chapter 1, there are a number of different groups of cytokines that are reported to contribute to the aberrant activation of STAT3. Since many different cytokines are known to activate STAT3, it is not surprising that persistent activation of STAT3 can be a consequence of aberrant cytokine signaling that is either by autocrine or paracrine stimulation. One major cytokine that is well known to stimulate STAT3 activation is IL-6. In multiple myeloma cells, STAT3 activation is dependent on a well characterized IL-6 autocrine pathway, which contributes to the increase in survival observed in multiple myeloma (Catlett-Falcone R, 1999). In addition, autocrine IL-6mediated STAT3 activation and VEGF up-regulation was also observed in lung adenocarcinoma (Lee et al., 2008). Another cytokine that have been implicated in STAT3 activation is IL-9. Similar to IL-21, IL-9 is part of the common γ -chain family of cytokine receptors and requires the heterodimeric receptor complex IL-9R α and γ -chain to exert its function. Recently, autocrine release of IL-9 have been described in ALK⁺ALCL and resulted in JAK3/STAT3 activation to contribute to the pathogenesis of this type of lymphoma (Qiu et al., 2006).

In light of these findings, it is likely that an autocrine cytokine stimulatory pathway is a mechanism commonly utilized by cancer cells to promote tumorigenesis. This allows the tumor cells to independently produce its own cytokine, which in turn will affect cell growth and survival. In this thesis, a preliminary study was done using an oligoarray to identify cytokines that are expressed in an ALK⁺ALCL tumor. A number of cytokines were identified in the oligoarray but the only cytokines that were of interest were the ones that also had the corresponding receptor expressions, since cytokines are unable to exert their biological functions in the absence of their corresponding receptor complexes. Therefore, the two cytokines that I chose to focus on were IL-22 and IL-21. Both IL-22 and IL-21 have been reported to stimulate STAT3 signaling in other human cell types and cancer models (Nagalakshmi et al., 2004; Ueda et al., 2005), but the expression and effects of these two cytokines and their corresponding receptors have not been described in ALK⁺ALCL. Further studies in this thesis reported the activation of STAT3 by both IL-22 and IL-21 autocrine stimulatory pathways in ALK⁺ALCL (chapter 3 and 4). Of interest, II-22R1 is normally absent in T-cells, making ALK⁺ALCL a perfect model to study this aberrant stimulator of STAT3 signaling. Activation of STAT3 by IL-22 and IL-21 resulted in an increase in cell growth and tumorigenic potential in ALK⁺ALCL cell lines. Moreover, a novel function for NPM-ALK was described in chapter 3 where the oncogenic fusion gene was found to be responsible for the aberrant expression of IL-22R1 in ALK⁺ALCL.

6.3. STAT3-dependent activation of target genes

The second study objective of this thesis is to identify novel downstream targets of STAT3 in cancer. The identification of STAT3 target genes and its functions will assist us in understanding the effects of STAT3 signaling in cancer cells. Similarly to the first thesis objective, it may also provide us with possible therapeutic targets to treat STAT3-driven cancers.

As described in chapter 1, STAT3-regulated genes include ones that are involved in cell cycle progression, apoptosis, angiogenesis, cell invasion, metastasis, and immune function (Dauer et al., 2005; Galkin et al., 2007). TIMP1 have been suggested to be a direct target of STAT3 due to the presence of STAT3-binding sites on the TIMP1 promoter (Bugno et al., 1995). A previous study by Lai et al. reported that STAT3 plays a direct role in up-regulating TIMP1 expression in ALK⁺ALCL and that TIMP1 expression directly correlated with STAT3 activation in ALK⁺ALCL (Lai et al., 2004). In chapter 2, I demonstrated that STAT3 directly up-regulates TIMP1 expression in breast cancer cell lines and tumors, a novel finding that is supported by the presence of STAT3-binding sites on the TIMP1 promoter. This up-regulation of TIMP1 by STAT3 modulated the invasive potential of breast cancer cells lines. In addition, high STAT3 activation was found to inversely correlate with vascular and lymphatic invasion, a finding that is contradictory to the pro-oncogenic properties of STAT3 observed in other human tumors. However, it is well recognized that while some breast cancer patients present with metastatic diseases but relatively small primary tumors, other patients present as localized disease despite the presence of large primary tumors. Overall,

through up-regulation of many downstream targets, including TIMP1, STAT3 appears to carry an important role in modulating many biological aspects of breast cancer, including cell survival, proliferation, and invasive potential.

The inverse correlation observed between STAT3 and lymphatic/vascular invasion in chapter 2 is supported by a previous finding showing STAT3 nuclear localization in node-negative breast cancer was associated with significantly improved survival at both 5 and 20 years (Dolled-Filhart et al., 2003). In contrast, a latter study using immunohistochemical analysis reported high nuclear localization of pSTAT3 in stage III breast carcinoma (Diaz et al., 2006). Unlike the immunohistochemical study carried out in chapter 2, which included stages II, III, and IV breast carcinomas, Diaz and colleagues only compared pSTAT3 in stage III breast carcinoma with non-neoplastic breast tissue. The differences observed between these studies may also be partially due to the processing time of the tissue resection since phosphorylation STAT3 is subjected to tyrosine phosphatase activity. It is important to note that the primary breast tumors obtained for the study in chapter 2 were subjected to fixation in a timely fashion to avoid reduced STAT3 phosphorylation levels. Also, the primary focus of the latter study was to correlate STAT3 activation with chemotherapy resistance, not invasion (Diaz et al., 2006).

Overall, the metastatic process is complex and involves multiple steps, including invasion of tumor cells into tissue surrounding the primary tumor, entering the lymphatic vessels or the bloodstream, survival of circulatory cells, arrest in a new organ, extravasation into

the tissue, initiation and maintenance of growth, and vascularization of the metastatic tumor (Steeg P S, 1998). Chapter 2 suggests that differences in the STAT3 activity and TIMP1 expression in breast cancer may determine how early metastasis occurs during the course of the disease. However, aside from STAT3, numerous factors, including other oncogenes and tumor suppressors, are involved in this complex process and further work is essential to fully understand the complex network that is involved in controlling a cell's ability to stay localized in particular site or successfully metastasize to other regions. For example, experiments using SCID mice may be advantageous to directly assess the pathogenetic importance of STAT3 and TIMP1 in cancer. Injection of breast cancer cell lines permanently expressing TRE-STAT3C into mice, followed by tetracycline administration (through drinking water) at different dosage, will allow for sufficient evaluation of the oncogenic potential of STAT3 signaling at different levels of activation. Furthermore, cDNA microarray may be performed on breast cancer cell lines permanently expressing TRE-STAT3C to further detect novel molecular targets of STAT3.

In chapter 5, the direct association between STAT3 and SALL4 was first reported. SALL4 is a stem cell marker that is known to be important in the maintenance of embryonic stem cells in a pluripotent state (Zhang et al., 2006) and have recently been reported to be constitutively active in AML (Ma et al., 2006). This thesis reports that STAT3 will directly bind to the specific STAT3-binding sites on the *SALL4* promoter to regulate the transcriptional activation of SALL4. In addition, a specific functional region on the *SALL4* promoter was delineated and appears to be essential for SALL4 activation.

Interestingly, I demonstrated that SALL4 is also expressed in breast cancer cell lines. This finding can be considered controversial since SALL4 is believed to be a stem cell marker and is not expressed in normal breast tissues, however, stem cell markers have been previously reported to be expressed in cancer cells (Ezeh et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2006). Preliminary data discussed in chapter 5 revealed that SALL4 may have growth promoting properties in breast cancer cells, however further studies are required to fully understand the biological effects of aberrant activation of SALL4 in breast cancer and other human cancers. The next stage of this research will be to further evaluate the biological relationship between STAT3 and SALL4 using ES cells. It is expected that shutdown of STAT3 activation in ES cells will also result in ablation of SALL4 activation. Also, further work is required to further demonstrate the link between STAT3 and SALL4 in cancer. Immunohistochemical analysis on primary breast tumor sections should be performed to determine whether there is a correlation between STAT3 and Also, it will be of interest to determine whether SALL4 is SALL4 expression. constitutively activated in other human cancers and whether this activation is primarily due to STAT3 activation or other co-activators. For instance, our lab has identified SALL4 expression in ALK⁺ALCL, a type of lymphoma well known to have extremely high STAT3 activation. In contrast, SALL4 expression and STAT3 activation is absent in MCL.

6.4. Therapeutic implications for STAT3

The knowledge of signaling pathways has proven critical for the development of cancer therapies and efforts have been made to establish STAT3 as a valid molecular target for therapeutic intervention (Al Zaid Siddiquee and Turkson, 2008; Bromberg J and Darnell, 2000; Turkson J, 2000). As previously described in chapter 1, there are several anticancer strategies that have been pursued to directly target STAT3. Although targeted drugs have achieved great success in the initial clinical stages, drug resistance due to mutations and genetic alterations is inevitable and elucidates the importance of multi-target drugs. The use of 'cocktails' or a combination of agents that target different characteristics of the tumor cells is a potential approach to avoid drug resistance and to achieve maximal therapeutic benefits (Galkin et al., 2007). This emphasizes the importance of this thesis in identifying novel targets of STAT3 that may potentially lead to the development of new anti-cancer drugs.

The work in this thesis provides a framework for alternative strategies of targeting the STAT3 signaling pathway in cancer. Chapter 3 suggests that development of receptorligand interaction antagonists to prevent IL-22-dependent activation of STAT3 may be a possible strategy. Treating cancer cells that express IL-22R1 with the cytokine antagonist IL-22BP or IL-22 neutralizing antibodies may inhibit STAT3 activation and prevent tumor cell growth. In ALK⁺ALCL where NPM-ALK has been implicated in the aberrant expression of IL-22R1, current therapeutic approaches targeting NPM-ALK may possibly act as an indirect IL-22 antagonist as well.

Recombinant IL-21 is currently in clinical trials for treatment of patients with melanoma and renal carcinoma and is found to efficiently induce apoptosis of cancer cells with patients experiencing mild toxicity (Davis et al., 2007b; Thompson et al., 2008). In addition, recombinant IL-21 in combination with rituximab in CD20⁺ B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma or with cetuximab in colorectal cancer enhanced antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity (Davis et al., 2007a). Chapter 4 reports an adverse role for IL-21 cytokine in ALK⁺ALCL where cell growth promotion was observed, suggesting a dual function for IL-21 that is dependent on cell type. Therefore, an IL-21 neutralizing antibody treatment may possibly be explored for treatments of such cancers as ALK⁺ALCL.

As previously mentioned, therapeutic approaches have also been made to inhibit known STAT3 target genes. The work in chapter 5 identified SALL4 as a novel target gene for STAT3 in cancer. Therefore, another possible therapeutic strategy may involve targeting SALL4 and its involvement in malignant progression. This strategy may be possible after further progress is made in understanding the mechanism involved in aberrant SALL4 activation in a variety of human cancers.

6.5. Closing remarks

Overall, this thesis has provided insight into the role of STAT3 signaling in the pathogenesis of cancer. The identification of novel upstream regulators and direct target genes of STAT3 have increased our current understanding of the STAT3 pathway and allowed us to further delineate the mechanism by which STAT3 mediates oncogenesis. The work in this thesis will provide a framework to further identify critical targets in the STAT3 pathway and its clinical relevance, to develop new diagnostic tests that will readily detect STAT3-driven cancers, and to ultimately develop novel therapeutic

strategies that target the inherent abnormalities of cancer cells. Identification of novel upstream stimulators of STAT3, downstream targets of STAT3, including the interaction between STAT3 and other oncogenes, may possibly lead to the development of novel anti-cancer treatments designed specifically to disrupt these targets of STAT3. Signal transduction plays a major role in cancer and the mechanisms by which these signaling pathways mediate carcinogenesis are being increasingly explored to identify novel molecular targets of therapeutic importance. This thesis has furthered our understanding of STAT3, one of the major signal transduction pathways implicated in cancer.

6.5. References

Al Zaid Siddiquee, K., and Turkson, J. (2008). STAT3 as a target for inducing apoptosis in solid and hematological tumors. Cell Res 18, 254-267.

Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., and Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. Oncogene 19, 2474-2488.

Bromberg, J. (2002). Stat proteins and oncogenesis. J Clin Invest *109*, 1139-1142. Bromberg J, and Darnell, J. E., Jr. (2000). The role of STATs in transcriptional control and their impact on cellular function. Oncogene *19*, 2468-2473.

Bugno, M., Graeve, L., Gatsios, P., Koj, A., Heinrich, P. C., Travis, J., and Kordula, T. (1995). Identification of the interleukin-6/oncostatin M response element in the rat tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 23, 5041-5047.

Catlett-Falcone R, L. T., Oshiro MM, Turkson J, Levitzki A, Savino R, Ciliberto G, Moscinski L, Fernandez-Luna JL, Nunez G, Dalton WS, Jove R (1999). Constitutive Activation of Stat3 Signaling Confers Resistance to Apoptosis in Human U266 Myeloma Cells. Immunity *10*, 105-115.

Chiarle, R., Simmons, W. J., Cai, H., Dhall, G., Zamo, A., Raz, R., Karras, J. G., Levy, D. E., and Inghirami, G. (2005). Stat3 is required for ALK-mediated lymphomagenesis and provides a possible therapeutic target. Nat Med *11*, 623-629.

Dauer, D. J., Ferraro, B., Song, L., Yu, B., Mora, L., Buettner, R., Enkemann, S., Jove, R., and Haura, E. B. (2005). Stat3 regulates genes common to both wound healing and cancer. Oncogene 24, 3397-3408.

Davis, I. D., Skak, K., Smyth, M. J., Kristjansen, P. E., Miller, D. M., and Sivakumar, P. V. (2007a). Interleukin-21 signaling: functions in cancer and autoimmunity. Clin Cancer Res 13, 6926-6932.

Davis, I. D., Skrumsager, B. K., Cebon, J., Nicholaou, T., Barlow, J. W., Moller, N. P., Skak, K., Lundsgaard, D., Frederiksen, K. S., Thygesen, P., and McArthur, G. A. (2007b). An open-label, two-arm, phase I trial of recombinant human interleukin-21 in patients with metastatic melanoma. Clin Cancer Res 13, 3630-3636.

Diaz, N., Minton, S., Cox, C., Bowman, T., Gritsko, T., Garcia, R., Eweis, I., Wloch, M., Livingston, S., Seijo, E., *et al.* (2006). Activation of stat3 in primary tumors from high-risk breast cancer patients is associated with elevated levels of activated SRC and survivin expression. Clin Cancer Res *12*, 20-28.

Ding, J., Feng, Y., and Wang, H. Y. (2007). From cell signaling to cancer therapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin 28, 1494-1498.

Dolled-Filhart, M., RL, C., DP, K., BL, S., and DL, R. (2003). Tissue microarray analysis of signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (Stat3) and phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) in node-negative breast cancer shows nuclear localization is associated with a better prognosis. Clinical Cancer Research *9*, 594-600.

Ezeh, U. I., Turek, P. J., Reijo, R. A., and Clark, A. T. (2005). Human embryonic stem cell genes OCT4, NANOG, STELLAR, and GDF3 are expressed in both seminoma and breast carcinoma. Cancer *104*, 2255-2265.

Galkin, A. V., Melnick, J. S., Kim, S., Hood, T. L., Li, N., Li, L., Xia, G., Steensma, R., Chopiuk, G., Jiang, J., *et al.* (2007). Identification of NVP-TAE684, a potent, selective, and efficacious inhibitor of NPM-ALK. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *104*, 270-275.

Garcia, R., Bowman, T. L., Niu, G., Yu, H., Minton, S., Muro-Cacho, C. A., Cox, C. E., Falcone, R., Fairclough, R., Parsons, S., *et al.* (2001). Constitutive activation of Stat3 by the Src and JAK tyrosine kinases participates in growth regulation of human breast carcinoma cells. Oncogene *20*, 2499-2513.

Huang, M., Page, C., Reynolds, R. K., and Lin, J. (2000). Constitutive activation of stat 3 oncogene product in human ovarian carcinoma cells. Gynecol Oncol 79, 67-73.

Khoury JD, M. L., Rassidakis GZ, Yared MA, Tsioli P, Leventaki V, Schmitt-Graeff A, Herling M, Amin HM, Lai R. (2003). Differential expression and clinical significance of tyrosine-phosphorylated STAT3 in ALK+ and ALK- anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *9*, 3692-3699.

Lai, R., Rassidakis, G. Z., Medeiros, L. J., Ramdas, L., Goy, A. H., Cutler, C., Fujio, Y., Kunisada, K., Amin, H. M., and Gilles, F. (2004). Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 activation contributes to high tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 expression in anaplastic lymphoma kinase-positive anaplastic large cell lymphoma. Am J Pathol *164*, 2251-2258.

Lin, T. S., Mahajan, S., and Frank, D. A. (2000). STAT signaling in the pathogenesis and treatment of leukemias. Oncogene *19*, 2496-2504.

Ma, Y., Cui, W., Yang, J., Qu, J., Di, C., Amin, H. M., Lai, R., Ritz, J., Krause, D. S., and Chai, L. (2006). SALL4, a novel oncogene, is constitutively expressed in human acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and induces AML in transgenic mice. Blood *108*, 2726-2735.

Nagalakshmi, M. L., Rascle, A., Zurawski, S., Menon, S., and de Waal Malefyt, R. (2004). Interleukin-22 activates STAT3 and induces IL-10 by colon epithelial cells. Int Immunopharmacol 4, 679-691.

Qiu, L., Lai, R., Lin, Q., Lau, E., Thomazy, D. M., Calame, D., Ford, R. J., Kwak, L. W., Kirken, R. A., and Amin, H. M. (2006). Autocrine release of interleukin-9 promotes Jak3-dependent survival of ALK+ anaplastic large-cell lymphoma cells. Blood *108*, 2407-2415.

Steeg, P. S. (2006). Tumor metastasis: mechanistic insights and clinical challenges. Nat Med 12, 895-904.

Thompson, J. A., Curti, B. D., Redman, B. G., Bhatia, S., Weber, J. S., Agarwala, S. S., Sievers, E. L., Hughes, S. D., Devries, T. A., and Hausman, D. F. (2008). Phase I Study of Recombinant Interleukin-21 in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma and Renal Cell Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol.

Turkson J, J. R. (2000). STAT proteins: novel molecular targets for cancer drug discovery. Oncogene 19(56):6613-26, 2000 Dec 27 19, 6613-6626.

Ueda, M., Imada, K., Imura, A., Koga, H., Hishizawa, M., and Uchiyama, T. (2005). Expression of functional interleukin-21 receptor on adult T-cell leukaemia cells. Br J Haematol *128*, 169-176.

Yeh, H. H., Lai, W. W., Chen, H. H., Liu, H. S., and Su, W. C. (2006). Autocrine IL-6induced Stat3 activation contributes to the pathogenesis of lung adenocarcinoma and malignant pleural effusion. Oncogene 25, 4300-4309.

Zhang, J., Tam, W. L., Tong, G. Q., Wu, Q., Chan, H. Y., Soh, B. S., Lou, Y., Yang, J., Ma, Y., Chai, L., *et al.* (2006). Sall4 modulates embryonic stem cell pluripotency and early embryonic development by the transcriptional regulation of Pou5f1. Nat Cell Biol *8*, 1114-1123.